The International Journal of Transfusion Medicine

IN THIS ISSUE

Journals and affiliated medical societies must address gender inequities among editors White paper on pandemic preparedness in the blood supply Impact of donor ferritin testing on iron deficiency prevention and blood availability in France: A cohort simulation study

Efficacy of therapeutic plasma exchange in severe COVID-19 disease: A meta-analysis



International Society of Blood Transfusion

WILEY

International Journal of Blood Transfusion

Official Journal of the International Society of Blood Transfusion

Founded 1956 by J. J. van Loghem, L. P. Holländer, J. Dausset, A. Hässig and J. Julliard (formerly Bulletin of the Central Laboratory of the Blood Transfusion Service of the Dutch Red Cross, founded 1951)

Editor-in-Chief

Miquel Lozano, Barcelona, Spain

Section Editors

Blood Component Collection and Production

Denese C. Marks, *Sydney, Australia* **Cellular Therapy** Zbigniew 'Ziggy' M. Szczepiorkowski, *Lebanon, NH, USA* **Donors and Donations** Katja van den Hurk, *Amsterdam, the Netherlands* **Haemovigilance** Claudia Cohn, *Minneapolis, MN, USA* **Immunohaematology and Immunogenetics** Jill R. Storry, *Lund, Sweden*

Arwa Al-Riyami, *Muscat*, *Oman* Claire Armour Barrett, *Bloemfontein, South Africa* Thierry Burnouf, *Taipei, Taiwan* Andreas Buser, *Basel, Switzerland* Marcela Contreras, *London, UK* Dana Devine, *Vancouver, Canada* Christian Erikstrup, *Aarhus, Denmark* Helen Faddy, *Petrie, Australia* Hendrik Feys, *Mechelen, Belgium* Ruchika Goel, *Springfield, IL, USA* Salwa Hindawi, *Jeddah, Saudi Arabia* Yanli Ji, *Guangzhou, China* Mickey Koh, *London, UK and Singapore* Linda Larsson, *Stockholm, Sweden*

Scientific/Medical Illustrator

Alison Schroeer, Thompson, CT, USA

Technical Editor Doug Huestis, *Tucson, AZ, USA*

ISBT Standing Committee on Vox Sanguinis

Gwen Clarke, Chairperson, Edmonton, Canada Lin Fung, Brisbane, Australia Eric Jansen, Amsterdam, the Netherlands Diana Teo, Singapore Miquel Lozano, Editor-in-Chief, Barcelona, Spain

Observers

Michael P. Busch, *ISBT President, San Francisco, USA* Jenny White, *ISBT Executive Director, Amsterdam, the Netherlands* Claire Dowbekin, *Publishing Manager, Wiley, Oxford, UK* International Forum Nancy M. Dunbar, *Lebanon, NH, USA* Patient Blood Management Nelson Tsuno, *Tokyo, Japan* Reviews

Zbigniew 'Ziggy' M. Szczepiorkowski, Lebanon, NH, USA Leo van de Watering, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

Transfusion Medicine and New Therapies Pierre Tiberghien, *Paris, France*

Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention Sheila O'Brien, *Ottawa, Canada*

Editorial Board

Bridon M'Baya, Blantyre, Malawi Wolfgang R. Mayr, Vienna, Austria Pieter van der Meer, Amsterdam, the Netherlands Celina Montemayor, Toronto, Canada Shirley Owusu-Ofori, Kumasi, Ghana Luca Pierelli, Rome, Italy France Pirenne, Créteil, France Sandra Ramirez-Arcos, Ottawa, Canada Veera Sekaran Nadarajan, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Ratti Ram Sharma, Chandigarh, India Eilat Shinar, Ramat Gan, Israel Claude Tayou Tagny, Yaounde, Cameroon Vip Viprakasit, Bangkok, Thailand Silvano Wendel, São Paulo, Brazil

Editorial Office

Maria Davie, Edinburgh, UK

Production Editor Shirley Villeza, *Manila, the Philippines*

Past Editors-in-Chief

J. J. van Loghem, 1956–1960 W. H. Crosby, 1960–1963 (N. and S. America) L. P. Holländer, 1960–1970 (Europe) F. H. Allen, 1963–1977 (N. and S. America) M. G. Davey, 1970–1980 (Africa, Asia and Australia) N. R. Rose, 1977–1980 (N. and S. America) C. P. Engelfriet, 1977–1996 M. Contreras, 1996–2003 W. R. Mayr, 2003–2011 D. Devine, 2011–2020

International Journal of Blood Transfusion

Aims and Scope

Vox Sanguinis reports on all issues related to transfusion medicine, from donor vein to recipient vein, including cellular therapies. Comments, reviews, original articles, short reports and international fora are published, grouped into 10 main sections:

- 1. Blood Component Collection and Production: Blood collection methods and devices (including apheresis); blood component preparation; inventory management; collection and storage of tissues; quality management and good manufacturing practice; automation and information technology; plasma fractionation techniques and plasma derivatives;
- 2. Cellular Therapy: Cell-based therapies; CART-cell therapies; genetically modified cell therapies; cellular therapy (sources; products; processing and storage); stem cells; cell-based regenerative medicine; cellular immunotherapy; molecular therapy;
- 3. Donors and Donations: Donor recruitment and retention; donor selection; donor health
- 4. Haemovigliance: Adverse events in blood and blood component donors and transfusion recipients; corrective and preventive measures of complications; near-misses and errors in the transfusion chain; evaluation and outcomes of adverse events
- 5. Immunohaematology and Immunogenetics: autoimmunity in haematology; alloimmunity of blood; pre-transfusion testing; complement in immunohaematology; blood
- phenotyping and genotyping; genetic markers of blood cells and serum proteins: polymorphisms and function; parentage testing and forensic immunohaematology; 6. International Forum: Section in which topics related to any aspects of the transfusion chain (from technical to scientific, including socioeconomic and ethical facets) are discussed by invited participants and summarized by guest editors
- 7. Patient Blood Management: Bloodless surgery; preoperative anaemia; minimizing blood loss during surgery; alternatives to blood transfusion;
- 8. Review: Comprehensive reviews or short comments of any aspect related to transfusion medicine;
- 9. Transfusion Medicine: Transfusion indication, transfusion practice, thresholds and audits; transfusion efficacy assessment, clinical trials; therapeutic apheresis;
- 10. Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention: Identification and epidemiology of infectious pathogens transmissible by blood; donor testing for transfusion-transmissible infectious pathogens; bacterial contamination of blood components; pathogen inactivation;

This comprehensive coverage has made the journal essential reading for a wide range of specialists interested in the present state of transfusion research and practice.

Journal Customer Services

For ordering information, claims and any enquiry concerning your journal subscription please go to https://wolsupport.wiley.com/s/contactsupport?tabset-a7d10=2 or contact your nearest office. Americas: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +1 877 762 2974. Europe, Middle East and Africa: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +44 (0) 1865 778315; 0800 1800 536 (Germany). Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Luxembourg, Liechtenstein: cs-germany@wiley.com; Tel: 0800 1800 536 (Germany). Asia Pacific: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +65 3165 0890. Japan: For Japanese-speaking support, Email: cs-japan@wiley.com. Visit our Online Customer Help at https://wolsupport.wiley.com/s/ contactsupport?tabset-a7d10=2.

Information for Subscribers: Vox Sanguinis is published in 12 issues per year. Institutional subscription prices for 2023 are: Print & Online: US\$2262 (US), US\$2637 (Rest of World), €1579 (Europe), £1225 (UK). Prices are exclusive of tax. Asia-Pacific GST, Canadian GST/HST and European VAT will be applied at the appropriate rates. For more information on current tax rates, please go to www. wileyonlinelibrary.com/ tax-vat. The price includes online access to the current and all online backfiles for previous 5 years, where available. For other pricing options, including access information and terms and conditions, please visit https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/library-info/products/price-lists. Terms of use can be found here: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions.

Delivery Terms and Legal Title: Where the subscription price includes print issues and delivery is to the recipient's address, delivery terms are Delivered at Place (DAP); the recipient is responsible for paying any import duty or taxes. Title to all issues transfers Free of Board (FOB) our shipping point, freight prepaid.

Claims for Missing or Damaged Print Issues: Our policy is to replace missing or damaged copies within our reasonable discretion, subject to print issue availability, and subject to the following terms: Title to all issues transfers Freight on Board ("FOB") to the address specified in the order; (1) Freight costs are prepaid by Wiley; and (2) Claims for missing or damaged copies must be submitted by the Customer or Subscription Agent within the claims window, as noted below.

Claims window - General: Claims for missing print issues must be sent to cs-agency@wiley.com (and the Subscription Agent or Customer may be referred to a society) within three months of whichever of these dates is the most recent: date of subscription payment; or date of issue publication.

Claims window - India: Both Subscription Agents and Customers in India have 48 hours after receipt of goods to confirm that all content listed on the packing label has been received. In the event of any discrepancy, SPUR Infosolutions, Wiley's delivery partner in India, needs to be notified within forty-eight (48) hours using this email address: support@spurinfo.com. All claims will be checked against SPUR Infosolutions delivery records before the claim is accepted. The above terms for Wiley's claims policy otherwise apply.

Back Issues: Single issues from current and recent volumes are available at the current single issue price from cs-journals@wiley.com. Earlier issues may be obtained from Periodicals Service Company, 351 Fairview Avenue – Ste 300, Hudson, NY 12534, USA. Tel: +1518822-9300, Fax: +1518822-9305, Email: psc@periodicals.com

Abstracting and Indexing Services: The Journal is indexed by Abstracts in Anthropology (Sage); Abstracts on Hygiene & Communicable Diseases (CABI); Academic Search (EBSCO Publishing); Academic Search Alumni Edition (EBSCO Publishing); Academic Search Premier (EBSCO Publishing); AGRICOLA Database (National Agricultural Library); BIOBASE: Current Awareness in Biological Sciences (Elsevier); Biological Abstracts (Clarivate Analytics); BIOSIS Previews (Clarivate Analytics); CAB Abstracts® (CABI); CABDirer(CABI); CASDirect(CABI); CASDirect); CSA Virology & AIDS Abstracts Service (ACS); CSA Biological Sciences Database (ProQuest); CSA Environmental Sciences & Pollution Management Database (ProQuest); CSA Virology & AIDS Abstracts (ProQuest); Current Contents: Life Sciences (Clarivate Analytics); Embase (Elsevier); Global Health (CABI); HEED: Health Economic Evaluations Database (Wiley-Blackwell); Index Veterinarius (CABI); Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition (Clarivate Analytics); MEDLINE/PubMed (NLM); Nutrition Abstracts & Reviews Series A: Human & Experimental (CABI); Pig News & Information (CABI); ProQuest Central (ProQuest); ProQuest Health & Medical Complete (ProQuest); ProQuest Research Library (ProQuest); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryEntomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryBuplement Subset (NLM); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryEntomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryBuplement Subset (NLM); ReviewofMedical& Clarivate Analytics); Tropical Diseases Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Science Citation Index Expanded (Clarivate Analytics); Tropical Diseases Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Pig News

Copyright and Copying (in any format): Copyright © 2023 International Society of Blood Transfusion. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior permission in writing from the copyright holder. Authorization to copy items for internal and personal use is granted by the copyright holder for libraries and other users registered with their local Reproduction Rights Organisation (RRO), e.g. Copyright Clearance Center (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA (www.copyright.com), provided the appropriate fee is paid directly to the RRO. This consent does not extend to other kinds of copying such as copying for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, for republication, for creating new collective works or for resale. Permissions for such reuse can be obtained using the RightsLink "Request Permissions" link on Wiley Online Library. Special requests should be addressed to: permissions@wiley.com

Open Access: Vox Sanguinis accepts articles for Open Access publication. Please visit https://authorservices.wiley.com/author-resources/Journal-Authors/open-access/hybrid-open-access.html for further information about Open Access.

Copyright Policy: Papers accepted must be licensed for publication in *Vox Sanguinis* and a completed Copyright Transfer Agreement Form must accompany every accepted paper. Authors will be required to license copyright in their paper to John Wiley & Sons Ltd. Upon acceptance of an article, corresponding authors must log into Author Services to complete the licence agreement of their paper.

Wiley's Corporate Citizenship initiative seeks to address the environmental, social, economic, and ethical challenges faced in our business and which are important to our diverse stakeholder groups. Since launching the initiative, we have focused on sharing our content with those in need, enhancing community philanthropy, reducing our carbon impact, creatingglobal guidelines and best practices for paper use, establishing a vendor code of ethics, and engaging our colleagues and other stakeholders in our efforts. Follow our progress at www.wiley.com/go/citizenship. Wiley is a founding member of the UN-backed HINARI, AGORA, and OARE initiatives. They are now collectively known as Research4Life, making online scientific content available free or at nominal cost to researchers in developing countries. Please visit Wiley's Content Access – Corporate Citizenship site: http://www.wiley. com/WileyCDA/Section/id-390082.html. The journal to which you are submitting your manuscript employs a plagiarism detection system. By submitting your manuscript to this journal you accept that your manuscript may be screened for plagiarism against previously published works.

Disclaimer: The Publisher, International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher or the International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors, neither does the publication of advertisements constitute any endorsement by the Publisher or the International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors divertised.

VOX SANGUINIS (Online ISSN: 1423-0410 Print ISSN: 0042-9007) is published monthly. Postmaster: Send all address changes to VOX SANGUINIS, Wiley Periodicals LLC, C/O The Sheridan Press, PO Box 465, Hanover, PA 17331, USA. For submission instructions, subscription and all other information visit: www.wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/vox. Printed in the UK by Hobbs the Printers Ltd.

118/7/2023

& Serials Department,

Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Terms

and Condit

on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles

14230410, 2023, 7, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/vox.13314 by Cornell University E-Resources

Contents

Review

 509 Patient blood management: Myths and facts about red blood cell transfusions R. R. Gammon,
N. Blumberg, C. Gilstad, S. Mandal, A. R. Nair & C. Bocquet

Original Articles

Blood Component Collection and Production

- 517 Antiphospholipid antibodies in convalescent plasma of donors recovered from mild COVID-19 infection D. Blickstein, M. Izak, T. Filipovich-Rimon, O. Garach-Jehoshua, N. Rahimi-Levene, E. Shinar, R. A. Hamad, A. Bar-Chaim & M. Koren-Michowitz
- 523 In vitro comparison of cold-stored whole blood and reconstituted whole blood S. Susila, T. Helin, J. Lauronen, L. Joutsi-Korhonen & M. Ilmakunnas
- 533 Migration of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate from transfusion medical devices in labile blood products: A comparative study A. Thelliez, C. Sumian, E. Chazard, S. Reichenberg, M. Lecoeur & B. Decaudin

Transfusion-Transmitted Disease and its Prevention

- 543 Proof of concept for detection of staphylococcal enterotoxins in platelet concentrates as a novel safety mitigation strategy S. I. Chi, B. Yousuf, C. Paredes, J. Bearne, C. McDonald & S. Ramirez-Arcos
- 551 Monitoring viral genomic sequences in transfusion-transmitted viruses D. Candotti, S. J. Drews, H. M. Faddy & ISBT Transfusion-Transmitted Infectious Diseases Working Party, Subgroup on Viruses

Transfusion Medicine and New Therapies

- 559 Intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia after autologous stem cell transplantation in patients prophylactically transfused with platelets A. Voß, A. Doescher, H.-H. Kapels, A. Seltsam, A. Greinacher, B. Metzner & T. H. Müller
- 567 Temporal trends and geographic variations in perioperative red blood cell transfusion in major surgical procedures from 2013 to 2018 in China B. Tang, Y. Zhang, X. Xu, X. Yu, L. Ma & Y. Huang

Short Reports

- 577 Prevalence of weak D phenotypes in the general population of Québec, Canada: A focus on weak D type 42 M. Drouin, S. Rochette, M. St-Louis, A. Lewin & J. Laganière
- 582 Two cases of *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subspecies *equisimilis* infection transmitted through transfusion of platelet concentrate derived from separate blood donations by the same donor M. Kozakai, M. Matsumoto, A. Takakura, R. A. Furuta, K. Matsubayashi, N. Goto & M. Satake

Guidelines

- 587 International Society for Blood Transfusion Guidelines for Traceability of Medical Products of Human Origin P. Ashford, S. Butch, A. O. Barhoush, W. Bolton, M. Cusmai, L. Espensen, J. Geary & K. Moniz
- 598 Diary of Events
- 599 Corrigendum





This journal is available online at *Wiley Online Library*. Visit wileyonlinelibrary.com to search the articles and register for table of contents e-mail alerts. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13442

REVIEW



Patient blood management: Myths and facts about red blood cell transfusions

Richard R. Gammon¹ | Neil Blumberg² | Colleen Gilstad³ | Saikat Mandal⁴ | Amita Radhakrishnan Nair⁵ | Christopher Bocquet⁶

¹OneBlood, Scientific, Medical, Technical Direction, Orlando, Florida, USA

²Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, New York, USA

³Transfusion Service, Medstar Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

⁴University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust, Southampton, UK

⁵Department of Transfusion Medicine, Sree Chitra Tirunal Institute for Medical Sciences and Technology, Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, India

⁶Association for the Advancement of Blood and Biotherapies, Bethesda, Maryland, USA

Correspondence

Richard R. Gammon, OneBlood, Inc., Scientific, Medical, Technical Direction, 8669 Commodity Circle, Orlando, FL 32819, USA. Email: richard.gammon@oneblood.org

Funding information

The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Revised: 31 March 2023

Transfusion medicine resembles all of medicine in that expert opinion predominates because hard data on clinical outcomes from randomized controlled trials and high quality observational data are simply unavailable. Indeed, some of the first trials evaluating important outcomes are barely two decades old. Patient blood management (PBM) depends on high quality data for assisting clinicians in making clinical decisions. In this review, we focus on several red blood cell (RBC) transfusion practices that new data suggest need reconsideration. The practices that may need revision include transfusion for iron deficiency anaemia, except in life threatening situations, toleration of anaemia as a largely benign condition and use of haemoglobin/haematocrit as primary indications for RBC transfusion, as opposed to adjuncts to clinical judgement. In addition, the long-standing notion that the minimum transfusion should be two units needs to be abandoned due to the danger to patients and a lack of clinical evidence of benefit. Finally, the difference in indications for leucoreduction versus irradiation needs to be understood by all practitioners. PBM is one of the strategies for managing anaemia and bleeding that holds great promise for patients, and transfusion is only one facet of the bundle of practices.

Keywords

blood safety, patient blood management, RBC components, transfusion strategy

Highlights

- A number of myths about red blood cells encountered by the authors are discussed here. This discussion is followed by evidence-based facts and expert opinion that disprove the myths and support evidence-based practice.
- This manuscript will serve to educate medical students, advanced practice providers, physicians in training and those in practice.
- Adequate patient blood management knowledge has also been linked to higher quality patient care and its implementation can improve important clinical outcomes such as decreased length of stay, a reduction in nosocomial infection and fewer intensive care unit admissions.

INTRODUCTION

Why is it important to address common misconceptions or 'myths'? Blood transfusion is one of the most common procedures performed in the inpatient setting [1,2]. Although ordering a transfusion is a part of routine practice for most physicians, the available literature has shown that non-transfusion medicine physicians have poor to intermediate transfusion medicine knowledge (TMK) [3–5].

Adequate physician TMK has also been linked to higher quality patient care [3,6]. As the composition of hospital medicine providers continues to evolve rapidly, attention is needed not only for physicians but also for advance practice providers (APPs) [3,7]. The growing involvement of APPs in the care of hospitalized patients raises the importance of adequate TMK among APPs. In one survey, 90% of APPs working in haematology and bone marrow transplant reported discomfort in their ability to practice in their specialty and wanted more training in transfusion medicine [3,8].

Unfortunately, medical education at both graduate and postgraduate levels includes minimal transfusion medicine instruction, the majority of which is in the form of passive lectures [3,9]. Therefore, hospital medicine providers are likely to have developed transfusion practices based on the limited knowledge taught in their training [3]. Transfusion decisions for acutely ill patients presenting with multiple co-morbidities may become complex and require a more in-depth understanding in order to minimize risks of transfusion and to identify, treat and report reactions for the health and safety at both the individual and population levels [3].

A study was conducted of 183 hospital medicine providers in the United States (US) (including 155 attending hospitalists and 28 APPs) who completed a 12-question online survey and 20 question exam [3]. The overall mean score was 52% (range 20%–85%) [3]. Forty-one percent of participants reported less than 1 h of training in transfusion medicine [3]. Five of the seven questions with the worst performance (<25% correct) focused on transfusion reactions [3]. Almost all respondents reported consenting a patient for blood transfusion and 60% believed that TMK was very or extremely important in order to provide appropriate care for patients [3]. More than 80% believed that having additional transfusion medicine education would be at least moderately helpful [3]. Although routinely consenting patients for transfusion, hospital medicine providers may have insufficient TMK [3].

A recent letter to the editor [10] made the following recommendations:

- The best method to educate the physicians about patient blood management (PBM) is to oblige them to participate during their medical studies in courses focused on blood transfusion.
- If this cannot be achieved, physicians should be educated. This would start with the attending physicians, as residents and fellows 'copy' their mentor's attitude, including their approach towards blood transfusion.
- Blood myths exist and influence diverse populations. Increasing the level of general knowledge and education can reduce the influence of myths.

 Finally, the various aspects and causes of blood transfusion overuse lead one to the conclusion that education is the key to success.

The purpose of this manuscript is twofold. First, it will show a number of myths in PBM that have been encountered by the authors and then provide the evidence-based facts that disprove these myths and support the correct practice for optimal patient care. Second, we hope that this manuscript will serve to educate medical students, APPs, physicians in training and those practicing. As stated above, adequate TMK (and PBM knowledge) has also been linked to higher quality patient care [3,6].

METHODS

A group of experienced and active practitioners of transfusion medicine and PBM convened a working group to develop a list of common clinician opinions encountered in daily practice that have dubious scientific evidence, henceforth, defined as 'myths', and which also have potentially adverse clinical consequences when actions are based on these notions. A focused literature review was performed to address the background of each 'myth' and provide evidence against it.

Iron deficiency should be treated with transfusion

Iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) is the most common nutritional disorder worldwide. The diagnosis of IDA is confirmed by the presence of low body iron stores and a haempglobin (Hb) level two standard deviations below normal [11]. The primary treatment for IDA is oral or intravenous iron, but in an emergency setting for patients who are actively bleeding or unstable, red blood cell (RBC) transfusion may be necessary. Choosing Wisely Canada guidelines state, 'Don't transfuse RBCs for iron deficiency without haemodynamic instability' [12]. The consensus is that transfusions should not be considered first line therapy in stable patients with an Hb \ge 7.0 mg/dL. The question is whether these patients can be managed more efficiently and effectively than with RBC transfusion.

Current practice (myth)

Siddiqi et al. conducted an observational cohort study for a 6-year period following release of Choosing Wisely Canada guidelines [13]. A transfusion was considered outside of clinical guidelines if the patient's Hb was >7.0 mg/dL and if the patient had a heart rate <100 beats per minute and systolic blood pressure ≥100 mmHg [12]. The primary outcome was that the proportion of patients with IDA receiving transfusion outside of clinical guidelines. The rate of total transfusions in patients with IDA was 11.2%, and the rate of potentially avoidable transfusions was 18.7% [13]. Appropriateness of RBC transfusions ordered in the Emergency Department (ED) for management of patients with IDA was studied by Spradbrow et al. [14]. IDA was documented by an emergency physician in 61% of ED patients. Of these, 63% received RBC transfusions: 53% were deemed appropriate, 16% were appropriate for the indication, but received more than the required number of transfusions and 32% were deemed inappropriate [14].

Grey et al. conducted an audit to monitor transfusion practices of patients with confirmed severe iron deficiency. They found that RBC transfusions were commonly administered to elderly patients with severe IDA with Hb < 8.0 mg/dL and uncommon when the Hb was >9.0 mg/dL; and 75% of the patients in the audit were transfused to an Hb \geq 10.0 mg/dL and 44% to an Hb \geq 11.0 mg/dL, suggesting excessive transfusion [15]. RBC transfusion is taken as a 'quick fix' of haemoglobin, since it is relatively easy. There are non-evidence-based concerns regarding intravenous iron supplementation in surgical patients, such as increased risk of infection, iron overload or oxidative stress, which has been refuted time and time again [16].

Conclusion (fact)

In IDA, the role of RBC transfusion is controversial. The Association for the Advancement of Blood and Biotherapies (AABB) and other organizations do recognize that RBC transfusion may be indicated if the patient has haemodynamic instability due to anaemia as this helps to alleviate severe morbidity associated with microvascular hypoxemia until the time iron therapy becomes clinically effective [17]. The treatment of pre-operative IDA will improve haemoglobin before surgery, but good evidence exists that correcting anaemia by transfusing blood is detrimental to the outcomes of surgery, by increased risk for postoperative complications [18].

Historically, there has been a reluctance to use intravenous iron formulations due to concerns of hypersensitivity reactions, such as anaphylaxis. Newer preparations are far less likely to be associated with such reactions [19]. It is preferable to use preparations that can deliver a higher dose per infusion over the shortest time period possible.

General unfamiliarity with these newer preparations, the historical concerns regarding anaphylactoid reactions and time delays are likely barriers to the widespread use of these agents in the treatment of IDA [20]. RBC transfusions carry the risk of haemolysis, transfusion-associated circulatory overload (TACO), haemolysis and alloimmunization, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI) should be considered a less safe alternative to oral and intravenous iron [17].

Guidelines for management of IDA are necessary to reduce the knowledge-to-practice gap for IDA management and avoid inappropriate use of RBC transfusions. Anaemia in the geriatric population may be multifactorial, with nutritional deficiencies, senescence and chronic disease being the most common reason. Mild anaemia is rarely symptomatic and should not be transfused [21]. Symptomatic anaemia and severe anaemia where RBC transfusions may play a role, the emphasis should be on restrictive transfusion strategies and adequate dosing as compensatory mechanisms are overwhelmed [21]. Transfusion of single red cell units followed by clinical assessment including documented Hb increments should be done before ordering subsequent units to ensure that this valuable resource is appropriately and ethically used [22].

Mild anaemia is not clinically significant

Current practice (myth)

Anaemia is one of the most common clinical conditions worldwide and perhaps the single most common source of disability and poor quality of life. Indeed, the most common cause of anaemia is iron deficiency with anaemia being a part of late stage iron deficiency. There is abundant evidence that iron deficiency and IDA are associated with poor cognitive function in children as well as a cause of increased morbidity and mortality [23]. Blood loss anaemia is also quite common and associated with significantly increased risks of morbidity, mortality and hospital/ICU length of stay. Traditionally significant anaemia has been treated with blood transfusions, which are entirely inappropriate except in rare life threatening acute emergencies.

Conclusions (fact)

It is now clear that PBM needs to include pre-operative anaemia management programs and anaemia/iron deficiency screening programs for at-risk patients, such as women with abnormal menses and children with nutritional problems. Such approaches have been associated with improvements in quality of life, lessening of symptoms and a reduction in morbidity and mortality in various settings [24–26].

If the patient does not need two units you should not be transfusing

Current practice (myth)

Due to a lack of expertise and knowledge of transfusion practices in the majority of patients, RBC transfusion practices are driven by only laboratory-based Hb triggers. Some literature continues to suggest RBC transfusion thresholds for critically ill, clinically stable patients—Hb concentration <7 g/dL, for patients undergoing cardiac surgery Hb < 7.5 g/dL, for patients with hip fractures and cardiovascular disease or risk factors Hb < 8 g/dL and for haemodynamically stable patients with acute gastrointestinal bleeding Hb 7–8 g/dL [27]. It is a common myth among the treating physicians that we need to keep the Hb at a level of 9 gm/dL. So, estimating that for a target Hb level, they prefer to order two units of packed RBC transfusion.

512 Vox Sanguinis Strational Society of Blood Transfusion.

Conclusion (fact)

Currently, transfusion practices have been moved to a more scientific and evidence-based approach that is known as PBM. PBM has emerged as an integral part of patient care. World Health Organization (WHO) defined PBM as 'PBM addresses the problems of anaemia, blood loss and coagulopathy. It is a patient centred, systematic, evidence-based approach to improve patient outcomes by managing a patient's own blood through diagnosis and aetiology specific treatment of anaemia and preserving the patient's own blood by minimizing blood loss and bleeding, while promoting patient safety and empowerment. It reduces the utilization of health care resources as well as expenditures, transfusion dependency, and the risks and complications of transfusion' [23]. The primary role of RBC transfusion is to provide adequate perfusion to the cells. The need for RBC transfusion is based on individualized clinical factors not merely on laboratory parameters such as Hb or haematocrit levels.

Keeping a focus on adverse incidents related to transfusion, it is better to avoid unnecessary transfusion. Overenthusiastic transfusions have been associated with increased ventilator days and prolonged ICU stays, and it has also been identified as an independent risk factor for mortality in critically ill patients [28,29].

The rise of Hb level following transfusion is not just a mere mathematical calculation anymore, that is, one unit raises the Hb level by 1.0 g/dL [30,31], whereas the rise in Hb level following transfusion is more dependent on characteristics of the patient such as height, weight, and body mass index as well as the underlying clinical condition [32]. So, transfusion of RBC should be judicious and evidence-based, and transfusion of one unit RBC may be sufficient. Retrospective observational studies done by Berger et al. and Bowman et al. mentions that transfusing malignant haematology and bone marrow transplant patients with single RBC units is safe and efficacious [33,34]. A recent clinical trial conducted on women with haemodynamically stable postpartum anaemia concluded that a single-unit transfusion protocol avoided a second unit of packed RBC in >80% of women without significant impact on morbidity [35]. The real evidence behind the one-unit orders is the fact that all the randomized clinical trials (RCTs) testing transfusion triggers employed a one-unit transfusion strategy and they showed no benefit to giving extra blood-more than is needed [36]. In reality it is necessary to reassess the patient, after one-unit red cell transfusion regarding the clinical condition of the patient. If there remains clinical need in terms of perfusion status and clinical condition, the patient should be scheduled for transfusion of another unit. So, in most cases of chronic anaemias and haemodynamically stable patients, transfusion of 1-unit red cell may be sufficient enough to meet this need and two units of RBC transfusion can be avoided calculating the risks associated [36]. While not widely used outside of paediatric patients, a recent study showed that patient's body weight differentially impacts the change in Hb after RBC transfusion. The authors suggested incorporating body weight into the clinical decision-making process when transfusing blood in adult surgical patients [37].

Transfusions of RBC should Be based on an Hb concentration of 7 g/dL

Current practice (myth)

A plasma Hb concentration of 7 g/dL has become a common 'trigger' for a blood transfusion, and the pervasiveness of this practice in diverse clinical scenarios can only be explained by it attaining mythical status. Figure 1 shows a histogram of the pre-transfusion Hb value for all transfusions of RBCs in one large multiple hospital medical system. The sharp peak centred at an Hb of 7 g/dL clearly illustrates that this laboratory assay value is the main driver of the clinical decision to transfuse in this system. If transfusions were based on individualized clinical factors, there would not be such a sharp peak at a laboratory value. A recent multi-national survey of ICU practice [38] provides additional evidence of the existence of the 'myth of 7 g/dL' in that it is widely used for actively bleeding patients in ICU, despite the complexity and variability of patient conditions there.

Getting to the origin of the myth is difficult. For many years, the practice was to use an Hb of 10 g/dL as a trigger, and this has been attributed [39] to a 1942 paper by Adams and Lundy. The text of that paper actually states 'When concentration of Hb is less than 8 to 10 grams per 100 cubic centimetres of whole blood, it is wise to give a blood transfusion before operation' [40]. The favouring of 10 as the value instead of 8 was likely re-enforced by the physiology studies of Case et al. [41] that demonstrated interference with cardiac function at haematocrit levels less than 30%. The fourth edition of Mollison's transfusion medicine textbook, the pre-eminent transfusion therapy textbook of its day advised 'Therefore, before surgery is undertaken the Hb should be raised above this level, even if only trivial haemorrhage is expected' [42].

The shift of the myth of 10-7 g/dL is easier to understand, as the numbers of clinical trials comparing the use of these two triggers are numerous and more contemporary. They all show either the non-inferiority or possibly superiority of the restrictive transfusion strategy of 7 g/dL as a trigger. We even have an overview of systematic reviews of meta-analysis of these trials, which fully explains the situation [43].

Conclusion (fact)

A trigger of 10 g/dL was never supported by expert practitioners of transfusion even when numerous physicians with less expertise were working under this myth assumption. A review article of the indications for transfusion appearing in JAMA in 1956 advised 'Anemia should be treated with red blood cell transfusion only after diagnostic procedures have excluded specific therapy or when anemia is so severe as to necessitate emergency treatment' as well as 'The frequency of transfusion of red blood cells in patients with marrow failure should be determined by the

513



FIGURE 1 Histogram of the pre-transfusion Haemoglobin (Hb) value for all transfusions of red blood cells in one large multiple hospital medical system. The sharp peak centred at Hb of 7.0 g/dL clearly illustrates that this laboratory assay value is the main driver of the clinical decision to transfuse in this system, as opposed to clinical assessment based on other factors.

symptoms of the patient. The desired Hb level may vary from 6 to 11 gm per 100 cc in different persons' [44]. Other sections of the 1967 edition of Mollison included advice that patients with recent haemorrhage 'whose haemoglobin is as low as 7–8 g/100 ml should be transfused' as well as 'In patients with very severe anaemia transfusion may easily overload the circulation and precipitate cardiac failure. Thus, whenever it is probable that anaemia will respond to some other form of treatment transfusion should be avoided'. Also, 'To tide a patient over a short period of very severe anaemia inhalation of 100 percent oxygen can make an important contribution' is advised along with an explanation that plasma content of oxygen can be increased to make an Hb of 3 g/dL effectively 4.5 g/dL [42].

If the myth of 10 g/dL was never true, proving that 7 g/dL is 'non-inferior' does not make this notion true. As the JAMA authors point out by noting 'different persons', the transfusion decision is being made about one patient at a time. Randomized trials can be offtarget to the circumstances of a particular patient. The Jehovah Witness population provides an example that most patients can tolerate haemoglobin levels significantly lower than 7.0 g/dL [45] and be supported by temporary oxygen supplementation, iron infusion and/or erythropoietin instead of transfusion. Clinical decision support may be perpetuating the myth by emphasizing a particular transfusion threshold rather than providing diagnostic algorithms to determine causes of anaemia and suggesting appropriate treatments based on diagnosis and symptoms. Monitors of a PBM program should not simply track pre-transfusion Hb levels and see Figure 1 as evidence of success, but perhaps should focus on the anaemia diagnosis and the use of iron when appropriate.

The only goal of transfusion of RBCs is to improve the delivery of oxygen to tissues

Current practice (myth)

Regarding off-target interpretation of results of randomized controlled trials, a straightforward example is the use of the Villanueva et al.'s [46] paper to support using a threshold of 7 g/dL for the broad category of bleeding ICU patients. This trial explicitly states the paradigm underlying the study as 'The goal of red-cell transfusions is to improve the delivery of oxygen to tissues'. As a result, the trial was designed to evaluate patients with an anatomic cause of bleeding and the ability of patients to tolerate an acutely progressive anaemia until a procedure could treat the site of bleeding. Greater than 97% of patients were not thrombocytopenic and required no platelet transfusions. Yet, this study is cited to support a restrictive threshold for bleeding ICU patients even if thrombocytopenic and without a readily correctable cause of bleeding. A common clinical plan seen in patient charts is 'transfuse for Hb < 7, platelets < 50', rather than have their bleeding potentially stopped earlier with only a few RBCs and many fewer platelets.

Conclusion (fact)

Multiple studies have definitively demonstrated that RBCs interact with platelets and play a role in haemostasis. A comprehensive review has been published [47]. Major mechanistic hypotheses include RBCs physically pushing platelets closer to the endothelium under flow 514 Vox Sanguinis Stransverse of Blood Transfusion

conditions, interaction of nitric oxide metabolism pathways and adenosine diphosphate augmentation of platelet function. The bleeding time has an inverse linear relationship to the haematocrit [48]. It is also becoming clear that RBCs participate in immunity by interacting with immune receptors in the spleen [49]. Better RCTs of RBC transfusions and patient outcomes need to also take into account platelet function and immunity.

Leucoreduction versus irradiation are the same

Current practice (mvth)

Leucoreduction (LR) is the reduction of white blood cell (WBC) concentration in blood components, namely, RBC and platelets derived from the component preparation of whole blood or apheresis. There are many methods of LR, but, currently, this process may be performed using selective LR filters, which enable less than 1×10^6 or 5×10^{6} residual WBC to be obtained in a RBC or 5×10^{5} WBC in a whole blood derived platelet unit [50,51].

Over the past 30 years, it has been demonstrated that LR can reduce some adverse reactions due to blood component transfusion such as febrile non-haemolytic transfusion reactions, immunization against human leucocyte antigens and human platelet antigens, which may cause refractoriness to platelet transfusion and transmission of cytomegalovirus [53,54]. Furthermore, it is also claimed that LR also improves the clinical outcome of reducing post-operative surgical site infections or mortality in patients undergoing cardiac surgery and infection-related complications in trauma patients [52-54].

On the other hand, irradiated blood components are cellular blood components that have been exposed to irradiation to inactivate lymphocytes to stop their proliferation [55]. Irradiating blood components prevents the donor WBCs replicating and mounting an immune response against a vulnerable patient and recipient with the potential to cause transfusion-associated-graft-versushost disease (TA-GvHD). Usually immunocompromised patients, foetus and premature neonates and patients who received haematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) are prone to develop TA-GvHD. Evidence of TA-GvHD may include rash, fever, elevated liver enzymes, pancytopenia, diarrhoea, bone marrow aplasia or hypocellularity and hepatomegaly. It usually presents within 1-6 weeks after transfusion, with the median time from transfusion to first symptom being 11 days. Overall survival rate is reported to be 8.4% [56]. Patients receiving transfusions from a first-degree relative (e.g., parent, child or sibling) or second-degree relative (e.g., grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece or half sibling), foetus and premature neonates or HSCT recipients and granulocyte transfusions should always be irradiated. The AABB Standards for Blood Banks and Transfusion Services, 33rd edition, recommends a dose of 25 Gy to the central area of the component with no portion receiving <15 Gy but sets no upper limit [51,56].

Conclusion (fact)

LR cannot prevent TA-GvHD as it contains a significant amount of residual lymphocytes. TA-GvHD continues to be reported with 66 out of the 348 (18.9%) cases who received nonirradiated LR components between 2000 and 2013 [56]. The British Society for Haematology recommendations note that the evidence is insufficient to recommend LR alone to prevent TA-GvHD in susceptible patients. So, irradiation and LR can never be used interchangeably.

Conclusions—The perpetuation of misconceptions and the ongoing need to address them

PBM has been recently recognized by WHO as an area for urgent intervention in current patient care practices [23]. The rationale is that prevention and appropriate treatment of anaemia and bleeding can lead to better outcomes. Transfusion plays a role in the care of anaemic and bleeding patients, but in general, expert opinion has traditionally been on the side of what we would now consider undue reliance of aggressive transfusion of RBCs and other components. Research in the last two decades has documented that it is unnecessary to transfuse most haemodynamically stable patients with anaemia, particularly those with IDA, for which safer and more precise treatments are available. Anaemia causes significant morbidity and mortality and avoiding transfusions is only part of the approach. Preserving the patient's own red cells is an important strategy. Early data suggest that the use of PBM may improve clinical outcomes such as length of stay, quality of life and even mortality [23]. And because RBC transfusions have serious complications including TRALI, infection, congestive heart failure and thrombosis, the minimum dose needed to achieve the desired clinical goals is more appropriate than arbitrary numbers of RBCs such as 'a minimum of two'.

Randomized trials of transfusion thresholds have been widely misinterpreted as suggesting that the Hb or haematocrit alone (usually 7/21) is a necessary transfusion threshold. Indeed, transfusion remains a clinical decision and laboratory values should be an adjunct. Haemodynamically stable, largely asymptomatic non-bleeding patients may not always need red cell transfusions unless they are unable to respond to normal erythropoietic stimuli, either endogenous or therapeutic. While RBC transfusions may have benefits beyond oxygen transport, high quality trials are needed to assess the risks and benefits of RBC transfusions in improving haemostasis. Finally, while LR and irradiation are important safety modalities and have some overlap in benefit, they have distinctly different indications and mechanisms of action.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The areas of contribution are as follows: R.R.G., Introduction; N.B., Abstract, Mild Anaemia, Conclusions; C.G., Methods, Red Blood Cells and Hb of 7 g/dL, Red Blood Cells Improve Oxygenation; S.M., Two units, Leukoreduction and Irradiation; A.R.N., Iron Deficiency; C.B., Manuscript Reviewer.

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

ORCID

Richard R. Gammon ^(D) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1175-9579 Neil Blumberg ^(D) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2011-5652 Saikat Mandal ^(D) https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1250-5295

REFERENCES

- Jones JM, Sapiano MRP, Savinkina AA, Haass KA, Baker ML, Henry RA, et al. Slowing decline in blood collection and transfusion in the United States-2017. Transfusion. 2020;60:S1-9.
- Tobian AAR, Heddle NM, Wiegmann TL, Carson JL. Red blood cell transfusion: 2016 clinical practice guidelines from AABB. Transfusion. 2016;56:2627–30.
- Halford B, Pinheiro A, Haspel RL. Hospital medicine providers' transfusion knowledge: a survey study. Transfus Med Rev. 2021;35:140–5.
- Lin Y, Tinmouth A, Mallick R, Haspel RL. BEST-TEST2: assessment of hematology trainee knowledge of transfusion medicine. Transfusion. 2016;56:304–10.
- Haspel RL, Lin Y, Mallick R, Tinmouth A, Cid J, Eichler H, et al. Internal medicine resident knowledge of transfusion medicine: results from the BEST-TEST international education needs assessment. Transfusion. 2015;55:1355–61.
- Salem-Schatz SR, Avorn J, Soumerai SB. Influence of knowledge and attitudes on the quality of physicians' transfusion practice. Med Care. 1993;31:868–78.
- Auerbach DI, Staiger DO, Buerhaus PI. Growing ranks of advanced practice clinicians—implications for the physician workforce. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2358–60.
- Hwa YL, Marshall AL, Shelly JL, Colborn LK, Nowakowski GS, Lacy MQ. Assessment of the need for a hematology-specific fellowship curriculum for advanced practice providers using a needs-based survey. J Oncol Pract. 2019;15:e593–9.
- 9. Karp JK, Weston CM, King KE. Transfusion medicine in American undergraduate medical education. Transfusion. 2011;51:2470-9.
- Braester A, Akria L, Suriu C, Zarfati M, Barhoum M. Educating the educator about patient blood management. Transfus Apheres Sci. 2022;61:103397.
- World Health Organization. Archived: iron deficiency anaemia: assessment, prevention and control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001.
- 12. Four tests and treatment to questions in perinatal transfusion medicine. Toronto: Choosing Wisely Canada; 2020.
- Siddiqi AZ, Grigat D, Vatanpour S, McRae A, Lang ES. Transfusions in patients with iron deficiency anemia following release of Choosing Wisely Guidelines. CJEM. 2021;23:475–9.
- Spradbrow J, Lin Y, Shelton D, Callum J. Iron deficiency anemia in the emergency department: over-utilization of red blood cell transfusion and infrequent use of iron supplementation. CJEM. 2017;19: 167–74.
- Grey DE, Finlayson J. Red cell transfusion for iron-deficiency anaemia: a retrospective audit at a tertiary hospital. Vox Sang. 2007;94: 138–42.
- Gómez-Ramírez S, Bisbe E, Shander A, Spahn DR, Muñoz M. Management of perioperative iron deficiency anemia. Acta Haematol. 2019;142:21–9.
- 17. Nixon CP, Sweeney JD. Severe iron deficiency anemia: red blood cell transfusion or intravenous iron? Transfusion. 2018;58:1824–6.
- Muñoz M, Acheson AG, Auerbach M, Besser M, Habler O, Kehlet H, et al. International consensus statement on the peri-operative management of anaemia and iron deficiency. Anaesthesia. 2017;72: 233–47.

 Avni T, Bieber A, Grossman A, Green H, Leibovici L, Gafter-Gvili A. The safety of intravenous iron preparations. Mayo Clin Proc. 2015; 90:12–23.

Vox Sanguinis

- Khadadah F, Callum J, Shelton D, Lin Y. Improving quality of care for patients with iron deficiency anemia presenting to the emergency department. Transfusion. 2018;58:1902–8.
- Beyer I, Compté N, Busuioc A, Cappelle S, Lanoy C, Cytryn E. Anemia and transfusions in geriatric patients: a time for evaluation. Hematology. 2010;15:116–21.
- Le Calvé S, Somme D, Prud'homm J, Corvol A. Blood transfusion in elderly patients with chronic anemia: a qualitative analysis of the general practitioners' attitudes. BMC Fam Pract. 2017;18:76.
- 23. World Health Organization. The urgent need to implement patient blood management: policy brief. Geneva: WHO; 2021.
- Moskowitz DM, McCullough JN, Shander A, Klein JJ, Bodian CA, Goldweit RS, et al. The impact of blood conservation on outcomes in cardiac surgery: is it safe and effective? Ann Thorac Surg. 2010;90: 451–8.
- Leahy MF, Hofmann A, Towler S, Trentino KM, Burrows SA, Swain SG, et al. Improved outcomes and reduced costs associated with a health-system-wide patient blood management program: a retrospective observational study in four major adult tertiary-care hospitals. Transfusion. 2017;57:1347–58.
- Gupta PB, DeMario VM, Amin RM, Gehrie EA, Goel R, Lee KHK, et al. Patient blood management program improves blood use and clinical outcomes in orthopedic surgery. Anesthesiology. 2018;129: 1082–91.
- Mueller MM, Van Remoortel H, Meybohm P, Aranko K, Aubron C, Burger R, et al. Patient blood management. JAMA. 2019;321:983.
- Fayed NA, Abdallah AR, Khalil MK, Marwan IK. Therapeutic rather than prophylactic platelet transfusion policy for severe thrombocytopenia during liver transplantation. Platelets. 2014;25:576–86.
- Vande Vusse LK, Madtes DK, Guthrie KA, Gernsheimer TB, Curtis JR, Watkins TR. The association between red blood cell and platelet transfusion and subsequently developing idiopathic pneumonia syndrome after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Transfusion. 2014;54:1071–80.
- Ness PM, Kruskall MS. Principles of red blood cell transfusion. In Hoffman K, ed. Hematology: Basic Principles and Practice. 4th ed. Orlando, FL: Churchill Livingstone; 2005.
- Wiesen AR, Hospenthal DR, Byrd JC, Glass KL, Howard RS, Diehl LF. Equilibration of hemoglobin conentration after transfusion in medical inpatients not actively bleeding. Ann Intern Med. 1994;121:278–30.
- Noverati N, Federici E, Riley TR. Post-transfusion hemoglobin response in patients with cirrhosis: can we expect a 1 g/dL rise per unit transfused? Transfusion. 2021;61:708–12.
- Berger MD, Gerber B, Arn K, Senn O, Schanz U, Stussi G. Significant reduction of red blood cell transfusion requirements by changing from a double-unit to a single-unit transfusion policy in patients receiving intensive chemotherapy or stem cell transplantation. Haematologica. 2012;97:116–22.
- Bowman Z, Fei N, Ahn J, Wen S, Cumpston A, Shah N, et al. Single versus double-unit transfusion: safety and efficacy for patients with hematologic malignancies. Eur J Haematol. 2019;102:383–8.
- Hamm RF, Perelman S, Wang EY, Levine LD, Srinivas SK. Single-unit vs multiple-unit transfusion in hemodynamically stable postpartum anemia: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2021;224:84.e1–7.
- Callum JL, Waters JH, Shaz BH, Sloan SR, Murphy MF. The AABB recommendations for the Choosing Wisely campaign of the American Board of Internal Medicine. Transfusion. 2014;54:2344–52.
- Lo BD, Cho BC, Hensley NB, Cruz NC, Gehrie EA, Frank SM. Impact of body weight on hemoglobin increments in adult red blood cell transfusion. Transfusion. 2021;61:1412–23.

515

are g

governed by the applicable Creative Commons

516 Vox Sanguinis Strational Socie

- de Bruin S, Eggermont D, van Bruggen R, de Korte D, Scheeren TWL, Bakker J, et al. Transfusion practice in the bleeding critically ill: An international online survey-The TRACE-2 survey. Transfusion. 2022; 62:324–35.
- Seeber P, Shander A. Basics of blood management. Oxford, UK: Blackwell; 2007.
- Adams RC, Lundy JS. Anesthesia in cases of poor surgical risk. Anesthesiology. 1942;3:603-7.
- Case RB, Berglund E, Sarnoff SJ. Ventricular function. Am J Med. 1955;18:397–405.
- Mollison P. Blood transfusion in clinical medicine. 6th ed. Oxford, UK: Blackwell; 2007.
- Trentino KM, Farmer SL, Leahy MF, Sanfilippo FM, Isbister JP, Mayberry R, et al. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses comparing mortality in restrictive and liberal haemoglobin thresholds for red cell transfusion: an overview of systematic reviews. BMC Med. 2020; 18:154.
- Donohue DM. Preservation and transfusion of blood. JAMA. 1956; 161:784.
- Viele M, Weiskopf R. What can we learn about the need for transfusion from patients who refuse blood? The Experience with Jehovah's Witnesses. Transfusion. 1994;34:396–401.
- Villanueva C, Colomo A, Bosch A, Concepción M, Hernandez-Gea V, Aracil C, et al. Transfusion strategies for acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:11–21.
- Valeri CR, Khuri S, Ragno G. Nonsurgical bleeding diathesis in anemic thrombocytopenic patients: role of temperature, red blood cells, platelets, and plasma-clotting proteins. Transfusion. 2007;47: 2065–485.
- Hellem AJ, Borchgrevink CHF, Ames SB. The role of red cells in haemostasis: the relation between haematocrit, bleeding time and platelet adhesiveness. Br J Haematol. 1961;7:42–50.

- Anderson HL, Brodsky IE, Mangalmurti NS. The evolving erythrocyte: red blood cells as modulators of innate immunity. J Immun. 2018; 201:1343–51.
- Harris SB, Hillyer CD. Blood manufacturing: component preparation, storage, and transportation. Blood Banking and Transfusion Medicine. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2007. p. 183, 204.
- 51. Gammon R, editor. Standards for blood banks and transfusion services. 33rd ed. Bethesda, MD: AABB Press; 2022.
- Fergusson D, Khanna MP, Tinmouth A, Hébert PC. Transfusion of leukoreduced red blood cells may decrease postoperative infections: two meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. Can J Anaesth. 2004;51:417–24.
- Blumberg N, Zhao H, Wang H, Messing S, Heal JM, Lyman GH. The intention-to-treat principle in clinical trials and meta-analyses of leukoreduced blood transfusions in surgical patients. Transfusion. 2007; 47:573–81.
- Friese RS, Sperry JL, Phelan HA, Gentilello LM. The use of leukoreduced red blood cell products is associated with fewer infectious complications in trauma patients. Am J Surg. 2008;196:56–61.
- 55. Francis RO. Irradiation of blood products. Transfusion medicine and hemostasis. Cambridge, MA: Elsevier; 2019. p. 261–5.
- Kopolovic I, Ostro J, Tsubota H, Lin Y, Cserti-Gazdewich CM, Messner HA, et al. A systematic review of transfusion-associated graft-versus-host disease. Blood. 2015;126:406–14.

How to cite this article: Gammon RR, Blumberg N, Gilstad C, Mandal S, Nair AR, Bocquet C. Patient blood management: Myths and facts about red blood cell transfusions. Vox Sang. 2023;118:509–16. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13439

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Antiphospholipid antibodies in convalescent plasma of donors recovered from mild COVID-19 infection

Dorit Blickstein¹ | Marina Izak² | Talia Filipovich-Rimon³ | Osnat Garach-Jehoshua³ | Naomi Rahimi-Levene⁴ | Eilat Shinar² | Ramzia Abu Hamad⁵ | Adina Bar-Chaim⁶ | Maya Koren-Michowitz^{1,7}

¹Department of Hematology, Shamir Medical Center, Be'er Ya'akov, Israel

²Magen David Adom National Blood Services, Ramat Gan, Israel

³Hematology Laboratory, Shamir Medical Center, Be'er Ya'akov, Israel

⁴Blood Bank, Shamir Medical Center, Be'er Ya'akov, Israel

⁵Clinical Chemistry Laboratory, Shamir Medical Center, Be'er Ya'akov, Israel

⁶Clinical Laboratories, Shamir Medical Center, Be'er Ya'akov, Israel

⁷Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel

Correspondence

Dorit Blickstein, Department of Hematology, Shamir Medical Center, Be'er Ya'akov, Israel. Email: doritb@shamir.gov.il

Funding information

Laboratory Research Fund, Shamir Medical Center

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Passive immunization by the infusion of convalescent plasma (CP) obtained from patients who have recently recovered from COVID-19, thus having antibodies to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, is a potential strategy to reduce the severity of illness. A high prevalence of antiphospholipid antibodies (APLA) in patients with COVID-19 has been reported during the pandemic, raising a concern whether the use of CP could increase the risk of thrombosis in transfused patients. We aimed to evaluate the prevalence of APLA in COVID-19 CP (CCP) in order to assess the potential prothrombotic influence of transfused CCP to COVID-19 patients.

Materials and Methods: We studied the prevalence of APLA in 122 CCP samples collected from healthy donors who recovered from mild-COVID-19 at two time periods: September 2020–January 2021 (defined as 'early period' samples) and April–May 2021 (defined as 'late period' samples). Thirty-four healthy subjects unexposed to COVID-19 were used as controls.

Results: APLA were present in 7 of 122 (6%) CCP samples. One donor had anti- β 2-glycoprotein 1(anti- β 2GP1) IgG, one had anti- β 2GP1 IgM and five had lupus anticoagulant (LAC) using silica clotting time (SCT), all in 'late period' donors. In the control group, one subject had anti- β 2GP1 IgG, two had LAC using dilute Russell viper venom time (dRVVT) and four had LAC SCT (both LAC SCT and LAC dRVVT in one subject).

Conclusion: The low prevalence of APLA in CCP donors reassures the safety of CCP administration to patients with severe COVID-19.

Keywords

anti-N antibodies, antiphospholipid antibodies, anti-S antibodies, convalescent plasma, COVID-19

Highlights

- A high prevalence of antiphospholipid antibodies (APLA) in patients with COVID-19 was reported.
- The presence of APLA is associated with a potential prothrombotic risk.
- We found a low prevalence of APLA in COVID-19 convalescent plasma, which suggests it can be safely transfused to COVID-19 patients with regard to prothrombotic risk.

INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), is associated with coagulopathy through various mechanisms [1, 2]. Patients hospitalized with COVID-19 were observed to have an increased incidence of venous thromboembolism, pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis, and an increased incidence of arterial thromboembolism—strokes, myocardial infarctions, systemic arterial embolism and acute limb ischaemia. These complications are major contributors to the high mortality rates associated with severe COVID-19 infection and have led to regular use of anticoagulant agents in hospitalized patients [3, 4].

COVID-19 patients generate antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 antigens including the spike (S) and nucleocapsid (N) proteins. The spike (S) protein, which is present on the envelope of SARS-CoV-2, is useful as an indicator of an effective immune response, including vaccine effectiveness. In contrast, nucleocapsid (N) proteins are biomarkers of natural infection [5].

Therefore, anti-S and anti-N antibodies are used for infection detection, as well as evaluation of responses to COVID-19 vaccinations. A variety of autoantibodies are also detected in COVID-19-infected patients. A recent study comparing patients with COVID-19 and healthy controls reported that about half of the patients had at least one type of autoantibody circulating in their bloodstream, compared to 15% of healthy controls [6]. The induction of autoantibodies was also previously described in association with other viral infections [7].

Studies have also reported a high prevalence of antiphospholipid antibodies (APLA) in COVID-19 patients [8, 9]. APLA are a panel of autoantibodies associated with a high prothrombotic risk composed of lupus anticoagulant (LAC), anticardiolipin antibodies (ACLA) and anti- β 2-glycoprotein 1 antibodies (anti- β 2GP1) of the immunoglobulin G and M classes. A recently published meta-analysis concluded that APLA were detected in nearly half of hospitalized patients with COVID-19 and even higher in patients with severe disease [10], suggesting a contributing role of APLA in the pathogenesis of thrombosis in COVID-19.

Passive immunization by the infusion of COVID-19 convalescent plasma (CCP) obtained from patients who have recently recovered from the disease, thus having antibodies to COVID-19, is a potential strategy to reduce the severity of illness and was studied prior to the development of anti-COVID-19 medications [11-14]. CCP is also an available therapeutic option in areas with no access to antiviral medications [15] or monoclonal antibody-resistant SARS-CoV-2 variants [16]. Approximately half of preserved CCP units collected from individuals recovered from wild type, alpha, beta and delta variants are also active against newer variants, that is, omicron [17]. Infusion of antibody-rich CCP can reduce the severity of acute viral disease through a direct antiviral effect (binding and neutralizing free virus) or by activating antiviral pathways (e.g., the complement cascade, phagocytosis and cellular cytotoxicity), as plasma, obtained by apheresis procedure, contains several kinds of antibodies and anti-inflammatory cytokines. On the other hand, there is also a possibility that antibodies could enhance disease severity by promoting viral entry or by proinflammatory mechanisms [18].

4230410, 2023, 7, Downloaded from 10.1111/vox 13439 by Cornell & Serials Depa Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. . See the Term Wiley Online Library for 1 ules of use; OA articles applicable Creat

We studied the prevalence of APLA in CCP samples collected from otherwise healthy volunteer donors who recovered from mild COVID-19 and donated CCP in Magen David Adom National Blood Services (MDANBS) donation sites according to previously described criteria [19]. The results were compared with healthy individuals with no history of COVID-19 infection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

CCP samples collected by MDANBS from volunteer donors who recovered from mild COVID-19 infection were tested. Mild COVID-19 was defined according to the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria as symptomatic patients meeting the case definition for COVID-19 without evidence of viral pneumonia or hypoxia [20].

Whole venous blood was collected into sodium citrate and heparin tubes and processed as follows [21]:

- 1. Plasma was obtained by double centrifugation at room temperature and frozen at -80° C.
- 2. Serum was obtained by centrifugation at room temperature and frozen at -20° C.
- 3. Frozen plasma samples were removed from the freezer, thawed in a 37°C water bath and then gently inverted three to five times prior to performing coagulation tests.
- 4. The frozen serum was removed from the freezer and allowed to acclimate to room temperature for approximately 10 min. They were then placed in a 37°C water bath with a gently swirl of tubes every 10–15 min until completely thawed.

Blood was collected from different donors in two time periods: between September 2020 and January 2021 (defined as 'early period' samples), and between April 2021 and May 2021 (defined as 'late period' samples).

Data on COVID-19 relevant signs and symptoms were selfreported by CCP donors at the time of donation [20]. Exclusion criteria for the CCP cohort included: prior COVID-19 vaccination, severe disease (hospitalization for symptomatic COVID-19), prior venous or arterial thrombosis, un-controlled or insulin-treated diabetes mellitus, congestive heart failure and un-controlled hypertension [19].

'Early period' donors were non-vaccinated individuals who recovered from COVID-19 before January 2021 and 'late period' donors recovered before April 2021 and were not vaccinated at this point.

Convalescence was supported by studying serum anti-COVID-19 antibodies that were in use at MDANBS in the defined time period: anti-N antibodies during the 'early period' and anti-S antibodies during the 'late period'.

Blood samples from healthy hospital care team members with no history of COVID-19 infection in the last 12 months (by self-report) or prior thromboembolism were collected in 2022 between February– March and June–July and used as control. Serum anti-N antibodies were studied in the control group in order to exclude prior COVID-19 infection.

The study was approved by the local ethics committee (approval date 10 February 2021, approval number 0399-20-ASF) and the Israel Ministry of Health (approval date 7 May 2021, approval number MOH-2021-05-07-009954).

All CCP donors and controls signed an informed consent.

Antiphospholipid antibody-positive participants were approached for repeat testing, were informed of the potential risks of APLA and instructed to have thromboprophylaxis in high-risk situations [22].

COVID-19 antibody tests

COVID-19 antibody testing was done according to the published guidelines [23]. Specifically, anti-N antibodies were tested by a chemiluminescent immunoassav (CMIA) and performed on the ARCHITECT i2000SR (Abbott, USA) instrument, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Positive results were defined as sample/cutoff (S/CO) \geq 1.4.

Anti-S antibodies were tested using the same instrument (ARCHITECT i2000SR, Abbott, USA). The results ≥50 arbitrary units per millilitre (AU/mL) were considered positive.

Antiphospholipid antibody tests

Antiphospholipid antibody testing and interpretation were performed according to standard guidelines [24]. LAC testing was done using dilute Russell viper venom time (dRVVT) and silica clotting time (SCT). HemosIL dRVVT screen and HemosIL dRVVT confirm reagents (Instrumentation Laboratory) were used for the dRVVT assay. HemosIL silica clotting time screen/confirm reagents (Instrumentation Laboratory) were used for the SCT assay. Both assays were performed on the coagulation analyser ACL TOP-500 (Instrumentation Laboratory).

A mixing test on dRVVT was performed if the screening test of the sample was prolonged, according to International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH) guidelines [24].

The results were reported as a normalized ratio (LAC dRVVT ratio normal range 0.91-1.42 and LAC SCT ratio normal range 0.7-1.3).

ACLA IgG and IgM and anti- β 2-glycoprotein 1 (anti- β 2GP1) IgG and IgM were detected using an ELISA method with AESKULISA Cardiolipin-GM kit (AESKU) and QUANTA Lite §2GP1 IgG and IgM ELISA kits (QUANTA Lite), respectively. Examinations were performed on the fully automatic TRITURUS analyser (Diagnostics Grifols). The results were reported as GPL U/mL and MPL U/mL for ACLA and SGU U/mL or SMU U/mL for anti-β2GP1 IgG/IgM (normal range 0-20 SGU/SMU U/mL).

Statistical analysis

We estimated that the prevalence of APLA in CCP samples was 30% (estimation deriving from the prevalence of APLA in hospitalized COVID-19 patients) and in controls 5%. One hundred and twenty-five samples of CCP were available for the study, and a 4:1 recruitment

ratio was estimated since at the time of the study, a significant proportion of the population in Israel had already undergone COVID-19 infection, and we intended to include only subjects that did not have a history of COVID-19 in the control group.

The sample size required to detect a statistically significant difference in APLA prevalence was 145 subjects (CCP-116, controls-29), with power = 0.8 and alpha = 0.05 (two-tailed test).

Categorical variables are reported as frequency and percentage. Continuous variables are reported as the median and interguartile range (IQR). Chi-squared and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare categorical variables between CCP donors and healthy controls. Mann-Whitney and t tests were applied to compare continuous variables.

RESULTS

CCP study group included 122 participants, 80 samples were collected in the 'early period' and 42 during the 'late period'. Forty subjects were recruited as controls; however, anti-N antibodies were detected in six of them indicating previous asymptomatic COVID-19 infection, thus excluded from further analysis. Therefore, the final control group consisted of 34 subjects. At the time of plasma collection, none of the participants had a history of venous thromboembolism or arterial thrombosis. 'Early period' CCP donors were borderline older compared to 'late period' CCP donors, with a median age (IQR) of 35 years (25, 45) and 29 years (21, 41), respectively, p = 0.07. No other characteristic was significantly different between CCP donors during the two time periods.

Table 1 summarizes the demographic data and laboratory results of CCP plasma donors and controls. Compared to controls, CCP subjects were younger, with a median age (IQR) of 32 years (24, 43) compared to 37 years (29, 47), in the control group, p = 0.04. All but two subjects in the control group had received anti-COVID-19 (BNT162b2) vaccinations, most commonly three vaccines before APLA testing. There was a significant difference in the time interval between COVID-19 infection and CCP donation (tested for APLA) (median of 2.5 months), and the time between the last COVID-19 vaccination to APLA testing in controls (median of 7.8 months), *p* < 0.001.

Antiphospholipid antibody results

The results of APLA testing are given in Table 2. CCP donors had a significantly lower prevalence of any APLA (7 of 122, 6%) compared to controls (6 of 34, 18%), p = 0.026. All subjects (CCP donors and controls) were negative for anticardiolipin antibodies. In the CCP group, anti- β 2GP1 IgG and anti- β 2GP1 IgM antibodies were found in one participant each, both in 'early period' donors and five subjects had positive LAC SCT, all in 'late period' donors. In the control group, one subject was positive to anti-β2GP1 IgG antibody, two were LAC dRVVT positive and four had positive LAC SCT results (one of them

TABLE 1 Characteristics of study group and controls.

	Convalescent plasma (CCP)	Controls	p
Ν	122	34	
Age (y), median (IQR)	32 (24, 43)	37 (29, 47)	0.04
Gender (men), N (%)	97 (80)	27 (79)	>0.999
Time from recovery (CCP) to test/last vaccine (controls) to test (m), median (IQR)	2.5 (2, 3)	7.8 (5, 8)	<0.001
Number BNT162b2 vaccines 0/1/2/3/4	NA	2/0/2/28/2	

Abbreviations: CCP, COVID-19 convalescent plasma; IQR, interquartile range; m, months; N, number; y, years.

TABLE 2 Antiphospholipid antibodies results.

	Convalescent plasma (CCP) N = 122	Controls N = 34	р
APLA, n (%)			
Any	7 (6)	6 (18)	0.026
Anticardiolipin IgG /IgM	None	None	
Anti-β2GP1 lgG	1 (1)	1 (3)	
Anti-β2GP1 lgM	1 (1)	None	
Positive LAC dRVVT	None	2 (6) ^a	
Positive LAC SCT	5 (4)	4 (12) ^a	
APLA median (range) ^b			
Anticardiolipin IgG/IgM	-	-	
Anti-β2GP1 lgG SGU U/mL	54.6	40	
Anti-β2GP1 lgM SMU U/mL	68	-	
LAC dRVVT ratio	-	1.61 (1.56–1.66)	-
LAC SCT ratio	1.38 (1.35-2.37)	1.43 (1.32-1.62)	0.65

Note: Anti- β 2GP1 IgG normal range 0-20 SGU U/mL, anti- β 2GP1 IgM normal range 0-20 SMU U/mL, LAC dRVVT ratio normal range 0.91-1.42 and LAC SCT ratio normal range 0.7-1.3.

Abbreviations: anti-β2GP1, anti-β2-glycoprotein 1; APLA, antiphospholipid antibodies; CCP, COVID-19 convalescent plasma; dRVVT, dilute Russell viper venom time; LAC, lupus anticoagulant; SCT, silica clotting time. ^aPositive LAC dRVVT and LAC SCT in one patient. ^bIn positive patients.

positive in both LAC tests). There was a trend towards older age in CCP subjects with positive compared to negative APLA, median (IQR) 41 years (27, 54), and 32 years (23, 43), respectively, p = 0.17 and no gender difference, p = 0.56. APLA-positive CCP donors tended to have longer times between COVID-19 recovery and CCP donation, a median of 3 months (IQR 1.75, 3.5) compared to APLA-negative subjects, a median of 2.5 months (IQR 2, 3), p = 0.08. In the control group, there was no difference between APLA-positive and APLA-

negative subjects in age, gender, number of COVID-19 vaccination and the time period between the last vaccination to APLA testing.

There were no differences in the median titres of APLA between CCP donors and control subjects in the positive cases.

Among the CCP donors, there was no association between anti-COVID-19 antibodies (anti-N or anti-S) titre and the presence of either LAC or APLA (data not shown).

All APLA-positive subjects were approached to repeat the specific test. Two controls were lost to follow-up, one did not repeat the test, two were negative and one was positive (anti- β 2GP 1 IgG 40.1 SGU U/mL). This decreased the total prevalence of APLA in controls to 3.22%. Only one CCP donor repeated APLA after 12 months and was positive to LAC SCT (ratio 1.43). We were unable to repeat testing in the other six positive CCP donors who did not confirm despite approaching them via email, as well as a phone call.

DISCUSSION

We found a low frequency (6%) of APLA in plasma samples collected from donors who have recovered from mild COVID-19 and donated CCP. This is in line with previous reports on the occurrence of LAC and ACLA in the young healthy population (1%–5%) [25–27] and the prevalence of APLA in healthy blood donors (10% ACLA-positive and 1% LAC-positive), with less than 1% remaining positive after 1 year [26]. A high prevalence of APLA has been previously reported in hospitalized patients with severe COVID-19. Since thromboembolic complications are common in severe COVID-19 cases, it was suggested that APLA participates in the pathogenesis of these complications. Therefore, it seemed plausible that infusion of CCP (containing APLA) as a treatment for severe COVID-19 patients could actually increase the risk of thrombotic complications and adversely affect infection outcome.

More recently, systematic reviews of papers reporting on the association between APLA and COVID-19 have called into question the role of APLA in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 and disease complications. The ambivalent results can be due to high heterogeneity amongst the studies resulting from the types and methods of APLA studied, different patient populations and timing of laboratory assessments, lack of data on the use of anticoagulation which can affect LAC testing, as well as additional confounders, that is, CRP levels [28]. Few studies have reported on the persistence of APLA in follow-up examinations. Accordingly, Favaloro et al. in a recent review on APLA and COVID-19 have concluded that at least some of the APLA appearing during acute COVID-19 can represent false-positive results, and therefore, the relationship between the detected APLA and COVID-19-associated coagulopathy remains to be resolved [29].

Regardless of the role of APLA in COVID-19 pathogenesis, we indeed detect a lower prevalence of APLA compared to other reports. Several explanations for this difference might be suggested. In our study, CCP was collected for antibody testing following mild COVID-19 infections, in contrast to APLA testing in hospitalized COVID-19 patients with severe disease, as previously reported [8].

The possibility of a rapid decline in autoantibodies after the acute infection could be another explanation for the low prevalence of APLA in the study cohort. APLA were tested during COVID-19 infection in hospitalized patients, while in our cohort, blood was drawn following a median recovery of 2.5 months, possibly at a time when APLA had already disappeared. Of note, the time point for CCP collection was directed by the Israeli MDANBS, enabling recovery of the donor prior to plasma collection while conserving an adequate anti-SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody level. Although APLA may be transient and disappear within a few months [7], titres of the neutralizing antibodies also gradually decrease; therefore, collection of CCP at later time periods could result in sub-therapeutic levels of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies [30].

We also found a trend for older age in APLA-positive CCP donors compared to negative ones. This is in line with previous reports on the higher prevalence of APLA in older compared to younger subjects and could also support a higher tendency to develop autoantibodies in the older population when exposed to infective agents [31].

Interestingly, we found only LAC in the plasma of 'late period' CCP donors and ACLA in 'early period' donors. We hypothesized that this could be explained by the difference in COVID-19 variants at the relative time periods, predominantly wild type and alpha strains and non-alpha variants in the 'early' and 'late' periods, respectively. Indeed, such associations were not reported from similar studies; however, most were done within a relatively short time period, presumably when only one SARS-CoV-2 variant was prevalent. Since molecular mimicry antibody response to different antigens is proposed as a possible underlying mechanism of the APLA development [32], COVID-19 variants could induce different APLA responses.

The median age of plasma donors in 'early period' was older compared to the age of 'late period' donors, 35 years and 29 years, respectively (p = 0.07), reflecting the fact that the alpha variant was more common in elderly people during the early pandemic.

In this study, we found a high prevalence of APLA (18%) in the control group. This relatively high rate could be explained by the small sample size. Reassuringly, the repeated test done after 3–5 months demonstrated a much lower prevalence (3.22%).

Another possible contributing factor is the specific vaccine used, that is, BNT162b2 in our control cohort.

A number of reports have shown that mRNA vaccines can trigger autoimmune syndromes in general [33] and APLA production in particular and can even lead to thrombosis which defines APLA syndrome [34–36]. A recent study reported on the prevalence of anticardiolipin lgG antibodies following COVID-19 or COVID-19 vaccinations (ChAdOx1-S n = 37 and BNT162b2 n = 42) [37]. The highest rate of positivity was in the COVID-19-positive group (18.9%). Following vaccination, BNT162b2 had the highest rate of positivity (11.9%), very similar to the rate in our study.

The number of vaccines given prior to APLA testing is also a potential factor in the rates of APLA in a healthy population. In a recent publication on 100 healthcare workers, 50 vaccinated with BNT162b2 and 50 with ChAdOx1 the authors concluded that vaccinations induced low titres of ACLA only occasionally [38]. Testing was

done following one (ChAdOx1) or two (BNT162b2) vaccines compared to three vaccine doses of BNT162b2 in most of our control cohort.

Finally, the fact that convalescent donors had no thromboembolic disease at the time of plasma collection and the low prevalence of APLA in this cohort reassures the safety of continuous use of CCP to patients, in terms of thrombosis-inducing risk, according to recent publications [11–14].

In conclusion, we found a low rate of APLA in CCP samples collected after recovery from mild COVID-19. Using CCP from younger donors and fine-tuning of the time period between disease and plasma collection could lead to an optimal and risk-benefit balanced CCP product.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank convalescent plasma donors and healthy controls for their cooperation and the haematology and chemistry laboratories for their dedicated work. This study was supported by a grant from the Laboratory Research Fund, Shamir Medical Center, Zerifin, Israel.

D.B. initiated and designed the study, collected, analysed data and wrote the manuscript. M.K.M. analysed data and wrote the manuscript. M.I. and E.S. arranged the collection of plasma samples from CCP donors. T.F.R., O.G.J. and R. A.H. performed the laboratory tests. All authors provided input on the manuscript and approved the final version.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

No conflict of interest to declare for all authors.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Dorit Blickstein D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5693-1996 Marina Izak D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4297-6373 Naomi Rahimi-Levene D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3411-886X Eilat Shinar D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5658-248X Maya Koren-Michowitz D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7223-328X

REFERENCES

- Kunutsor SK, Laukkanen JA. Incidence of venous and arterial thromboembolic complications in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thromb Res. 2020;196:27–30.
- Muthiah A, Ohnigian S, Reagan JL, Hsu A. Thrombosis in COVID 2022: an updated narrative review of current literature and inpatient management. R I Med J (2013). 2022;105:36–40.
- Cuker A, Tseng EK, Nieuwlaat R, Angchaisuksiri P, Blair C, Dane K, et al. American Society of Hematology 2021 guidelines on the use of anticoagulation for thromboprophylaxis in patients with COVID-19. Blood Adv. 2021;5:872–88.
- Cuker A, Tseng EK, Nieuwlaat R, Angchaisuksiri P, Blair C, Dane K, et al. American Society of Hematology living guidelines on the use of anticoagulation for thromboprophylaxis in patients with COVID-19: May 2021 update on the use of intermediate-intensity anticoagulation in critically ill patients. Blood Adv. 2021;5:3951–9.

- Lee N, Jeong S, Lee SK, Cho EJ, Hyun J, Park MJ, et al. Quantitative analysis of anti-N and anti-S antibody titters of SARS-CoV-2 infection after the third dose of COVID-19 vaccination. Vaccines. 2022; 10:1143.
- Chang SE, Feng A, Meng W, Apostolidis SA, Mack E, Artandi M, et al. New-onset IgG autoantibodies in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Nat Commun. 2021;12:5417.
- Uthman IW, Gharavi AE. Viral infections and antiphospholipid antibodies. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2002;31:256–63.
- Zuo Y, Estes SK, Ali RA, Gandhi AA, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, et al. Prothrombotic autoantibodies in serum from patients hospitalized with COVID-19. Sci Transl Med. 2020;12:eabd3876.
- Foret T, Dufrost V, Du Mont LS, Costa P, Lefevre B, Lacolley P, et al. Systematic review of antiphospholipid antibodies in COVID-19 patients: culprits or bystanders? Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2021;23:65.
- Taha M, Samavati L. Antiphospholipid antibodies in COVID-19: a meta-analysis and systematic review. RMD Open. 2021;7:e001580.
- Joyner MJ, Carter RE, Senefeld JW, Klassen SA, Mills JR, Johnson PW, et al. Convalescent plasma antibody levels and the risk of death from Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2021;384:1015–27.
- Li M, Beck EJ, Laeyendecker O, Eby Y, Tobian AAR, Caturegli P, et al. Convalescent plasma with a high level of virus-specific antibody effectively neutralizes SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern. Blood Adv. 2022;6:3678–83.
- Sullivan DJ, Gebo KA, Shoham S, Bloch EM, Lau B, Shenoy AG, et al. Early outpatient treatment for Covid-19 with convalescent plasma. N Engl J Med. 2022;386:1700–11.
- Senefeld JW, Franchini M, Mengoli C, Cruciani M, Zani M, Gorman EK, et al. COVID-19 convalescent plasma for the treatment of immunocompromised patients: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA Network Open. 2023;6:E2250647.
- Bloch EM, Goel R, Montemayor C, Cohn C, Tobian AAR. Promoting access to COVID-19 convalescent plasma in low- and middle-income countries. Transfus Apher Sci. 2021;60:102957.
- Casadevall A, Focosi D. SARS-CoV-2 variants resistant to monoclonal antibodies in immunocompromised patients constitute a public health concern. J Clin Invest. 2023;133:e168603.
- Sullivan DJ, Franchini M, Joyner MJ, Casadevall A, Focosi D. Analysis of anti-SARS-CoV-2 Omicron-neutralizing antibody titers in different vaccinated and unvaccinated convalescent plasma sources. Nat Commun. 2022;13:6478.
- Lee WS, Wheatley AK, Kent SJ, DeKosky BJ, Casadevall A, Focosi D. Antibody-dependent enhancement and SARS-CoV-2 vaccines and therapies. Nat Microbiol. 2020;5:1185–91.
- Izak M, Gendelman V, Bransburg-Zabary S, Stoyanov E, Gat R, Cohen D, et al. Qualifying coronavirus disease 2019 convalescent plasma donors in Israel. Vox Sang. 2022;117:185–92.
- World Health Organization. Living guidance for clinical management of COVID-19: living guidance. [23 November 2021] WHO/2019nCoV/clinical/2021.2.
- Kitchen S, Adcock DM, Dauer R, Kristoffersen AH, Lippi G, Mackie I, et al. International Council for Standardization in Haematology (ICSH) recommendations for processing of blood samples for coagulation testing. Int J Lab Hematol. 2021;43:1272–83.
- Sammaritano LR. Antiphospholipid syndrome. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2020;34:101463.
- CDC. Interim Guidelines for COVID-19 Antibody Testing. 2022 https://www.cdcgov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/lab/resources/antibodytests-guidelineshtml
- 24. Devreese KMJ, de Groot PG, de Laat B, Erkan D, Favaloro EJ, Mackie I, et al. Guidance from the Scientific and Standardization

Committee for lupus anticoagulant/antiphospholipid antibodies of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis: Update of the guidelines for lupus anticoagulant detection and interpretation. J Thromb Haemost. 2020;18:2828–39.

- Tincani A, Ziglioli T, Andreoli L, Meroni P. Update on antiphospholipid antibodies: clinical significance. Int J Clin Rheumatol. 2009;4: 551–60.
- Garcia D, Erkan D. Diagnosis and management of the antiphospholipid syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2010–21.
- Shi W, Krilis SA, Chong BH, Gordon S, Chesterman CN. Prevalence of lupus anticoagulant and anticardiolipin antibodies in a healthy population. Aust N Z J Med. 1990;20:231–6.
- Schouwers SM, Delanghe JR, Devreese KM. Lupus anticoagulant (LAC) testing in patients with inflammatory status: does C reactive protein interfere with LAC test results? Thromb Res. 2010;125: 102–4.
- Favaloro EJ, Henry BM, Giuseppe LG. Is lupus anticoagulant a significant feature of COVID-19? A critical appraisal of the literature. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2022;48:55–71.
- Xia W, Li M, Wang Y, Kazis LE, Berlo K, Melikechi N, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody decay in convalescent COVID-19 patients. Sci Rep. 2021;11:16796.
- Colucci AT, Di Lorenzo G, Ingrassia A, Crescimanno G, Modica MA, Candore G, et al. Blood antiphospholipid antibody levels are influenced by age, sex and HLA-B8,DR3 phenotype. Exp Clin Immunogenet. 1992;9:72–9.
- Shoenfeld Y, Blank M, Cervera R, Font J, Raschi E, Meroni PL. Infectious origin of the antiphospholipid syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65:2–6.
- Talotta R, Robertson ES. Antiphospholipid antibodies and risk of post-COVID-19 vaccination thrombophilia: the straw that breaks the camel's back? Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2021;60:52–60.
- Barda N, Dagan N, Ben-Shlomo Y, Kepten E, Waxman J, Ohana R, et al. Safety of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine in a nationwide setting. N Engl J Med. 2021;385:1078-90.
- Moreno-Torres V, Gutierrez A, Valdenebro M, Ortega A, Citores MJ, Montero E. Catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome triggered by mRNA COVID-19 vaccine. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2022;40:1054–5.
- Jinno S, Naka I, Nakazawa T. Catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome complicated with essential thrombocythaemia after COVID-19 vaccination: in search of the underlying mechanism. Rheumatol Adv Pract. 2021;5:rkab096.
- Krashias G, Pafiti A, Deeba E, Christodoulou C, Pantzaris M, Lambrianides A. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination induces antibodies against cardiolipin. BMC Res Notes. 2022;15:292.
- Borghi MO, Bombaci M, Bodio C, Lonati PA, Gobbini A, Lorenzo M, et al. Anti-phospholipid antibodies and coronavirus disease 2019: vaccination does not trigger early autoantibody production in healthcare workers. Front Immunol. 2022;13:930074.

How to cite this article: Blickstein D, Izak M,

Filipovich-Rimon T, Garach-Jehoshua O, Rahimi-Levene N, Shinar E, et al. Antiphospholipid antibodies in convalescent plasma of donors recovered from mild COVID-19 infection. Vox Sang. 2023;118:517–22. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13441

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



In vitro comparison of cold-stored whole blood and reconstituted whole blood

Sanna Susila^{1,2} I Tuukka Helin³ | Jouni Lauronen² | Lotta Joutsi-Korhonen³ | Minna Ilmakunnas^{2,4,5}

Revised: 27 April 2023

¹Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Lahti, Finland

²Finnish Red Cross Blood Service, Helsinki, Finland

³Department of Clinical Chemistry, HUS Diagnostic Center, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

⁴Meilahti Hospital Blood Bank, Department of Clinical Chemistry, HUS Diagnostic Center, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

⁵Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Correspondence

Sanna Susila, Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Keskussairaalankatu 7, 15850 Lahti, Finland. Email: sanna.l.susila@gmail.com

Funding information Blood Disease Research Foundation; FRCBS

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Cold-stored whole blood (CSWB) is increasingly used in damage control resuscitation. Haemostatic function of CSWB seems superior to that of reconstituted whole blood, and it is sufficiently preserved for 14–21 days. To provide evidence for a yet insufficiently studied aspect of prehospital CSWB use, we compared in vitro haemostatic properties of CSWB and currently used in-hospital and prehospital blood component therapies.

Materials and Methods: Blood was obtained from 24 O RhD positive male donors. Three products were prepared: CSWB, in-hospital component therapy (red blood cells [RBCs], OctaplasLG and platelets 1:1:1) and prehospital component therapy (RBCs and lyophilized plasma 1:1). Samples were drawn on days 1 and 14 of CSWB or RBC cold storage. On day 14, platelet concentrates at their expiry (5 days) were used for 1:1:1 mixing. Conventional clotting assays, rotational thromboelastometry, thrombin formation and platelet function were assessed.

Results: Haemoglobin, platelet count, fibrinogen and coagulation factor levels remained closest to physiological in CSWB. Factor VIII activity decreased markedly by day 14 in CSWB. The decline in platelet function was prominent in CSWB. However, CSWB on day 14 yielded physiological EXTEM MCF, suggesting haemostatically sufficient platelet function. Despite haemodilution and lower coagulation factor levels, in-hospital component therapy was haemostatically adequate. Prehospital component therapy formed the weakest clots. Thrombin formation potential remained comparable and stable in all groups.

Conclusion: Current prehospital component therapy fails to offer the clotting potential that CSWB does. CSWB and current in-hospital 1:1:1 component therapy show similar haemostatic potential until 14 days of storage.

Keywords

haemostasis, lyophilized plasma, platelet function, reconstituted whole blood, whole blood, whole blood storage

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2023 The Authors. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

- Cold-stored whole blood retains physiological coagulation factor levels during storage, except for factor VIII and von Willebrand factor activities.
- Platelet count and function declined during storage but remained haemostatically sufficient in cold-stored whole blood.
- Although coagulation factor levels were lower in reconstituted whole blood, it provides overall similar haemostatic potential to cold-stored whole blood.

INTRODUCTION

The most common preventable cause of death of trauma patients is massive haemorrhage [1]. Most deaths occur before reaching the hospital. A fifth of all trauma deaths could be prevented by better haemostatic control [1]. In developed countries, prehospital blood products are routinely used in damage control resuscitation (DCR). Blood products, typically red blood cells (RBCs) and fresh frozen plasma or lyophilized plasma (LP), may decrease mortality, although data are contradictory [2, 3].

Cold-stored whole blood (CSWB) has gained increasing interest in civilian DCR. CSWB, with easier logistics and thus potentially faster transfusions, can provide haemostatically active cold-stored platelets for prehospital transfusions. CSWB, compared to component therapy, contains less anticoagulant and additive solutions and may, therefore, reduce haemodilution in massive transfusion. CSWB may thus be superior to conventional component therapy in DCR. However, mortality and morbidity data are lacking as randomized controlled trials are still underway [4–6].

In previous studies [7–13], haemostatic function of CSWB has been superior to that of reconstituted whole blood (RWB) and sufficiently preserved up to 14–21 days. However, to the best of our knowledge, no studies have compared the haemostatic properties of CSWB to current prehospital and in-hospital component therapies for DCR. Here, prior to introducing CSWB to clinical use, we compared in vitro haemostatic properties of CSWB and the current component therapies used in massive haemorrhage.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Twenty-four adult male O RhD positive regular donors were recruited through Finnish Red Cross Blood Service (FRCBS) electronic newsletter for blood donors. Standard FRCBS donor eligibility criteria were used, including haemoglobin level above 135 g/L. Use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and herbal medications was prohibited 2 weeks prior to donation. Blood was collected following FRCBS standard procedures.

The study was approved by the ethics committee for Helsinki and Uusimaa Hospital District (HUS/699/2021). All participants signed an informed consent prior to donation.

Blood product preparation

We compared three different products (Figure 1), with eight donations allocated to each group: CSWB group, RWB mimicking hospital



FIGURE 1 Preparation of blood products. Donated whole blood was leukoreduced 18–24 h after donation. Cold-stored whole blood (CSWB) and packed red blood cells (RBC) were stored at +5°C and PLT at +22°C. Unit volumes: CSWB 445 mL, RBC 260 mL, LP 200 mL, OctaplasLG[®] 200 mL and PLT 244 mL. Created with BioRender.com. LP, lyophilized plasma; PLT, buffy coat platelets; RWB, reconstituted whole blood, WB, whole blood.

massive transfusion protocol with 1:1:1 blood product ratio (RWB group) and RBCs and LP with 1:1 ratio used in prehospital setting (RBC+LP group). To determine baseline parameters, control samples were drawn from eight random study participants before donation. All donated units were stored at $+22^{\circ}$ C prior to processing.

In the CSWB group, whole blood was collected with a Terumo Imuflex[®] WB-SP collection set (Terumo Europe N.V., Leuven, Belgium) containing 63 mL of citrate phosphate dextrose (CPD). Whole blood was leukoreduced 18–24 h after donation with a platelet-sparing filter. One CSWB donation coagulated in the collection bag due to erroneous placing of the bag on the mixer scale and was discarded. CSWB units were stored at $+5^{\circ}$ C after leukoreduction.

In the RWB and RBC+LP groups, whole blood was collected with Fresenius CompoFlow[®] Quadruple T&B collection set (Fresenius Kabi AG, Bad Homburg, Germany) containing 63 mL of CPD and 100 mL of SAGM. Whole blood was leukoreduced 18–24 h after donation with a platelet-sparing filter, then separated into RBC, plasma and buffy coat. RBC units were stored at $+5^{\circ}$ C. Plasma was discarded, as only solvent/detergent-treated pooled plasma is used in Finland.

Buffy coats from four donors were pooled to form one platelet unit, stored in PAS-IIIM at $+22^\circ\text{C}.$

In the RWB group, RBCs were mixed with blood group AB OctaplasLG[®] (Octapharma Nordic AB, Vantaa, Finland) and platelets in 1:1:1 ratio. On day 1 (d1), platelets were from the donations for this study. On day 14 (d14), platelets were O RhD positive buffy coat platelets from FRCBS surplus stock at unit expiry (5 days or within 12 h afterwards). In the RBC+LP group, RBCs were mixed with single-donor blood group AB LP (LyoPlas N-w[®], DRK-Blutspendedienst West, Hagen, Germany) in 1:1 ratio.

Blood sampling and laboratory analyses

Control samples were drawn before blood donation to tubes with appropriate anticoagulants (BD Vacutainer[®] 3.2% Citrate and BD Vacutainer K2 EDTA, Becton Dickinson Finland, Vantaa, Finland; Vacuette Lithium Heparin, Greiner Bio-One GmbH, Kremsmünster, Austria). Samples from CSWB, RWB and RBC+LP groups were collected in test tubes without anticoagulants (Vacuette[®] Z No Additive, Greiner Bio-One GmbH, Kremsmünster, Austria).

Samples for laboratory analyses were obtained on d1 and d14 after donation. Samples were analysed within 3 h from collection. Citrated blood was centrifuged at 2500 g for 10 min before coagulation assays. For thrombin generation assay, citrated plasma was additionally centrifuged at 2500 g for 10 min, aliquoted and frozen at -80° C until analysis.

The blood count was analysed using Sysmex XN-9000[®] analyser (Sysmex Corporation, Kobe, Japan). Coagulation tests were done using routine analysers and methods; for fibrinogen, prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT), factor (F)V, FVIII, FIX, antithrombin, thrombin time (TT), D-dimer and von Willebrand factor glycoprotein Ib activity (VWF:Act) and antigen (VWF:Ag) with ACL TOP 500[®] (Instrumentation Laboratory, Werfen, Barcelona, Spain), for FII, FVII, FX, FXI, FXII, protein C, protein S free antigen with BCS XP[®] (Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany).

Platelet function analyser (PFA-200[®], Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany) assay was performed from whole blood with collagen/epinephrine (PFA-EPI) and collagen/ADP (PFA-ADP) cuvettes in duplicate.

Multiple electrode aggregometry (MEA) for adenosine diphosphate (ADPtest) at 6.5 μ M and thrombin receptor associated peptide-6 (TRAPtest) at 32 μ M was done in duplicate from whole blood with Multiplate[®] analyser (Roche, Basel, Switzerland).

Thromboelastometry was done from whole blood using ROTEM[®] sigma analyser (Werfen, Barcelona, Spain), with cassettes containing extrinsic pathway (EXTEM), intrinsic pathway (INTEM) and fibrin formation (FIBTEM) tests. Clotting time (CT), clot formation time (CFT), amplitude at 5 min (A5), maximum clot firmness (MCF) and lysis index at 30 min (LI30) were reported.

Calibrated automated thrombogram[®] (CAT, Diagnostica Stago, Asnieres, France) was performed with 5 pM tissue factor, without

thrombomodulin addition. Lag time, time to peak, thrombin peak and endogenous thrombin potential (ETP) were reported.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 26. Non-parametric tests were used. As the control samples were not drawn from all donors, controls were treated as an independent group in statistical analyses. To quantify differences between the groups, ratios of group medians were calculated. Differences between the groups were tested with Kruskal-Wallis test. Time-dependent changes within groups were tested with Wilcoxon signed-rank test. Bonferroni correction was used to control the familywise error rate. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Haemoglobin and haematocrit levels

Compared to controls, haemoglobin and haematocrit levels on d1 in the CSWB group were similar (p = 0.094), and in the RWB and RBC +LP groups significantly lower (p < 0.001) (Figure 2, Table S1). In the CSWB group, haemoglobin and haematocrit remained steady, and no clinically relevant changes occurred during storage. In the RWB and RBC+LP groups, haemoglobin concentrations and haematocrits were similar on d1 and d14 and were significantly higher in the CSWB group than in the RWB group.

Plasma coagulation factor levels

Compared to controls, coagulation factor levels on d1 in the CSWB group were similar (p = 0.305-0.903), except for lower FVIII activity (p = 0.042) (Figure 2, Table S2). All coagulation factor levels on d1 were significantly lower in the RWB ($p \le 0.010$) and RBC+LP ($p \le 0.001$) groups than in the controls.

In the CSWB group, coagulation factor levels decreased during storage, reflected in significantly decreased PT and increased APTT (Figure 2, Table S1). The storage effect was most prominent in FVIII levels (median 87 IU/dL on d1 and 43 IU/dL on d14, p = 0.018), which, in turn, prolonged APTT (Figure 2, Table S2). Fibrinogen level decreased during storage, but remained normal. Although FXII, FXI, FX, FV and FII levels decreased during storage, they remained within physiological range (Table S2). In the RWB and RBC+LP groups, the variation in coagulation factor levels between d1 and d14 was minimal. In the RBC+LP group, the FVIII level was significantly lower and thus APTT longer on d14 (Figure 2, Table S2). This was possibly due to variation in the single-donor LP composition.

Both on d1 and d14, coagulation factor levels were generally two-fold higher in the CSWB group than in the RWB and RBC+LP



FIGURE 2 Blood count and coagulation assays. Individual measurements with median are shown. Laboratory reference range is shown in grey. Statistical comparison between groups is shown in Tables S1 and S2. CSWB, cold-stored whole blood; RBC+LP, packed red blood cells and lyophilized plasma; RWB, reconstituted whole blood.

groups (Figure 2, Table S2). In these groups, coagulation factor levels were approximately 50-70 IU/dL and thus below the physiological range. FVIII levels were significantly higher in the RWB group than in the RBC+LP group both on d1 (p = 0.036) and d14 (p < 0.001).

Thrombin generation

Compared to controls, CAT parameters on d1 in the CSWB group were similar, except for longer time to peak (p = 0.010) (Figure 3). In

the RWB and RBC+LP groups, CAT parameters on d1 were comparable to controls, except for shorter lag time in the RBC+LP group (p = 0.006).

In the CSWB group, lag time increased during storage (Figure 3). Concomitantly, time to peak slightly decreased and peak height slightly increased. However, ETP in the CSWB group was similar to that in controls and did not change during storage, indicating overall normal thrombin generation in CSWB. In the RWB and RBC+LP groups, the variation in CAT parameters between d1 and d14 was minimal (Figure 3).



FIGURE 3 Thrombin generation assessed with Calibrated automated thrombogram. Individual measurements with median are shown. Control sample range is shown in grey. AUC, area under the curve; CSWB, cold-stored whole blood; ETP, endogenous thrombin potential; RBC +LP, packed red blood cells and lyophilized plasma; RWB, reconstituted whole blood.

Both on d1 and d14, time to peak was significantly longer in the CSWB group than in the RWB (p = 0.007 and p = 0.004, respectively) and RBC+LP (p = 0.001 and p = 0.002, respectively) groups (Figure 3). Likewise, on d14, lag time was significantly longer in the CSWB group than in the RWB (p = 0.038) and RBC+LP (p < 0.001) groups. However, ETP was similar in all groups on d1 and d14, indicating similar thrombin generation.

Viscoelastic properties

Compared to controls, EXTEM CT (p < 0.001) and INTEM CT (p = 0.011) on d1 were longer in the CSWB group (Figure 4). In the RWB and RBC+LP groups, viscoelastic properties were generally

inferior compared to controls ($p \le 0.018$, except for EXTEM CT in the RWB group p = 0.168).

In the CSWB group, clotting times and EXTEM CFT increased during storage (Figure 4, Table 1). EXTEM A5 decreased significantly, but FIBTEM A5 and EXTEM MCF were comparable on d1 and d14. In the RWB group, EXTEM A5 and EXTEM MCF increased during storage. FIBTEM A5 was comparable on d1 and d14. In the RBC+LP group, clotting times increased and clot strength decreased during storage. These effects were likely due to variation in the single-donor LP composition.

Both on d1 and d14, EXTEM CT was longer in the CSWB than in the RWB group, and on d14 also, EXTEM CFT was longer (Figure 4, Table 1). EXTEM A5 and EXTEM MCF were the lowest in the RBC +LP group, explained by the fact that RBC+LP samples contained only some residual platelets.



FIGURE 4 Viscoelastic properties assessed with rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM). Individual measurements with median are shown. Laboratory reference range is shown in grey. Statistical comparison between groups is shown in Table 1. CFT, clot formation time; CSWB, cold-stored whole blood; CT, clotting time; RBC+LP, packed red blood cells and lyophilized plasma; RWB, reconstituted whole blood.

Platelet counts, function and VWF levels

Compared to controls, platelet count on d1 was lower in both the CSWB (p = 0.011) and RWB (p < 0.001) groups (Figure 2), whereas VWF:Ag and VWF:Act were similar (Table 2, Table S1). Compared to controls, platelet function on PFA and MEA on d1 was reduced both in the CSWB ($p \le 0.029$) and RWB (p < 0.001) groups. Interestingly, in controls, collagen/ADP closure time was slightly above laboratory reference.

Platelet count in the CSWB group decreased during storage but remained at an adequate haemostatic level (Figure 2, Table S1). Both on d1 and d14, platelet counts were slightly, yet not significantly, higher in the CSWB than in the RWB group (Figure 2, Table S1). In the RWB group, platelet counts achieved adequate haemostatic levels (>100 \times 10E9/L) both on d1 and d14.

The platelet function declined significantly during storage in the CSWB group. In PFA, collagen/ADP closure time prolonged (Table 2). In MEA, the platelet function in both ADP and TRAP channels declined. In the RWB group, storage had no effect on the platelet function. On d1, the platelet function was comparable in CSWB and

RWB groups. On d14, the platelet function was better preserved in the RWB than in the CSWB group.

VWF:Ag levels remained stable during storage in the CSWB group, whereas VWF:Act decreased significantly (Table 2). In the RWB group, both VWF:Ag and VWF:Act remained stable during storage. Both on d1 and d14, VWF:Ag levels were slightly, yet not significantly, higher in the RWB group than in the CSWB group. On d14, VWF:Act was higher in the RWB group.

DISCUSSION

CSWB is considered a superior prehospital blood product due to the availability of platelets and easier logistics. Most in vitro research has focused on how storage time influences CSWB haemostatic potential. To the best of our knowledge, only a few such studies compare CSWB and RWB, and none compare CSWB and the current common prehospital practice of RBC+LP. We, therefore, studied the haemostatic potential of CSWB, RWB and RBC+LP with up to 14 days of CSWB and RBC storage time.

							Differences betwe	sen groups	
	Parameter	Laboratory reference range	Controls	CSWB	RWB	RBC+LP	CSWB versus RWB	CSWB versus RBC+LP	RWB versus RBC+LP
Day 1	EXTEM CT (s)	38-79	60 (57-68)	85 (79-119)	67 (64–70)*	68 (63-84)*	1. 27 ^{††}	1.25	0.99
	EXTEM CFT (s)	34-159	78 (68-93)	76 (68-133)	121 (102-130)*	N/A	0.63	N/A	N/A
	EXTEM A5 (mm)	31-53	44 (41-47)	45 (33-49)*	34 (32–37)*	8 (4-9)*	1.34	5.63***	$4.19^{\dagger\dagger}$
	EXTEM MCF (mm)	50-72	61 (60-66)	59 (52-64)*	52 (50–55)*	11 (6-11)*	1.13	5.62 ^{***}	4.95 [†]
	EXTEM LI30 (%)	<15	100 (100-100)	100 (100-100)	100 (100-100)	100 (100-100)	1.00	1.00	1.00
	FIBTEM A5 (mm)	5-21	10 (8-12)	9 (6–10)	6 (6-6)	8 (5.5–8)*	1.67 [†]	1.25	0.75
	INTEM CT (s)	100-240	185 (177–191)	217 (216–219)*	228 (211-241)	230 (210-260)*	0.95	0.94	0.99
Day 14	EXTEM CT (s)			108 (89-141)	71 (71–72)*	79 (75-92)*	1.51^{++}	1.37	0.9†
	EXTEM CFT (s)			188 (168–309)	89 (82–95)*	N/A	2.12 ^{††}	N/A	N/A
	EXTEM A5 (mm)			28 (20-31)*	39 (38-40)*	5 (4-6)*	0.72	5.60	7.8 ^{†††}
	EXTEM MCF (mm)	See above	See above	52 (46–59)*	58 (57–58)*	6 (5-7)*	0.90	9.45 [†]	10.55^{+++}
	EXTEM LI30 (%)			100 (100-100)	100 (100-100)	100 (100-100)	1.00	1.00	1.00
	FIBTEM A5 (mm)			8 (7-10)	6 (5.3–6.8)	4.5 (4–5.5)*	1.33	1. 78 ^{†††}	1.33
	INTEM CT (s)			251 (248-256)*	244 (226–253)	320 (313–333)*	1.03	0.79*	0.76***
<i>ote</i> : Median	values and interquartile n	ange are shown. Values	outside laboratory re	ference are in grey. $*p$	< 0.05 between days	1 and 14 within each g	oup. Differences be	tween groups are sh	own as a ratio of

Rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM) results. **TABLE 1**

Note: Median values and interquartile range are shown. Values outside laboratory reference are in grey. * p < 0.0 medians. $^{\dagger}p < 0.05$, $^{\ddagger}p < 0.01$ and $^{\dagger \dagger \dagger \dagger}p < 0.001$ (Bonferroni corrected) between the groups at each time point.

Abbreviations: CFT, clot formation time; CSWB, cold-stored whole blood; CT, clotting time; MCF, maximum clot firmness; N/A, not applicable; RBC+LP, packed red blood cells and lyophilized plasma; RWB, reconstituted whole blood.

TABLE 2 Platelet function assessed by platelet function analyser (PFA), multiple electrode aggregometry (MEA) and VWF assays.

	Parameter	Laboratory reference range	Controls	CSWB	RWB	CSWB versus RWB
Day 1	PFA ADP (s)	62-100	106 (89–110)	150 (126–165)*	>300 (>300->300)	N/A ^{†††}
	PFA EPI (s)	82-150	118 (114–144)	>300 (270->300)	>300 (>300->300)	N/A
	Multiplate ADP (U)	40-110	67 (62–80)	19 (11-22)*	14 (12–20)	1.36
	Multiplate TRAP (U)	70-130	92 (88–99)	30 (16-43)*	23 (18–30)	1.33
	VWF:Ag (IU/dL)	50-190	110 (98–112)	99 (90-118)	119 (114–120)	0.83
	VWF:Act (IU/dL)	50-190	97 (84–104)	87 (75-99)*	87 (85-88)*	1.01
Day 14	PFA ADP (s)			>300 (>300->300)*	>300 (>300->300)	N/A
	PFA EPI (s)			>300 (>300->300)	>300 (>300->300)	N/A
	Multiplate ADP (U)	See above	See above	5 (4–11)*	11 (7–17)	0.48
	Multiplate TRAP (U)			10 (4–16)*	25 (21–28)	0.40 ^{††}
	VWF:Ag (IU/dL)			99 (85-110)	118 (117–119)	0.84
	VWF:Act (IU/dL)			54 (42–58)*	93 (90–97)*	0.58 ^{††}

Note: Median values and interquartile range are shown. Values outside laboratory reference are in grey. *(p < 0.05) between days 1 and 14 within each group. Comparison between groups is shown as ratio of medians. ^{††} (p < 0.01) and ^{†††}(p < 0.001) between the groups at each time point.

Abbreviations: ADP, adenosine diphosphate; CSWB, cold-stored whole blood; EPI, epinephrine; N/A, not applicable; RWB, reconstituted whole blood; TRAP, thrombin receptor activating peptide-6; VWF:Act, von Willebrand factor activity; VWF:Ag, von Willebrand factor antigen.

In line with previous data [14], we demonstrated that platelets are essential for well-maintained in vitro haemostatic function. CSWB platelet count depends primarily on storage time and leukoreduction, and in the latter case, whether a platelet-sparing filter was used [7–10, 12, 14–18]. In our study, median platelet count was slightly higher in CSWB (leukore-duced with a platelet-sparing filter) than in RWB despite the decrease in platelet count in CSWB over time. Due to the single-donor nature of CSWB, the variance in platelet count is wide and CSWB units may display divergent haemostatic function, which may be clinically relevant.

Platelet function was abnormal in both CSWB and RWB groups. As fibrinogen concentration and FIBTEM A5 remained stable throughout storage in CSWB, the observed increase in EXTEM CFT and decrease in EXTEM A5, both clearly outside the reference range on day 14, are likely due to impaired platelet function in CSWB. Indeed, in line with previous studies [9, 10, 16, 18], both ADP- and TRAP-induced platelet aggregation in CSWB decreased already during 14-day storage. As platelets in CSWB are exposed to cold storage, this impaired aggregation is seemingly in contradiction with increased platelet activation and enhanced haemostatic capacity of cold-stored platelet concentrates [19, 20], but in accordance with the finding of attenuated aggregation responses to ADP and TRAP in CSWB as compared to cold-stored platelet concentrates [10]. This implies that other CSWB components, namely, RBCs and plasma, may influence platelet functionality. We observed a significant decrease in VWF activity, which possibly contributed to decreased CFT and firmness (EXTEM A5) through impaired platelet-to-platelet adhesion. Nevertheless, the platelet function in CSWB seemed haemostatically sufficient, as MCF remained within the physiological range throughout storage. This also supports that, instead of measuring coagulation factor concentrations or platelet function separately, whole blood-based assays such as viscoelastic tests probably

give the most accurate estimate of the total CSWB haemostatic capacity.

Although CSWB can provide platelets for prehospital DCR, platelet concentrates are commonly used for in-hospital DCR. We demonstrated that platelet count in RWB, in contrast to CSWB, was more uniform and achieved good haemostatic levels (median $121 \times 10E9/L$) even when RWB was prepared with platelets at the end of their shelf life. Interestingly, in RWB with stable fibrinogen content and older platelets, we detected enhanced CFT and MCF, suggesting platelet activation during traditional storage contributed to enhanced haemostasis [21].

An unwanted but unavoidable by-product of blood product storage is dilution due to anticoagulant and additive solutions. We demonstrated that CSWB, with retained physiological haematocrit, is less diluted than in-hospital (RWB) or prehospital (RBC+LP) component therapy. Accordingly, despite individual variation in CSWB units, coagulation factor levels were generally twice as high in CSWB than in RWB or RBC+LP. However, both in the RWB and RBC+LP groups, fibrinogen concentration, APTT and PT were within the currently recommended levels in traumatic bleeding [22]. FVIII is labile and, affirming previous studies [8, 12, 14, 15, 23], decreased considerably during CSWB storage. This, and the decrease in other intrinsic pathway coagulation factors, was reflected in prolonged APTT, INTEM CT and thrombin generation lag time. Despite this, overall thrombin generation in CSWB remained robust and similar to that of RWB and RBC+LP. Finally, FXIII and natural anticoagulants were well preserved in CSWB compared to RWB and RBC+LP, which may be beneficial in maintaining the stability of the formed clots and limiting hypercoagulation after traumatic bleeding.

Blood group affects haemostasis, a feature largely undiscussed in the CSWB literature. Surprisingly, few in vitro studies clearly state having used universal donor group O CSWB [8, 9, 11, 14]. Group O

531

4230410, 2023, 7, Downloaded

https

loi/10.1111/vox.13441 by Cornell University E-Resources & Serials Department,

Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Terms

and Conditions

(http

ibrary.

Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles

are governed by the

applicable Creative Common

blood has lower VWF [24] and FVIII [25] levels and longer PFA closure times [26]. Indeed, this effect on the platelet function is evident in our control group, where ADP response in PFA was attenuated. The clinical haemostatic effects of transfusing group O, as opposed to group-specific, CSWB remain unclear.

There are several limitations to this study. First, the storage time was only 14 days. Although we show that CSWB retains haemostatic potential for at least 14 days, the effects of continued storage up to 21-28 days cannot be predicted. Studies with longer storage times have reported stable haemoglobin and fibrinogen concentrations but continued decrease in platelet count and function and clot firmness after 14 days [7-10, 12, 15-17]. Based on these studies, a CSWB shelf life of 14 [9] to 21 [7, 10] days has been suggested. The length of storage in this study was based on the planned 14-day storage time for the FRCBS CSWB product. Second, the sample size of eight donors per group is relatively small but likely sufficient to detect major differences between groups and time points. We considered it unethical to recruit a large number of donors for research purposes only. The small sample size is reflected in the marked variation in especially the CSWB platelet count. However, this accurately mimics clinical transfusion of non-pooled blood products, where the achieved response may vary significantly between units. A third, intrinsic limitation is that in vitro conditions do not imitate in vivo circumstances. Effects of acidosis, hypothermia, inflammation and endotheliopathy, all important in haemostasis and trauma-induced coagulopathy, were not addressed in this study. Also, posttransfusion platelet function remains unclear, as storage-induced platelet dysfunction may be restored after transfusion [21]. Similarly, this study cannot elucidate whether the patient's own platelets along with transfused RBC and LP are able to support haemostasis sufficiently.

Taken together, our study suggests that the coagulation properties of CSWB are superior to those of RWB or RBC+LP and supports its use in prehospital care where platelets are otherwise unavailable. Leukoreduced CSWB retains its haemostatic function over storage time of 14 days and is comparable with that of RWB. After initial DCR in prehospital care, in-hospital RWB seems a viable option when continued blood product use is warranted.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the Finnish Red Cross Blood Service (FRCBS) staff for their assistance in blood donation and blood product processing and storage and MSc Ville Kinnula for his assistance with biostatistics. This work was supported by FRCBS, and a grant from Blood Disease Research Foundation of Finland (to S.S.).

S.S., J.L. and M.I. designed the study. J.L. recruited the blood donors. S.S. and M.I. collected the blood samples and data and wrote the paper. S.S. analysed the data. T.H., L.J.-K. and M.I. designed the laboratory assessments. J.L., T.H. and L.J.-K. reviewed the article.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Sanna Susila D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5131-0656 Minna Ilmakunnas D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8469-4091

REFERENCES

- Spinella PC, Cap AP. Prehospital hemostatic resuscitation to achieve zero preventable deaths after traumatic injury. Curr Opin Hematol. 2017;24:529–35.
- Guyette FX, Sperry JL, Peitzman AB, Billiar TR, Daley BJ, Miller RS, et al. Prehospital blood product and crystalloid resuscitation in the severely injured patient: a secondary analysis of the prehospital air medical plasma trial. Ann Surg. 2021;273:358–64.
- Crombie N, Doughty HA, Bishop JRB, Desai A, Dixon EF, Hancox JM, et al. Resuscitation with blood products in patients with trauma-related haemorrhagic shock receiving prehospital care (RePHILL): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Haematol. 2022;9:e250–61.
- Dishong D, Cap AP, Holcomb JB, Triulzi DJ, Yazer MH. The rebirth of the cool: a narrative review of the clinical outcomes of cold stored low titer group O whole blood recipients compared to conventional component recipients in trauma. Hematology. 2021;26:601–11.
- Hazelton JP, Ssentongo AE, Oh JS, Ssentongo P, Seamon MJ, Byrne JP, et al. Use of cold-stored whole blood is associated with improved mortality in hemostatic resuscitation of major bleeding: a multicenter study. Ann Surg. 2022;276:579–88.
- Spinella PC, Pidcoke HF, Strandenes G, Hervig T, Fisher A, Jenkins D, et al. Whole blood for hemostatic resuscitation of major bleeding. Transfusion. 2016;56:S190–202.
- McRae HL, Kara F, Milito C, Cahill C, Refaai MA. Whole blood haemostatic function throughout a 28-day cold storage period: an in vitro study. Vox Sang. 2021;116:190–6.
- Schubert P, Culibrk B, Devine DV, Chen Z, Wambolt R, Mctaggart K, et al. Cold-stored leukoreduced whole blood: extending the time between donation and filtration has minimal impact on in vitro quality. Transfusion. 2021;61:S131–43.
- Assen S, Cardenas J, George M, Wang YW, Wade CE, Meyer D, et al. Hemostatic potential of cold-stored non-leukoreduced whole blood over time: an assessment of platelet function and thrombin generation for optimal shelf life. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2020;89:429–34.
- Huish S, Green L, Kempster C, Smethurst P, Wiltshire M, Prajapati C, et al. A comparison of platelet function in cold-stored whole blood and platelet concentrates. Transfusion. 2021;61:3224–35.
- 11. Santangini MR, Leuckel SN, King KA, Cheves TA, Sweeney JD. In vitro comparison of CPD whole blood with conventional blood components. Transfus Apher Sci. 2023;62:1–6.
- Wang S, Zhao G, Li N, Hou T, Shao X, Tang W, et al. An in vitro study of coagulation properties in refrigerated whole blood and reconstituted whole blood. Vox Sang. 2019;114:694–700.
- Kornblith LZ, Howard BM, Cheung CK, Dayter Y, Pandey S, Busch MP, et al. The whole is greater than the sum of its parts: hemostatic profiles of whole blood variants. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2014;77:818–27.
- Haddaway K, Bloch EM, Tobian AAR, Frank SM, Sikorski R, Cho BC, et al. Hemostatic properties of cold-stored whole blood leukoreduced using a platelet-sparing versus a non-platelet-sparing filter. Transfusion. 2019;59:1809–17.
- 15. Pidcoke HF, McFaul SJ, Ramasubramanian AK, Parida BK, Mora AG, Fedyk CG, et al. Primary hemostatic capacity of whole blood: a

comprehensive analysis of pathogen reduction and refrigeration effects over time. Transfusion. 2013;53:137–49.

- Meledeo MA, Peltier GC, McIntosh CS, Bynum JA, Cap AP. Optimizing whole blood storage: hemostatic function of 35-day stored product in CPD, CP2D, and CPDA-1 anticoagulants. Transfusion. 2019; 59:1549–59.
- Sivertsen J, Braathen H, Lunde THF, Kristoffersen EK, Hervig T, Strandenes G, et al. Cold-stored leukoreduced CPDA-1 whole blood: in vitro quality and hemostatic properties. Transfusion. 2020;60: 1042–9.
- Remy KE, Yazer MH, Saini A, Mehanovic-Varmaz A, Rogers SR, Cap AP, et al. Effects of platelet-sparing leukocyte reduction and agitation methods on in vitro measures of hemostatic function in coldstored whole blood. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2018;84:S104–14.
- 19. Zhao H, Devine DV. The missing pieces to the cold-stored platelet puzzle. Int J Mol Sci. 2022;23:1100.
- George CE, Saunders CV, Morrison A, Scorer T, Jones S, Dempsey NC. Cold stored platelets in the management of bleeding: is it about bioenergetics? Platelets. 2023;34:1-9.
- Ng MSY, Tung JP, Fraser JF. Platelet storage lesions: what more do we know now? Transfus Med Rev. 2018;32:144–54.
- Spahn DR, Bouillon B, Cerny V, Duranteau J, Filipescu D, Hunt BJ, et al. The European guideline on management of major bleeding and coagulopathy following trauma: fifth edition. Crit Care. 2019;23:98.

- Feng L, Zhao Y, Zhao H, Shao Z. Effects of storage time and temperature on coagulation tests and factors in fresh plasma. Sci Rep. 2014;4:6–10.
- Gill JC, Endres-Brooks J, Bauer PJ, Marks WJ, Montgomery RR. The effect of ABO blood group on the diagnosis of von Willebrand disease. Blood. 1987;69:1691–5.
- Preston AE, Barr A. The plasma concentration of factor VIII in the normal population. Br J Haematol. 1964;10:238–45.
- Cho YU, Chi HS, Jang S, Park CJ. Reconfirmation of preanalytical variables and establishment of reference intervals of platelet function analyzer-100 closure times in Korean adults. Korean J Lab Med. 2007;27:318–23.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Susila S, Helin T, Lauronen J,

Joutsi-Korhonen L, Ilmakunnas M. In vitro comparison of coldstored whole blood and reconstituted whole blood. Vox Sang. 2023;118:523–32. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13446

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Vox Sanguinis

Migration of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate from transfusion medical devices in labile blood products: A comparative study

Aurélie Thelliez^{1,2} Chryslain Sumian² Emmanuel Chazard³ Stefan Reichenberg⁴ | Marie Lecoeur¹ | Bertrand Decaudin¹

Т

¹ULR 7365–GRITA–Groupe de Recherche sur les Formes Injectables et Technologies Associées, Université de Lille, CHU Lille, Lille, France

²Macopharma, Tourcoing, France ³ULR 2694-METRICS, CERIMS, Université de Lille, CHU Lille, Lille, France ⁴Macopharma International GmbH, Langen, Germany

Correspondence

Aurélie Thelliez, Macopharma, 200 Chaussée Fernand Forest, F-59200 Tourcoing, France. Email: aurelie.thelliez@macopharma.com

Funding information

French National Association for Research and Technology (Association Nationale de la Recherche et de la Technologie, Paris, France); Macopharma (Tourcoing, France)

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plasticized with di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) is a widely used material for medical transfusion devices. Not covalently bound to PVC, DEHP can migrate into blood products during storage. Recognized as an endocrine disruptor and raising concerns about its potential carcinogenicity and reprotoxicity, DEHP is gradually being withdrawn from the medical device market. Therefore, the use of alternative plasticizers, such as diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate (DINCH) and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate (DEHT), as potential candidates for the replacement of DEHP in medical transfusion devices has been investigated. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the quantity of PVC-plasticizers in the blood components according to their preparation, storage conditions and in function of the plasticizer.

Materials and Methods: Whole blood was collected, and labile blood products (LBPs) were prepared by the buffy-coat method with a PVC blood bag plasticized either with DEHP, DINCH or DEHT. DINCH and DEHT equivalent concentrations were quantified in LBPs by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry or coupled with UV and compared to DEHP equivalent concentrations.

Results: The plasticizer equivalent concentration to which a patient is exposed during a transfusion depends on the preparation of LBPs as well as their storage conditions, that is, temperature and storage time. At day 1, for all LBPs, the migration of DEHP is 5.0 and 8.5 times greater than DINCH and DEHT, respectively. At the end of the 49 days storage period, the DEHP equivalent concentration in red blood cells concentrate is statistically higher when compared to DINCH and DEHT, with maximal values of 1.85, 1.13 and 0.86 µg/dm²/mL, respectively.

Conclusion: In addition to lower toxicity, transfused patients using PVC-DEHT or PVC-DINCH blood bags are less exposed to plasticizers than using PVC-DEHP bags with a ranging exposure reduction from 38.9% to 87.3%, due to lower leachability into blood components.

Keywords

di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate, diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate, labile blood product, metabolites, plasticizer migration

Highlights

- The ability of the plasticizers diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate (DINCH) and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate (DEHT) to migrate into blood products was studied and compared to di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP).
- The equivalent concentration of plasticizer to which a patient is exposed during a transfusion depends on the preparation of the labile blood product transfused, as well as its storage conditions, plasticizer's nature and the storage period.
- In addition to lower toxicity, transfused patients are less exposed using PVC plasticized with DEHT or DINCH bags rather than PVC plasticized with DEHP due to their lower ability to migrate into blood components.

INTRODUCTION

Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) is a polymer widely used in the manufacture of medical devices, particularly in the field of labile blood products (LBPs) collection, preparation and storage for transfusion. This transparent and inexpensive material with very high resistance, especially to temperature, made the PVC material of choice in the development of transfusion bags and tubing. Because of its rigidity, PVC needs to be plasticized to obtain more flexible materials. However, these plasticizers are not covalently bound to PVC, resulting in their migration within blood products, that is, whole blood (WB), plasma, red blood cell (RBC) concentrate and platelet concentrate (PC) [1–8].

Currently, di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) is the most common plasticizer used in transfusion medical devices. Indeed, it has the major advantage to extend the preservation of RBCs by interacting with their membrane [1]. This phthalate, which was recognized as a reproductive toxicant and potential carcinogen in animal models for several years, belongs to category 1B of Regulation (EC) No. 1272/2008 because of similar effects demonstrated in humans [9-12]. Recently, IARC has considered that there is sufficient evidence in experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of DEHP. Thus, DEHP has been classified as possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B) [11]. Moreover, its membership in an endocrine disruptor family has contributed to its gradual withdrawal from the market [11, 13]. However, it is still present in blood bag devices, potentially exposing transfused patients to significant concentrations of DEHP [5]. In addition, DEHP is metabolized in vivo to form mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (MEHP), which is regarded as the main toxic substance [14, 15].

In this context, the use of alternative plasticizers, such as diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate (DINCH) and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate (DEHT), has been investigated as potential candidates for the DEHP replacement in transfusion medical devices. Biologically, these plasticizers have been shown to provide adequate storage of LBPs within the specifications set by the European Directorate for the Quality of Medicines and Health Care [16]. For instance, RBCs stored in PVC-DINCH and PVC-DEHT devices maintain a haemolysis rate

between 0.14% and 0.57% depending on the plasticizer and the storage solution considered, that is, below the set threshold of 0.8% [1, 2, 4, 17, 18]. Furthermore, with a non-observed adverse effect level of 40 mg/kg bw/day and 500-700 mg/kg bw/day for DINCH and DEHT, respectively, these plasticizers showed lesser toxicity than DEHP (4.8 mg/kg bw/day) [19].

In the present investigation, we aim to evaluate and compare the release of DEHP, DINCH and DEHT from the PVC transfusion medical devices in WB, plasma, PC and RBC during their respective storage conditions. Particular attention was also paid to the quantitation of their first breakdown product to estimate the equivalent plasticizer concentration (plasticizer + first breakdown product concentration) to which blood recipients may be exposed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Preparation of blood samples

Blood collection

WB was collected in PVC-DEHP or PVC-DINCH bags (LQT system, Macopharma) by the French Blood Establishment (Lille, France) according to the procedure described in Figure 1a (n = 3/condition). In the absence of official registration, the donors' WB could not be collected directly using the PVC-DEHT medical devices. Therefore, WB previously collected in a PVC-DEHP bag was transferred to a PVC-DEHT device 1 day after collection and stored at room temperature (20-24°C) for 24 h. At the end, all WB bags were in contact with their respective plasticizers for 24 h before processing.

Preparation of LBPs

The buffy-coat method was applied to prepare the different LBPs, that is, the preparation of RBC, plasma and mini-platelet concentrate





FIGURE 1 (a) Study design to evaluate the migration of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate (DINCH) and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate (DEHT) from the transfusion medical devices in the four blood products during their respective storage conditions and (b) preparation of labile blood products with a medical device composed of four bags. B, Bactivam; BC, buffy coat; m-PC, mini platelet concentrate; P, plasma; PAGSSM, SAGM, RBC storage solutions; PS, preservation solution (PAGGSM, SAGM, SSP+); PVC, polyvinyl chloride; RBC, red blood cells; SSP+, platelet storage solution; WB, whole blood. Shelf life of blood products: RBC-42 days (France), 49 days (Germany); Plasma-at least 1 year (freezing); PC-7 days. Storage temperature of blood products: $1 = 20-24^{\circ}$ C; 4° C; 4° C; 4° C. Number of replicates for each condition: n = 3.

(m-PC), as described in Figure 1b. Briefly, the WB bag was centrifuged at 5000g for 15 min at 22°C (Figure 1b.i). The three phases obtained, from top to bottom, correspond to plasma, buffy coat and RBC, respectively (Figure 1b.ii). Plasma and RBC were then transferred into their storage and transfer bag, respectively (Figure 1b.iii). RBC was leucoreduced (RBC_d) and transferred in its storage bag containing SAGM or PAGGSM as the preservative solution (Figure 1b.iv). Finally, platelet preservative solution (SSP+, Macopharma, Mouvaux, France) was added to the RBC in a propylene tube and the mixture was centrifuged to obtain an m-PC (Figure 1b.v).

Sampling of LBPs

First, a blood sample was taken from the sample pouch (Bactivam), and used for donation qualification, to quantify the plasticizer and metabolite potentially present in the blood of each donor, so as to not overestimate the concentration of plasticizers released from the medical device. For DINCH and DEHT plasticizers, it should be noted that no contamination was detected at their respective detection limits of 2 and 110 nM (data not shown). Each LBP was then sampled, at different times, during its storage according

535

to the schedule depicted in Figure 1a. In this manuscript, 'Dx' denotes 'Day x', where D1 (and not D0) stands for the first day of follow-up. All samples were collected in polypropylene tubes and frozen immediately after collection at -80°C until analysis by liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) or UV (LC-UV).

Determination of DEHP, DINCH, MEHP and MINCH by LC-MS/MS analysis

DEHP. DINCH. MEHP and monoisononvlcvclohexane-1.2-dicarboxvlate acid ester (MINCH) concentrations were determined by LC-MS/MS using an internal calibration method after the liquid-liquid extraction procedure, as described by Descat et al. [20]:

LC-MS/MS analyses were performed using a UFLC-XR system (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) coupled to a QTRAP[®] 5500 MS/MS hybrid system triple guadrupole/linear ion trap mass spectrometer (Sciex, Foster City, CA, USA), equipped with a Turbo VTM ion source operating in positive ion mode. Three liquid-liquid extractions were successively applied with a mixture of n-heptane/ethyl acetate (1/2 v/v) (Merck, Guyancourt, France) to extract the plasticizers from the biological matrix. DEHP-d₄ (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin Fallavier, France) was used as an internal standard to quantify DEHP and MEHP. DINCH-d₆ (Alsachim, Illkirch-Graffenstaden, France), and MINCH-D₁₉ (synthetized) was used as an internal standard to quantify DINCH and MINCH, respectively. The concentration ranged from 25 to 300 nM for analytes and each calibration standard was supplemented with 100 nM of internal standard. Analytes were quantified using 1/x weighted linear models for DINCH, MINCH and MEHP and with a 1/x weighted linear quadratic model for DEHP. The mean recovery data of DEHP, MEHP, DINCH and MINCH were all around 80% in plasma and m-PC and 52%, 70%, 65% and 90% in RBC and WB (relative standard deviation < 10%), respectively. Each sample was analysed in duplicate.

Determination of DEHT and MEHT by HPLC-UV analysis

DEHT and mono(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate (MEHT) concentrations were determined by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with a UV detector (HPLC-UV) using an internal calibration method after the liquid-liquid extraction procedure, as described by Thelliez et al. [21]:

HPLC-UV analyses were performed using an Alliance system (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) equipped with a gradient quaternary pump, an online degasser apparatus, an autosampler and a 996-photodiode array detector. Three liquid-liquid extractions were successively applied with a mixture of n-heptane/ethyl acetate (2/1 v/v) (Merck, Guyancourt, France) to extract the analytes from the biological matrix. Dicyclohexyl phthalate (DCHP) was

used as an internal standard (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin Fallavier, France). The concentration ranged from 500 to 3000 nM for each analyte. Each calibration standard was supplemented with 15 µM of DCHP and analytes were quantified using linear models. The mean recovery data of DEHT and MEHT in the four biological matrices were 105% and 80% (relative standard deviation < 10%), respectively. Each sample was analysed in duplicate.

Calculations and statistics

The plasticizer equivalent concentration for calculation of the total plasticizer migration rate in blood products was calculated using the following equation [22]:

 $[\text{Plasticizer}]_{\text{equivalent}} = [\text{Plasticizer}] + \frac{[\text{Plasticizer breakdown product}]}{1 + \frac{1}{2}}$ MPlasticizer breakdown product × M_{Plasticizer}

where [Plasticizer]_{equivalent} is the equivalent concentration of plasticizer in blood product (in µg/mL), [Plasticizer] and [Plasticizer breakdown product], the respective plasticizer and its first breakdown product concentrations in blood product (in µg/mL), respectively, and M, the molecular mass (in g/mol).

Plasticizer equivalent concentrations were expressed in µg/dm²/mL of blood product considering the internal surface of the medical device (Table 1).

Univariate distributions of continuous variables are presented using the mean ± standard deviation. Group differences for plasticizer concentrations were analysed using a repeated measure two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). If the ANOVA result was statistically significant, post hoc pairwise comparisons using Tukey's test were performed. All statistical tests were two-sided and statistical significance was considered as a p value <0.05. A correction of type-1 error was applied to post hoc tests. The data analyst was blinded to the plasticizer. All data analyses were performed using R and RStudio [23].

RESULTS

Influence of the LBP preparation and storage conditions on plasticizer's migration

On D1, whatever the plasticizer nature, plasticizer equivalent concentrations in plasma and WB (0.30-3.59 µg/dm²/mL) are higher than those determined in m-PC and RBC (0.05–1.80 µg/dm²/mL) (Figure S1).

The storage conditions of the blood product, that is, the temperature, also seem to influence the migration of plasticizers (Figure 2). For plasma, an increase in the equivalent concentration of DEHP $(+0.61 \,\mu\text{g/dm}^2/\text{mL})$ and DINCH $(+0.20 \,\mu\text{g/dm}^2/\text{mL})$ is noted between D1 and D2, followed by a concentration steady-state until D30. For DEHT, a constant equivalent concentration of TABLE 1 Internal surface of the medical devices in contact with each labile blood product.

		Internal surface (dm ²)			
Medical device	WB	RBC-SAGM	RBC-PAGGSM	Plasma	m-PC
PVC-DEHP	5.37	16.32	16.19	10.31	5.37
PVC-DINCH	5.32	16.15	16.15	10.27	5.32
PVC-DEHT	5.75	16.49	16.99	10.53	5.75

Abbreviations: m-PC, mini platelet concentrate; PAGGSM and SAGM, RBC storage solutions; RBC, red blood cells; WB, whole blood.

 $0.41 \pm 0.04 \, \mu g/dm^2/mL$ in plasma has been observed during the first 30 days of storage.

Influence of the plasticizer nature and the storage period on plasticizer's migration

On D1, for all LBPs, the migration of DEHP is in mean 5.0 and 8.5 times greater compared to DINCH and DEHT, respectively (Figure 2). The same statement was observed on D30 regarding plasma throughout its storage reaching a mean equivalent plasticizer concentration of 3.53, 0.87 and 0.45 μ g/dm²/mL for DEHP, DINCH and DEHT, respectively. For RBCs, whatever the preservative solution is, the DEHP equivalent concentrations are higher than those of DINCH and DEHT, throughout the storage, reaching a mean value in SAGM and PAGGSM of 1.68 ± 0.60, 1.12 ± 0.10, 0.84 ± 0.10 μ g/dm²/mL at D49, respectively, for DEHP, DINCH and DEHT.

In addition, whatever the nature of the RBC preservative solution (PAGGSM, SAGM), the equivalent concentrations of DEHP (1.50 \pm 0.39 vs. 1.85 \pm 0.43 µg/dm²/mL), DINCH (1.11 \pm 0.07 vs. 1.13 \pm 0.10 µg/dm²/mL) and DEHT (0.86 \pm 0.01 vs. 0.81 \pm 0.01 µg/dm²/mL) have not been found statistically different at the end and throughout the storage of RBC (Figure S2, *p* > 0.1).

Regarding the corresponding breakdown product (MEHP, MINCH, MEHT) of each plasticizer, they are present in the LBPs but at lower concentrations than plasticizers, corresponding to 17%, 31% and 47% of the equivalent concentration, for DEHP, DINCH and DEHT, respectively, on D1 (Figure 2).

An increasing change in the concentration of MEHP, MINCH and MEHT is observed during the storage of RBCs stored in SAGM or PAGGSM solution ranging from 0.01 to 0.27 μ g/dm²/mL, on D1 and D49, respectively (Figure S3). Whatever the plasticizer is, a similar amount of plasticizer breakdown products ranging from 0.20 to 0.32 μ g/mL/dm² was found in RBC stored in SAGM or PAGGSM solution, on D49. Conversely, no change in the concentration of MEHP (0.34 ± 0.01 μ g/dm²/mL), MINCH (0.19 ± 0.02 μ g/dm²/mL) and MEHT (0.12 ± 0.01 μ g/dm²/mL) was observed during the 30 days of plasma storage. Predictably, the short storage time (1 day) at 4°C and subsequent storage at -40° C of the plasma does not favour the degradation of the diesters into monoesters.

We then assessed the impact of the plasticizer nature and the duration of storage on the concentrations of plasticizers released in LBPs. For example, the statistical results obtained for equivalent plasticizer migration in the plasma matrix are displayed (Figure 3). We observe that the plasticizer concentration quantified during storage depends on the medical device used (PVC-DEHP, PVC-DINCH or PVC-DEHT) and on time (Figure 3a, p < 0.05). The migration of the plasticizer is higher when a PVC-DEHP device is used compared to a PVC-DINCH or PVC-DEHT device, regardless of the day of sampling. The metabolite concentration is only influenced by the nature of the medical device (Figure 3b, p < 0.005) and has been found steady during the 30 days of plasma storage (p > 0.1). Consequently, the plasticizer equivalent concentration depends on the nature of the plasticizer (Figure 3c, p < 0.005) and the day of sampling (p < 0.05) as demonstrated for the plasticizer alone since its concentration is preponderant to that of the metabolite.

537

DISCUSSION

When quantifying the analytes of interest, variability in results was found for DEHP. This variability is inherent to the ubiquitous presence of DEHP in the environment which induces contamination along the blood preparation and/or analytical processes, which is not the case for the DINCH or the DEHT [20, 24, 25]. Although some strategies were implemented to avoid DEHP contamination from the environment, the variability of the results remains, especially for WB and RBC which are complex biological matrices.

Influence of the LBP preparation and storage conditions on plasticizer's migration

Three hypotheses can be highlighted to explain the differences shown on D1 between the different blood components. The first one can be related to the dilution factor applied during the preparation of RBC and m-PC. Indeed, whereas RBC (250 ± 50 mL) was prepared in a PAGGSM or a SAGM solution (105-110 mL), and buffy coat (16 mL) was diluted in SSP+ solution (24 mL) and centrifuged to obtain m-PC (supernatant). The difference in contact surface area between plasticized PVC from the medical device (tubes, bags and filter) and the blood product combined with the contact time with each of these surfaces could be the second reason to explain the difference in migration rate. Truly, the contact surface areas encountered by plasma (abt. 10 dm^2) and RBC (abt. 16 dm^2) are greater than those come across by WB and m-PC (abt. 5 dm^2), as shown in Figure 1b. On the other hand,



538

FIGURE 2 Equivalent concentrations of (a) di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), (b) diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate (DINCH) and (c) di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate (DEHT), in the four blood products, during their respective storage period. m-PC, mini platelet concentrate; P, plasma; PAGSSM, SAGM, RBC storage solutions; RBC, red blood cells; WB, whole blood. Number of replicates for each condition: *n* = 3.



Evolution of the concentration of (a) plasticizer (di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate [DEHP], diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate FIGURE 3 [DINCH] and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate), (b) plasticizer breakdown product (mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate [MEHP], monoisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate [MINCH] and mono(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate [MEHT]) and (c) equivalent plasticizer (plasticizer + plasticizer breakdown product), during the 30 days of plasma storage. Dotted lines join the means and have been drawn to help with reading. Number of replicates for each condition: n = 3. *Statistically different[;] **non-statistically different.

the WB is stored 24 h in the collection bag, whereas the other LBPs are made from WB in a short period (1 h) before the sampling (D1). Indeed, prolonged contact with a larger plasticized PVC contact surface such as a bag will further promote the leaching of plasticizers. Finally, the lipophilicity of matrices such as plasma enhances the leachability of plasticizers from PVC, as previously described by Descat et al. [20].

The migration difference observed during plasma's storage is probably due to the change in storage conditions with a temperature of 4° C on D1 and D2 and freezing at -40° C from D2 to D30 (Figure 1a). It has already been shown that an increase in temperature conditions favours the migration of plasticizers [4, 26]. In addition, the lack of difference in equivalent DEHT concentrations along the plasma storage is probably due to its lesser capacity to migrate into the bag contents compared to DEHP and DINCH [19, 27-30]. This

could be explained by the fact that the two-carbonyl functions of DEHT are in para-position on the aromatic ring.

Influence of the plasticizer nature and the storage period on plasticizer's migration

The relationship between storage period and plasticizer migration in blood products has already been demonstrated in several studies for DEHP and DINCH [4, 5, 7, 31]. Lagerberg et al. showed an increasing plasticizer concentration along the storage of RBC (from D1 to D42) ranging from 4.1 \pm 0.9 to 33.0 \pm 11.0 $\mu g/mL$ for DEHP and from 0.2 \pm 0.1 to 4.5 \pm 0.9 µg/mL for DINCH [4]. The same observation was noted by Morishita et al. during the storage of RBC in PVC-DEHP bags with DEHP concentrations from 2.60 \pm 0.72 $\mu g/mL$ to 22.0

539

 \pm 4.4 µg/mL at D1 and D42, respectively [31]. Our study highlights the same phenomenon for DEHT in RBC, namely, a concentration increases from 0.50 \pm 0.46 to 7.12 \pm 0.74 µg/mL, along the storage period.

Furthermore, our results for RBC on D42 are consistent with those stated above for DEHP ([DEHP] = $24.3 \pm 3.2 \,\mu$ g/mL) and slightly higher for DINCH ([DINCH] = $13.0 \pm 0.3 \,\mu$ g/mL). Only few studies concerning the release of DEHT from medical devices have been published to date and are focused on the field of infusion. Bernard et al. showed that DEHP migrates three times more than DEHT in an ethanol/water mixture ($50/50 \,\nu/\nu$) [27]. Faessler et al. found that DEHT was 16 times and 2 times less released in lipid emulsions than DEHP and DINCH, respectively [32]. The same trend is showed in our study.

In aqueous solutions, phthalates, including DEHP, are inert compounds [33]. As such, DEHP does not spontaneously react with any of the constituents of the preservation solutions. Therefore, no impact of the RBC preservative solution (PAGGSM, SAGM) was highlighted. We have found the same outcome with DINCH and DEHT.

Based on the ratios of breakdown products (Figure S3), it is difficult to clearly define the origin of the breakdown products present in each of the LBPs. In line with the literature data, this phenomenon remains unsolved. It seems to be linked either to the in vivo metabolism of these plasticizers by enzymes (lipases and esterases) present in LBPs [34–40], the degradation of the plasticizers during the autoclave sterilization stage of medical devices [37, 41] or the presence of the breakdown product in the plasticized PVC device during its production [37, 41]. In our study, in situ degradation seems to be the main source of degradation products considering the increasing concentrations of diesters and monoesters observed during the RBC storage.

Plasticizer exposure in patients with thalassemia, thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura or sickle cell disease

When long-term suppression of circulating sickle cells is required, chronic RBC transfusion therapy is indicated and usually repeated every 3-4 weeks in the most severe cases [42]. In patients with severe betathalassemia, the frequency of leucoreduced RBC transfusion is usually every 2-4 weeks [43]. On the other hand, thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP) front-line therapy includes typically 1–1.5 plasma volume exchange, with fresh frozen plasma replacement and immunosuppression with corticosteroids for the first 3 days, followed by $1 \times$ plasma volume exchange each day thereafter and continued daily until the clinical response is achieved and sustained for 2 days [44]. In these cases, equivalent DEHT and DINCH concentrations were reduced by 53.5% and 38.9% for patients with sickle cell disease and beta thalassaemia and by 87.3% and 75.4% for patients with TTP, respectively, compared to DEHP. These reductions in plasticizer concentrations represent a significant improvement in transfusion safety, especially in those cases that require a significant number of procedures.

Thus, our study showed that a patient transfused with a PVC-DINCH or PVC-DEHT device is much less exposed to plasticizers than when using a PVC-DEHP device, regardless of the LBP transfused. This reduction in exposure needs to be even re-assessed by considering the toxicological profile of each DEHP alternative plasticizers and their respective derivatives.

In conclusion, our study showed that the equivalent concentration of plasticizer to which a patient is exposed during a transfusion depends on the nature of the LBP transfused as well as its storage conditions and period. In addition, no influence of the preservative solution (SAGM, PAGGSM) on the migration of plasticizers was shown during the storage of RBC. Furthermore, the increasing concentration of the first breakdown product (MEHP, MINCH and MEHT) was revealed during the storage of the RBC but remains partially explained. Finally, DEHT and DINCH migrate less than DEHP in blood products, resulting in lesser patient exposure to plasticizers during blood transfusion using PVC-DEHT or PVC-DINCH blood bags. Due to the lower toxicity of the plasticizers DINCH and DEHT as well as their lower ability to migrate into LBPs, the use of PVC-DINCH or PVC-DEHT devices is a safer alternative to PVC-DEHP devices.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the National Technology Research Association (ANRT) in collaboration with Macopharma (Tourcoing, France) for their financial support. Grégory Hénard and Bruno Delorme are kindly acknowledged for their technical support.

A.T., B.D. and M.L. designed the research study; A.T. performed the research, acquired and analysed the data; E.C. carried out the statistical analysis; A.T., B.D. and M.L. wrote the first draft of the manuscript; A.T., B.D. and M.L. designed the research study; B.D. and M.L. supervised the research. B.D., M.L., C.S., E.C. and S.R. reviewed the manuscript. B.D. and M.L. edited the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors have declared no conflict of interest.

ORCID

Aurélie Thelliez D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6239-2386 Marie Lecoeur D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2588-9630

REFERENCES

- Graminske S, Puca K, Schmidt A, Brooks S, Boerner A, Heldke S, et al. In vitro evaluation of di(2-ethylhexyl)terephthalate-plasticized polyvinyl chloride blood bags for red blood cell storage in AS-1 and PAGGSM additive solutions. Transfusion. 2018;58:1100-7.
- Dumont LJ, Baker S, Dumont DF, Herschel L, Waters S, Calcagni K, et al. Exploratory in vitro study of red blood cell storage containers formulated with an alternative plasticizer. Transfusion. 2012;52: 1439–45.
- Loff S, Kabs F, Witt K, Sartoris J, Mandl B, Niessen KH, et al. Polyvinylchloride infusion lines expose infants to large amounts of toxic plasticizers. J Pediatr Surg. 2000;35:1775–81.
- 4. Lagerberg JW, Gouwerok E, Vlaar R, Go M, de Korte D. In vitro evaluation of the quality of blood products collected and stored in
systems completely free of di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate-plasticized materials. Transfusion. 2015;55:522–31.

- Inoue K, Kawaguchi M, Yamanaka R, Higuchi T, Ito R, Saito K, et al. Evaluation and analysis of exposure levels of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate from blood bags. Clin Chim Acta. 2005;358:159–66.
- Eckert E, Müller J, Göen T. Simultaneous determination of polyvinylchloride plasticizers di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate and tri(2-ethylhexyl) trimellitate and its degradation products in blood by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A. 2015; 1410:173–80.
- Sasakawa S, Mitomi Y. Di-2-ethylhexylphthalate (DEHP) content of blood or blood components stored in plastic bags. Vox Sang. 1978; 34:81–6.
- Rael LT, Bar-Or R, Ambruso DR, Mains CW, Slone DS, Craun ML, et al. Phthalate esters used as plasticizers in packed red blood cell storage bags may lead to progressive toxin exposure and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2009;2: 166–71.
- Tickner JA, Schettler T, Guidotti T, McCally M, Rossi M. Health risks posed by use of di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) in PVC medical devices: a critical review. Am J Ind Med. 2001;39:100–11.
- 10. Latini G. Monitoring phthalate exposure in humans. Clin Chim Acta. 2005;361:20-9.
- Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly-Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR). Opinion on the safety of medical devices containing DEHP-plasticized PVC or other plasticizers on neonates and other groups possibly at risk (2015 update). [cited 2023 Feb 15]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific_committees/emerging/ docs/scenihr_o_047.pdf
- Testai E, Hartemann P, Rastogi SC, Bernauer U, Piersma A, De Jong W, et al. The safety of medical devices containing DEHP plasticized PVC or other plasticizers on neonates and other groups possibly at risk (2015 update). Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 2016;76:209–10.
- Commission Regulation (EU) 2021/2045. Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). [cited 2023 Feb 15]. Available from: https:// eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021R 2045&from=EN
- Pinta P-G. Etude de biocompatibilité des plastifiants alternatifs au DEHP et de leurs métabolites primaires. 2016 [cited 2022 Nov 14]. Available from: http://archive.bu.univ-nantes.fr/pollux/fichiers/download/ 0a1f23a2-0477-4f71-89ed-e2400ab0edf5
- Albro PW, Thomas RO. Enzymatic hydrolysis of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate by lipases. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1973;306:380–90.
- European Committee (Partial Agreement) on Blood Transfusion (CD-P-TS). Guide to the preparation, use and quality assurance of BLOOD COMPONENTS—European Directorate for the Quality of medicines (EDQM). 20th ed. EDQM: France; 2020.
- Serrano K, Levin E, Chen D, Hansen A, Turner TR, Kurach J, et al. An investigation of red blood cell concentrate quality during storage in paediatric-sized polyvinylchloride bags plasticized with alternatives to di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP). Vox Sang. 2016;110:227–35.
- Larsson L, Sandgren P, Ohlsson S, Derving J, Friis-Christensen T, Daggert F, et al. Non-phthalate plasticizer DEHT preserves adequate blood component quality during storage in PVC blood bags. Vox Sang. 2021;116:60–70.
- den Braver-Sewradj SP, Piersma A, Hessel EVS. An update on the hazard of and exposure to diethyl hexyl phthalate (DEHP) alternatives used in medical devices. Crit Rev Toxicol. 2020;50:650–72.
- Descat A, Lecoeur M, Kouach M, Goossens L, Thelliez A, Odou P, et al. Simultaneous determination of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate and diisononylcyclohexane-1,2-dicarboxylate and their monoester metabolites in four labile blood products by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2020;181:113063.

 Thelliez A, Descat A, Bouchot P, Kouach M, Goossens J-F, Decaudin B, et al. High-performance liquid chromatographyultraviolet detection method to evaluate the migration of di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate and its metabolite from polyvinyl chloride bag in four labile blood products. Sep Sci Plus. 2022;5:65–74.

Vox Sanguinis SST International Society

- Eckert E, Münch F, Göen T, Purbojo A, Müller J, Cesnjevar R. Comparative study on the migration of di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) and tri-2-ethylhexyl trimellitate (TOTM) into blood from PVC tubing material of a heart-lung machine. Chemosphere. 2016; 145:10-6.
- R Core Team. European Environment Agency. 2020 [cited 2023 Jan 6]. Available from: https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/ oxygen-consuming-substances-in-rivers/r-development-core-team-2006
- Guo Y, Kannan K. Challenges encountered in the analysis of phthalate esters in foodstuffs and other biological matrices. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2012;404:2539–54.
- Marega M, Grob K, Moret S, Conte L. Phthalate analysis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry: blank problems related to the syringe needle. J Chromatogr A. 2013;1273:105–10.
- Shintani H. Determination of phthalic acid, mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate and di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in human plasma and in blood products. J Chromatogr. 1985;337:279–90.
- Bernard L, Cueff R, Breysse C, Décaudin B, Sautou V, Armed Study Group. Migrability of PVC plasticizers from medical devices into a simulant of infused solutions. Int J Pharm. 2015;485:341–7.
- ARKEMA. Analysis of alternatives non-confidential report. 2013 [cited 2022 Nov 14]. Available from: https://echa.europa.eu/ documents/10162/23002a5f-82f5-4875-b84a-43c3daafa215
- European Chemicals Agency (ECHA). Committee for Risk Assessment (RAC) Committee for Socio-economic Analysis (SEAC)—opinion on an annex XV dossier proposing restrictions on FOUR PHTHA-LATES (DEHP, BBP, DBP, DIBP). 2017 [cited 2022 Nov 14]. Available from: https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/e39983ad-1bf6-f402-7992-8a032b5b82aa
- World Health Organization. Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate in drinkingwater-background document for development of WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality. 2003 [cited 2022 Nov 14]. Available from: https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/wash-documents/ wash-chemicals/di2ethylhexyphthalate.pdf?sfvrsn=1e56f743_6
- Morishita Y, Nomura Y, Fukui C, Kawakami T, Ikeda T, Mukai T, et al. Pilot study on novel blood containers with alternative plasticizers for red cell concentrate storage. PLoS One. 2017;12: e0185737.
- Faessler D, McCombie G, Biedermann M, Felder F, Subotic U. Leaching of plasticizers from polyvinylchloride perfusion lines by different lipid emulsions for premature infants under clinical conditions. Int J Pharm. 2017;520:119–25.
- Lv J, Liang L, Huebschmann J. Determination of phthalates in liquor beverages by single quadrupole GC-MS. [cited 2022 Dec 14]. Available from: https://www.idaea.csic.es/wp-content/uploads/2020/ 03/an-10339-gc-ms-phthalates-liquor-an10339-en.pdf
- Koch HM, Schütze A, Pälmke C, Angerer J, Brüning T. Metabolism of the plasticizer and phthalate substitute diisononyl-cyclohexane-1,-2-dicarboxylate (DINCH([®])) in humans after single oral doses. Arch Toxicol. 2013;87:799-806.
- Frederiksen H, Skakkebaek NE, Andersson A-M. Metabolism of phthalates in humans. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2007;51:899–911.
- Silva MJ, Samandar E, Calafat AM, Ye X. Identification of di-2-ethylhexyl terephthalate (DEHTP) metabolites using human liver microsomes for biomonitoring applications. Toxicol In Vitro. 2015; 29:716–21.
- Ito R, Seshimo F, Miura N, Kawaguchi M, Saito K, Nakazawa H. Effect of sterilization process on the formation of mono(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate from di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2006;41: 455–60.

- Quon CY, Stampfli HF. Biochemical properties of blood esmolol esterase. Drug Metab Dispos. 1985;13:420–4.
- Peck CC, Odom DG, Friedman HI, Albro PW, Hass JR, Brady JT, et al. Di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) and mono-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (MEHP) accumulation in whole blood and red cell concentrates. Transfusion. 1979;19:137–46.
- Rock G, Secours VE, Franklin CA, Chu I, Villeneuve DC. The accumulation of mono-2-ethylhexylphthalate (MEHP) during storage of whole blood and plasma. Transfusion. 1978;18: 553-8.
- Ito R, Seshimo F, Miura N, Kawaguchi M, Saito K, Nakazawa H. Highthroughput determination of mono- and di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate migration from PVC tubing to drugs using liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2005;39: 1036–41.
- 42. Vichinsky EP. Current issues with blood transfusions in sickle cell disease. Semin Hematol. 2001;38:14–22.
- 43. Galanello R, Origa R. Beta-thalassemia. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2010;5:11.

44. Sukumar S, Lämmle B, Cataland SR. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management. J Clin Med. 2021;10:536.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Thelliez A, Sumian C, Chazard E, Reichenberg S, Lecoeur M, Decaudin B. Migration of di(2ethylhexyl) phthalate, diisononylcyclohexane-1,2dicarboxylate and di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate from transfusion medical devices in labile blood products: A comparative study. Vox Sang. 2023;118:533–42. Revised: 26 April 2023

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13440

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Proof of concept for detection of staphylococcal enterotoxins in platelet concentrates as a novel safety mitigation strategy

Sylvia Ighem Chi^{1,2} | Basit Yousuf^{1,2} | Carina Paredes^{1,2} | Jennifer Bearne³ | Carl McDonald³ | Sandra Ramirez-Arcos^{1,2}

¹Medical Affairs and Innovation, Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada ²Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Immunology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada ³National Health Service Blood and Transplant, London, UK

Correspondence

Sandra Ramirez-Arcos, Medical Affairs and Innovation, Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, ON K1G 4J5, Canada. Email: sandra.ramirez@blood.ca

Funding information Canadian Blood Services; Health Canada Abstract

Background and Objectives: Staphylococcus aureus is a predominant contaminant of platelet concentrates (PCs) that can evade detection during screening with culture methods. Importantly, S. aureus produces staphylococcal enterotoxins (SEs) during PC storage, which are linked to slow growth and enhanced biofilm formation. This study investigated timing of SE production during PC storage and feasibility of SE detection as a PC safety strategy.

Materials and Methods: Genomic and transcriptomic data of transfusion-relevant S. aureus PS/BAC/169/17/W, PS/BAC/317/16/W, CI/BAC/25/13/W and CBS2016-05 were used to determine the presence and differential expression of exotoxin genes in PCs. Trypticase soy broth (TSB) and PCs were inoculated with 1.0E+06 cfu/mL of S. aureus PS/BAC/169/17/W and CBS2016-05. Expression of SEs at different growth phases was confirmed with Western blotting. PCs were inoculated with 30 cfu/unit of the same strains, and SE detection during PC storage was optimized with a sandwich dot-ELISA assay.

Results: S. aureus genomes contain multiple exotoxin genes including those encoding for SEs. Transcriptome data revealed significant upregulation (0.5–6.7-fold, p < 0.05) of SE genes in PCs versus TSB. Western blots demonstrated SE production at all growth phases. Notably, dot-ELISA detected clinically relevant concentrations of SEs (~0.2 µg/mL) at 32 h of PC storage when S. aureus PS/BAC/169/17/W and CBS2016-05 counts were 1.8E+04 and 1.4E+04 cfu/mL, respectively.

Conclusion: Genomic analyses revealed that staphylococcal exotoxins are widely distributed and highly conserved among transfusion-relevant S. aureus isolates. Furthermore, SEs are significantly upregulated in PCs and detected at 30 h of PC storage. Therefore, bacterial toxin detection could supplement mitigation strategies to enhance PC safety.

Keywords

enterotoxins, platelet concentrates, staphylococcal exotoxins, Staphylococcus aureus

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

© 2023 The Authors. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

.....

Highlights

- Genomes of transfusion-relevant Staphylococcus aureus isolates encode for a variety of staphylococcal exotoxins, including superantigens such as staphylococcal enterotoxins (SEs), which are likely responsible for septic shock symptoms of patients transfused with contaminated platelet concentrates (PCs).
- Expression of SE genes is significantly upregulated in PCs contaminated with *S. aureus* in comparison to *S. aureus* grown in laboratory media.
- Detection of SEs in S. aureus contaminated PCs is feasible as early as after 30 h of PC incubation. Importantly, SE concentration at 32 h of PC incubation is approximately 0.2 μg/mL, which is considerably higher than 0.1 pg/mL, an SE concentration reported to cause septic shock symptoms in immunocomprised patients.

INTRODUCTION

Contamination of donated blood with bacteria remains a significant concern in transfusion medicine. Platelet concentrates (PCs), which are therapeutic for preventing or treating thrombocytopenia, are at higher risk of bacterial proliferation, compared to other transfusable blood components such as plasma and red blood cell concentrates. PCs are stored in glucose-rich, neutral pH solutions and gaspermeable plastic bags at $22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C under agitation for up to 7 days [1]. These storage conditions are essential for platelet viability; however, they are also amicable for the proliferation of the majority of PC bacterial contaminants. To enhance the safety of donated blood, mitigation strategies have been implemented prior to and during blood collection, including donor selection, disinfection of donor's arm at the venipuncture area and diversion of the first aliquot of collected blood [2, 3]. Additionally, post-collection safety protocols are applied in different centres, which comprise PC screening for bacterial contamination or PC treatment with pathogen reduction (PR) technologies (PRTs) [1, 4]. Over the years, a remarkable success in decreasing bacterial contamination of PCs has been achieved worldwide, especially in high income countries [5].

Bacterial testing of PCs can be performed using culture-based approaches or rapid methods [6]. During the last two decades, automated culture-based systems have been widely implemented worldwide. PC culture diagnostic systems are credited with reducing septic events from PC transfusion by 69.7% [7]. Notwithstanding, there is no absolute guarantee of PC sterility since culture systems only validate the release of PC units on a negative-to-date basis, without considering the inoculated volume, sampling time, presence of slow growing pathogens or formation of surface-attached aggregates known as biofilms during PC storage [1, 8].

Gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria have been isolated from PCs with *Staphylococcus aureus* ranking as a major cause of transfusion related sepsis and fatalities [2, 9–14]. This species can evade detection during routine PC screening with automated culture systems due to slow growth and ability to form biofilms in PCs [13, 14].

Remarkably, S. *aureus* can secrete a compendium of exotoxins such as exfoliative toxins, staphylococcal superantigens (SAgs), and haemolysins among others [15]. SAgs are potent immunostimulatory proteins that include the toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (TSST-1), staphylococcal enterotoxins (SEs), which have been involved in septic transfusion cases, and superantigen-like toxins (SSLs) [13, 14, 16]. Within all SEs, SE-type G (SEG) and SE-type H (SEH) are relevant for this study. While SEG was detected in a contaminated PC unit involved in a septic transfusion reaction, the *seh* gene was found in the genome of another *S. aureus* strain reported to be involved in a septic transfusion event [9, 13]. Furthermore, we have recently demonstrated that SEG and SEH production during PC storage increases the formation of biofilms and impairs growth of *S. aureus*, likely contributing to missed detection of this pathogen with culture methods [17]. In this study, we investigated time of SE production during PC storage, which could be used as a supplementary test to enhance transfusion patient safety.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PC units

PC units were manufactured at the Canadian Blood Services netCAD Blood4Research Facility (netCAD, Vancouver, Canada) in agreement with standard procedures. PCs were shipped to the Canadian Blood Services Microbiology laboratory in Ottawa, Canada. Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Canadian Blood Services Research Ethical Board.

S. aureus isolates

Four S. aureus strains listed in Table 1 were used in this study, including one isolated in Canada [9] and three isolated in England [10–12]. Two of the English isolates (PS/BAC/169/17/W and PS/BAC/317/16/W) were detected during routine PC screening using the BACT/ALERT culture system at the National Health Service Blood and Transplant (NHSBT) (i.e., confirmed positives). The third English strain (CI/BAC/25/13/W) and the Canadian isolate (CBS2016-05) were missed during BACT/ALERT PC screening (i.e., false negative screening). While the PC unit contaminated with S. aureus CI/BAC/25/13/W

TABLE 1 Staphylococcal exotoxin genes encoded by the genomes of four *Staphylococcus aureus* strains.

S. aureus strain	BACT/ALERT PC screening result	Staphylococcal enterotoxins and superantigen-like genes
CBS2016-05	False negative ^a	seg, seh, sei, sem, sen, seo, ses, selu, selw, selx, sely, exo, ssl1, ssl3, ssl4, ssl5, ssl7, ssl8, ssl9, ssl10, ssl11, ssl12, ssl13, ssl14
CI/BAC/25/13/W		seb, selp, selw, selx, selz, ssl1, ssl2, ssl3, ssl4, ssl5, ssl7, ssl8, ssl9, ssl10, ssl11, ssl12, ssl13, ssl14
PS/BAC/169/17/W	Confirmed positive ^b	seg, sei, sem, sen, seo, selu, selw, ssl1, ssl2, ssl3, ssl4, ssl5, ssl7, ssl9, ssl10, ssl11, ssl12, ssl13, ssl14
PS/BAC/317/16/W		selw, ssl1, ssl2, ssl3, ssl4, ssl5, ssl7, ssl9, ssl10, ssl11, ssl12, ssl13, ssl14

Abbreviation: PC, platelet concentrate.

^aFalse negative BACT/ALERT screening results refers to bacteria missed during routine screening of PCs and detected during investigation of transfusion reactions or near-misses [1].

^bConfirmed positive BACT/ALERT screening results indicate the same bacterial species identified during initial and confirmatory PC screening [1].

was identified prior to transfusion by visual inspection due to clot formation ('near-miss') [12], the PC unit carrying CBS2016-05 was transfused causing a septic transfusion reaction [14].

Staphylococcal exotoxin gene identification

The genomes of all four S. aureus isolates were next-generation sequenced. Illumina paired end DNA libraries of the isolates were sequenced using the Miseq platform, assembled, annotated at the Health Canada genomics facility, and published at the NCBI database [9-12]. The presence of SE genes in the next-generation sequences of all studied strains was further confirmed by Sanger sequencing. Information from the genome sequences was used to design primers for specific PCR amplification of genes encoding for SEs and SSLs. OneTag DNA polymerase kit (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) was used as follows: each reaction tube containing a mixture of $2 \mu L$ (10 ng) genomic DNA, 5.0 μL buffer (1×), 0.5 μL dNTPs (200 μM), 1.0 μL primer pair (0.4 μM), 0.125 μL polymerase (0.625 unit) and nuclease-free water summing to 25 µL reaction volume was run on a thermal cycler with initial denaturation (94°C); annealing and extension 30 cycles (94°C, 30 s: 45-68°C, 1 min; 68°C, 1 min); final extension (68°C, 5 min). Following the PCR run, the amplicons were resolved on 1% agarose gel (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada).

Differential expression of SE genes

RNAseq assays and comparative transcriptome analyses were performed using protocols recently reported [17]. Quantitative reverse transcription PCR (RT-qPCR) [18] verification of upregulated SE genes was performed in duplicate and repeated once. Approximately 1 μ g total RNA was subjected to reverse transcription (RT) with QuantiTect Reverse Transcription kit protocol (Qiagen, Germantown, MD, USA) after treatment with TURBO DNAse enzyme (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA). The RT reaction mixture, composed of the purified RNA, RT buffer, RT primer mix, and quantitect reverse transcriptase, was incubated at 42°C for 30 min. Two microliters (10 ng) of the cDNA was subsequently added to a qPCR mixture comprising 5 μ L of 2× SYBR Green PCR master mix from QuantiNova SYBR Green PCR kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD, USA), 1 μ L of forward and reverse gene specific primers (0.7 μ M) and 2 μ L nuclease-free water. Each gene and condition were run in duplicate using equal amounts of cDNAs in trypticase soy broth (TSB) and PCs. For controls, *gyrA* (positive) and nuclease-free H₂O (negative) were used. CFX96 TouchTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad, Hercules, California, CA, USA) was used to run the experiments. Transcript copy numbers were determined using concentrations generated by mean Cq (quantification cycle) values of the samples obtained by standard curve analyses based on 10-fold dilutions of their respective PCR amplicons of known concentrations.

545

Western blotting detection of staphylococcal SE types G (SEG) and H (SEH) at different growth phases of *S. aureus*

TSB and PC cultures were inoculated with S. aureus CBS2016-05 and PS/BAC/169/17/W, representing strains that missed detection or were captured during BACT/ALERT screening, respectively, at a target concentration of approximately 1.0E+06 cfu/mL. TSB cultures were incubated at 37°C/18 h with agitation, and PC cultures were incubated under PC storage conditions (20-24°C under agitation for 120 h [5 days]). S. aureus spiked TSB or PC cultures obtained at midexponential, late-exponential, and stationary growth phases were analysed by Western blotting [19, 20]. Secreted proteins in TSB supernatants were precipitated for a minimum of 1 h at -20°C in 25% trichloroacetic acid [21], and the pellet was washed in 500 µL ice-cold acetone, dried and rehydrated in nuclease-free H₂O. PC supernatants were obtained by centrifugation of samples at 10,000 rpm for 15 min. Both TSB and PC protein samples were resolved on 12% SDS-PAGE, transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride membrane on iBlotTM 2 Gel Transfer Device (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA). Thereafter, the membranes were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) buffer for 1 h, followed by incubation with mouse polyclonal antibodies (1:5000) against enterotoxin SEG (GenTex.com, Irvine, CA, USA) or against enterotoxin SEH (Abcam, Waltham, MA, USA) and washed in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) supplemented with 0.1% Tween[®] 20 (TBST).

Membranes were then incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG secondary antibody (1:10000) (Abcam, Waltham, MA, USA). The protein bands were visualized in the ChemiDoc imaging system (BioRAD, Hercules, California, CA, USA) after incubating for 5 min in detection solution, Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

Semi-quantitative sandwich dot-ELISA assay for detection of SEs during PC storage

The limit of detection of SEs was investigated using a semi-quantitative sandwich dot-ELISA assay as described by Venkataramana et al. [22], with some modifications. PC cultures were inoculated with *S. aureus*

CBS2016-05 and PS/BAC/169/17/W at a target concentration of approximately 30 cfu/PC and incubated under PC storage conditions. In brief, 10 μ L aliquots of combined mouse polyclonal antibody anti SEG and SEH (1:1000) were dotted on 1.0 \times 1.0 cm nitrocellulose membrane pieces that had been placed in a 12-well plate. To optimize SE detection, antibodies against SEG and SEH were combined. Blocking of unbound sites was achieved with addition of 5% BSA and incubation for 1 h at 45°C in TBS followed by washing with TBST. Subsequently, 500 μ L of PC samples (initially inoculated with 30 cfu/PC), which were collected at 0, 24, 30, 32, 48, 72, 96 and 120 h of incubation, were added to different wells. Five hundred microliters of non-spiked PCs and 5 μ L of a 20 μ g/mL solution of purified enterotoxin SEG protein (0.1 μ g) (Antibodies-online, Limerick, PA, USA) were included as negative and positive controls, respectively. The plate was incubated for 1 h



FIGURE 1 Heatmap of differentially expressed *S. aureus* exotoxin genes in PCs compared to TSB as revealed by RNAseq analyses. Experiments were performed in triplicate. The differential expressions were based on fold change values of ≥ 0.5 with TSB as the baseline for all strains. The statistical significance of RNAseq-based foldchange DE genes (p < 0.05) was determined using two-tailed *t*-tests on gene raw transcript counts performed in triplicate between the study conditions.

4230410, 2023, 7, Downloaded from

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.11111/vox.13440 by Cornell University E-Resources & Serials Department,

, Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Terms

and Condit

librar

on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles

are governed by the applicable Creative Commons

at 37°C, washed and further incubated with 300 μ L of 1:500 monoclonal SEs antibody cocktail under the same conditions. After washing, HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Abcam, Waltham, MA, USA) was added onto the wells, incubated for 45 min at 37°C, washed and colour developed with TMB + 0.4% H_2O_2 (3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine substrate plus hydrogen peroxide). This assay was performed twice.

Statistical analyses

Statistical tests were performed to determine the difference in gene expression between PCs and TSB inoculated with *S. aureus*. The mean quantification cycle numbers obtained in the RT-qPCR analyses were used to calculate the standard error mean deviation over the biological and technical replicates. Normalized count values of the RNAseq transcripts were used to calculate differential gene expression between the PC and TSB conditions for each bacterial strain. Data were provided with a *p* value and a FDR/q value that correct the *p* value for multiple testing using the Benjamini–Hochberg approach. This analysis was done in *R*. Normalized data were further used to determine the statistical significance of the RNAseq-based foldchange differentially expressed (DE) genes using two-tailed *t*-tests on gene raw transcript counts performed in triplicates between the study conditions. A *p* value <0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

S. aureus genomes encode multiple exotoxin genes

Whole genome sequence analyses of the four *S. aureus* studied herein revealed an arsenal of genes coding for exotoxins in all strains. Genes of all staphylococcal exotoxin classes consisting of pore-forming toxins (haemolysins, leukocidins and phenol soluble modulins), cyto-toxic enzymes (exfoliative toxins), and SAgs, including staphylococcal protein A (*spa*), SSLs, and SEs, were present in the genomes of the *S. aureus* isolates (Table 1). The presence of genes coding for SE and SSL superantigens was confirmed by PCR, as shown in Figure S1.

SSLs and SEs are upregulated in PCs compared to TSB

Comparative RNAseq analyses performed on the S. *aureus* strains grown in PCs and TSB revealed differential expression of exotoxin genes (Figure 1). Among the upregulated genes are haemolysins and leukocidins in strains CBS2016-05 and PS/BAC/169/17/W, exfoliative toxins in all strains but PS/BAC/317/16/W, and superantigens in all strains (0.5–6.7-fold change, p < 0.05). In general, SEs had increased transcripts in PCs compared to TSB (Figure 2a), with enterotoxin type H (*seh*), enterotoxin-like Z (*selz*) and an uncharacterized enterotoxin gene (*exo*) being significantly upregulated (2.3–3.6-fold



FIGURE 2 Upregulated staphylococcal SAg genes in PCs compared to TSB (baseline). (a) RNAseq data analyses. (b) Quantitative reverse transcription PCR (RT-qPCR) validation of the RNAseq results. Differential expression fold change of ≥ 0.5 was considered for all strains. For RT-qPCR, each gene and conditions were analysed in duplicate, and assays were repeated twice. *ssls* are superantigen-like exotoxin genes while *ses* are staphylococcal enterotoxin genes. The standard error mean (SEM = 0.01–0.37) (represented by the bars) of upregulated genes between PCs and TSB was determined based on the mean quantification cycle numbers obtained in the RT-qPCR.



FIGURE 3 Determination of the limit of detection of SEs in PCs by semi-quantitative sandwich dot-ELISA. Enterotoxins from Staphylococcus aureus CBS2016-05 (a) and PS/BAC/169/17/W (b) were detected on samples collected at different times during PC incubation (c). Negative control (-ve Ctrl) is non-spiked PCs and positive control (+ve Ctrl) corresponds to 0.1 µg of commercially obtained staphylococcal enterotoxin SEG. (N = 2).

change, p < 0.05). Remarkably, the greatest fold differences were observed for superantigen-like toxin genes with ssl14 being significantly upregulated in S. aureus CBS2016-05 and marginally upregulated in the CI/BAC/25/13/W strain (p = 0.04 and p = 0.05, respectively) (Figure 2a). The DE candidate genes selected and validated by RT-qPCR (Figure 2b) corroborated the RNAseq results.

bacterial concentration was approximately 1.0E+07 cfu/mL (Figure 3). Dots observed at 32 h of PC incubation and beyond were similar or darker than the dot of the positive control (0.1 μ g of SEG) indicating that SE concentration in the PCs was $\geq 0.2 \,\mu g/mL$ (calculated based on 0.5 mL PCs blotted on the membranes).

DISCUSSION

Western blotting was used to detect the presence of secreted SEG and SEH in TSB and PC cultures inoculated with high bacterial counts (approximately 1.0E+06 cfu/mL) of S. aureus. The SEs were secreted in mid-exponential, post-exponential and stationary growth phases in TSB and PC cultures of CBS2016-05 and PS/BAC/169/17/W as shown in Figure S2.

Detection of SEs during PC storage

After the initial assessment and confirmation of SE production in PCs by Western blotting, semi-quantitative sandwich dot-ELISA assays were performed to determine the analytical sensitivity of SEs in contaminated PC samples collected at different time points. The results of the immune-dot assays revealed time-dependent SE production. No SEs were detected at 0 or 24 h of PC incubation when S. aureus concentration was approximately 1.0E+02 cfu/mL (Figure 3). SE detection was apparent at 30 h of PC incubation when bacterial counts had reached approximately 1.0E+04 cfu/mL (Figure 3). Intensity of the dots increased with time and bacterial concentration indicating greater SE concentration at 120 h of PC storage when the

Detection of PC contaminated with S. aureus is sometimes challenging with automated culture systems due to slow growth and ability to form biofilms by this species during PC storage [1, 13]. The safety risk of transfusing PCs contaminated with S. aureus is exacerbated by SE production during PC storage as exemplified by several reports of transfusion reactions with the detection of staphylococcal superantigens in the transfused units [13, 14, 16]. Remarkably, we have recently shown that SE production during PC storage enhances biofilm formation and decreases growth of S. aureus [17], which is likely linked to missed detection of this species with culture methods. We have previously demonstrated that transfusion-relevant Serratia marcescens strains form biofilms in PCs, resulting in decreased detection by the BACT/ALERT automated culture system [23].

The results of this study show that SEs exhibit biomarker characteristics for detection of S. aureus in PCs stored for 30 h. First, we showed that different SE genes are present in the genomes of S. aureus isolated from contaminated PC units. Findings by previous studies have also shown that nearly 80% of methicillin-susceptible

S. aureus and >90% of methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* isolates secrete several superantigen toxins [24, 25]. The wide distribution and high sequence conservation of SEs in transfusion-relevant *S. aureus* isolates endorse their nomination as indicators of the presence of this bacterium in PCs. Second, we observed significant upregulation of SE gene expression in PCs compared to TSB cultures in all *S. aureus* isolates, corroborating the recommendation by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) stating that ideal biomarkers must have increased expression in testing conditions [26]. Furthermore, the immunological detection of SEs in stored PC cultures complies with the FDA requirement for ease of detection of toxins in biological fluids as an important biomarker characteristic [26, 27].

Notably, we detected SEs from PC samples taken as early as 30 h of storage when bacterial counts were approximately 1.0E+04 cfu/ mL, which is below the concentration that has been reported to be clinically significant (1.0E+05 cfu/mL) [28]. This result also indicates that SEs could be detected before culture results are obtained when PCs are screened using a large volume delayed testing algorithm, which requires PC sampling at \geq 36 h post-blood collection [29, 30]. Recipients of PCs contaminated with S. aureus are at elevated risk of sepsis as SE concentrations ≥0.2 µg/mL were detected after 32 h of PC incubation, which are considerably higher than the 0.1 pg/mL concentration reported to cause toxin shocks in susceptible patients [31]. Hence, ideally, an immunoassay developed to detect SEs or other staphylococcal exotoxins in PCs should have high sensitivity and be able to detect lower levels of toxins earlier during PC storage. Others have optimized detection of SEs using dot-ELISA assays in the range of 32 pg/mL to 50 ng/mL [32, 33]. Our data provide a proof of principle of the importance of detecting SEs in PCs. Further complementary studies are needed to expand detection of enterotoxins by other S. aureus clinical isolates. Similarly, it would be interesting to optimize detection of toxins secreted by other bacteria such as superantigens produced by streptococci.

Exemplifying SEs secreted by *S. aureus* as potential biomarkers, we introduce the idea of supplementing bacterial detection with screening for bacterial toxins. Alternatively, toxin detection could also be a stand-alone point-of-care strategy to detect toxins in PCs that have been treated with PRT, as these methods have not been demonstrated to inactivate endotoxins or other pyrogens [34]. It is not known if whole blood derived PCs would contain bacterial toxins secreted prior to PC manufacturing that could resist PR treatment. Having a strategy to detect bacterial toxins in PCs will, therefore, further decrease the residual safety risk of PCs that are either screened with culture methods or pathogen reduced.

Investigating the presence of SEs is not common practice when septic transfusion reactions involving *S. aureus* are reported [35–37]. Therefore, the applicability of the proof of concept developed in this study is directly related to patient safety as it has been proven that staphylococcal superantigens such as TSST-1, SEG and SEU have been implicated in transfusion septic reactions [13, 14, 16]. It is recognized that the positive impact of implementing this additional safety measure cannot be quantified due to lack of data on the incidence of enterotoxin production when septic transfusion reactions are

investigated. Patients receiving PCs contaminated with *S. aureus* develop septic shock symptoms likely due to the secretion of exotoxins in PCs and adding bacterial toxin detection will supplement current mitigation strategies to prevent transfusion of bacterially contaminated PC units. It is, however, acknowledged that implementing bacterial toxin detection should be feasible and efficient for blood banks.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank volunteer blood donors and staff at the netCAD Blood4Research Facility in Vancouver (British Columbia, Canada) for PC production. This work was supported by Canadian Blood Services and Health Canada.

S.C.I. and S.R.-A. designed the study. J.B. and C.M. isolated and characterized English *S. aureus* strains. B.Y. and C.P. prepared RNA from PCs and TSB cultures and obtained RNAseq. S.C.I. performed RNAseq data analyses and experimental work related to immunological assays for detection of staphylococcal exotoxins. S.C.I. and S.R.-A. wrote the manuscript, which was reviewed by B.Y., C.P., J.B., and C.M.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The genome sequences that have been used to design primers are available; they have been published as Genome Sequence Announcements (references 9-12 of the manuscript). The transcriptome data is available at the NCBI site, BioProject: PRJNA915492 found at https://dataview.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/object/PRJNA915492?reviewer= 413fkhgmqdmj42p7u0ursh41tt.

ORCID

Carl McDonald D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3230-3287 Sandra Ramirez-Arcos D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0705-4987

REFERENCES

- Ramirez-Arcos S, Evans S, McIntyre T, Pang C, Yi QL, DiFranco C, et al. Extension of platelet shelf life with an improved bacterial testing algorithm. Transfusion. 2020;60:2918–28.
- Fatalities Reported to FDA Following Blood Collection and Transfusion Annual Summary for FY2018. [Cited 2023 March 6]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/media/136907/download
- 3. Levy JH, Neal MD, Herman JH. Bacterial contamination of platelets for transfusion: strategies for prevention. Crit Care. 2018;22:271.
- Pati I, Masiello F, Pupella S, Cruciani M, De Angelis V. Efficacy and safety of pathogen reduced platelets compared with standard apheresis platelets: a systematic review of RCTs. Pathogens. 2022;11:639.
- Michael RJ. FDA guidance on bacterial contamination risk control strategies to enhance the safety and availability of platelets: advantages and limitation. Ann Blood. 2021;21:10.
- Störmer M, Vollmer T. Diagnostic methods for platelet bacteria screening: current status and developments. Transfus Med Hemother. 2014;41:19–27.
- 7. Benjamin RJ, McDonald CP, ISBT Transfusion Transmitted Infectious Disease Bacterial Workgroup. The international experience of

bacterial screen testing of platelet components with an automated microbial detection system: a need for consensus testing and reporting guidelines. Transfus Med Rev. 2014;28:61–71.

- Freudenburg-de Graaf W, Spelmink S, Heijnen J, de Korte D. Transfusion transmitted bacterial infections (TTBI) involving contaminated platelet concentrates: residual risk despite intervention strategies. Ann Blood. 2022;7:26.
- Yousuf B, Flint A, Weedmark K, Pagotto F, Ramirez-Arcos S. Genome sequence of *Staphylococcus aureus* strain CBS2016-05, isolated from contaminated platelet concentrates in Canada. Microbiol Resour Announc. 2021;26:10.
- Yousuf B, Flint A, Weedmark K, McDonald C, Bearne J, Pagotto F, et al. Genome sequence of *Staphylococcus aureus* strain PS/BAC/317/16/W, Isolated from Contaminated Platelet Concentrates in England. Microbiol Resour Announc. 2021;2:10.
- Paredes C, Chi SI, Flint A, Weedmark K, McDonald C, Bearne J, et al. Complete genome sequence of *Staphylococcus aureus* PS/BAC/169/17/W, isolated from a contaminated platelet concentrate in England. Microbiol Resour Announc. 2021;11:10.
- Paredes C, Chi SI, Flint A, Weedmark K, McDonald C, Bearne J, et al. Complete genome sequence of *Staphylococcus aureus* CI/BAC/25/13/W, Isolated from Contaminated Platelet Concentrates in England. Microbiol Resour Announc. 2021;11:10.
- Chi SI, Kumaran D, Zeller MP, Ramirez AS. Transfusion of a platelet pool contaminated with exotoxin-producing *Staphylococcus aureus*: a case report. Ann Blood. 2022;7:43.
- Loza-Correa M, Kou Y, Taha M, Kalab M, Ronholm J, Schlievert PM, et al. Septic transfusion case caused by a platelet pool with visible clotting due to contamination with *Staphylococcus aureus*. Transfusion. 2017;57:1299–303.
- Hu DL, Li S, Fang R, Ono HK. Update on molecular diversity and multipathogenicity of staphylococcal superantigen toxins. Anim Dis. 2021;1:7.
- Perpoint T, Lina G, Poyart C, de Barbeyrac B, Traineau R, Jeanne M, et al. Two cases of fatal shock after transfusion of platelets contaminated by *Staphylococcus aureus*: role of superantigenic toxins. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39:e106–9.
- Chi SI, Ramirez-Arcos S. Staphylococcal enterotoxins enhance biofilm formation by *Staphylococcus aureus* in platelet concentrates. Microorganisms. 2022;11:89.
- Wilson GJ, Tuffs SW, Wee BA, Seo KS, Park N, Connelley T, et al. Bovine *Staphylococcus aureus* superantigens stimulate the entire T cell repertoire of cattle. Infect Immun. 2018;86:e00505–18.
- Grispoldi L, Popescu PA, Karama M, Gullo V, Poerio G, Borgogni E, et al. Study on the growth and enterotoxin production by *Staphylococcus aureus* in canned meat before retorting. Toxins. 2019;11:291.
- Schwendimann L. Evaluation and prediction of staphylococcal enterotoxins. Human health and pathology. PhD Thesis. Université Paris-Est. 2021 https://theses.hal.science/tel-03666896/file/ TH2021PESC0002.pdf
- Vernozy-Rozand CM, Mazuy-Cruchaudet C, Bavari C, Richard Y. Improvement of a concentration protocol based on trichloroacetic acid for extracting staphylococcal enterotoxins in dairy products. Rev Méd Vet. 2004;155:533–7.
- Venkataramana M, Rashmi R, Uppalapati SR, Chandranayaka S, Balakrishna K, Radhika M, et al. Development of sandwich dot-ELISA for specific detection of Ochratoxin A and its application on to contaminated cereal grains originating from India. Front Microbiol. 2015; 6:511.
- Greco-Stewart VS, Brown EE, Parr C, Kalab M, Jacobs MR, Yomtovian RA, et al. Serratia marcescens strains implicated in adverse

transfusion reactions form biofilms in platelet concentrates and demonstrate reduced detection by automated culture. Vox Sang. 2012; 102:212-20.

- Fischer AJ, Kilgore SH, Singh SB, Allen PD, Hansen AR, Limoli DH, et al. High prevalence of *Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxin gene cluster superantigens in cystic fibrosis clinical isolates. Genes (Basel). 2019;12:10.
- Ferry T, Thomas D, Genestier AL, Bes M, Lina G, Vandenesch F, et al. Comparative prevalence of superantigen genes in *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates causing sepsis with and without septic shock. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;41:771–7.
- Sahu P, Pinkalwar N, Dubey RD, Paroha S, Chatterjee S, Chatterjee T. Biomarkers: an emerging tool for diagnosis of a disease and drug development. Asian J Res Pharm Sci. 2011;1:9–16.
- Jain KK. Biomarkers of infectious diseases. The handbook of biomarkers. New York, NY: Humana Press; 2017. p. 219–38.
- Jacobs MR, Good CE, Lazarus HM, Yomtovian RA. Relationship between bacterial load, species virulence, and transfusion reaction with transfusion of bacterially contaminated platelets. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46:1214–20.
- Delage G, Bernier F. Bacterial culture of platelets with the large volume delayed sampling approach: a narrative review. Ann Blood. 2021;6:30.
- Kamel H, Ramirez-Arcos S, McDonald C, ISBT Transfusion-Transmitted Infectious Disease Bacterial Working Party Bacterial Subgroup. The international experience of bacterial screen testing of platelet components with automated microbial detection systems: an update. Vox Sang. 2022;117:647–55.
- Proft T, Fraser JD. Bacterial superantigens. Clin Exp Immunol. 2003; 133:299–306.
- Singh M, Agrawal RK, Singh BR, Mendiratta SK, Agarwal RK, Singh MK, et al. Development and evaluation of simple dot-blot assays for rapid detection of staphylococcal Enterotoxin-a in food. Indian J Microbiol. 2017;57:507–11.
- Golafrouz H, Ahari H, Anvar SA, Shahbazzadeh D. Detection of Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxin a (SEA) using dot-ELISA in milk samples. J Med Microbiol Infect Dis. 2020;8:132–6.
- Cloutier M, De Korte D. ISBT transfusion-transmitted infectious diseases working party, subgroup on bacteria. Residual risks of bacterial contamination for pathogen-reduced platelet components. Vox Sang. 2022;117:879–86.
- Abela MA, Fenning S, Maguire KA, Morris KG. Bacterial contamination of platelet components not detected by BacT/ALERT[®]. Transfus Med. 2018;28:65–70.
- Brailsford SR, Tossell J, Morrison R, McDonald CP, Pitt TL. Failure of bacterial screening to detect *Staphylococcus aureus*: the English experience of donor follow-up. Vox Sang. 2018;113:540-6.
- Coutinho H, Galloway A, Ajdukiewicz K, Cleeve V. A case of *Staphylococcus aureus* septicaemia following platelet transfusion. J Clin Pathol. 2010;63:262–3.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Chi SI, Yousuf B, Paredes C, Bearne J, McDonald C, Ramirez-Arcos S. Proof of concept for detection of staphylococcal enterotoxins in platelet concentrates as a novel safety mitigation strategy. Vox Sang. 2023;118:543–50. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13444

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Revised: 23 April 2023



Monitoring viral genomic sequences in transfusion-transmitted viruses

Daniel Candotti^{1,2} | Steven J. Drews^{3,4} | Helen M. Faddy^{5,6} | | ISBT Transfusion-Transmitted Infectious Diseases Working Party, Subgroup on Viruses

¹Department of Blood Transmitted Agents, National Institute of Blood Transfusion, Paris, France

²Department of Virology, Henri Mondor Hospital, Paris-Est University, Inserm U955-IMRB-Team 18, Créteil, France

³Department of Microbiology, Canadian Blood Services, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

⁴Division of Diagnostic and Applied Microbiology, Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

⁵School of Health, University of the Sunshine Coast, Petrie, Queensland, Australia

⁶Research and Development, Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Kelvin Grove, Australia

Correspondence

Daniel Candotti, Department of Virology, Henri Mondor Hospital, Paris-Est University, Inserm U955-IMRB-Team 18, Créteil, France. Email: daniel.candotti@inserm.fr

Helen M. Faddy, School of Health and Behavioural Sciences, University of the Sunshine Coast, The Sunshine Coast, Queensland, Australia. Email: hfaddy@usc.edu.au

Funding information

Open access publishing facilitated by University of the Sunshine Coast, as part of the Wiley - University of the Sunshine Coast agreement via the Council of Australian University Librarians.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Monitoring genomic sequences of blood-borne viruses infecting blood donors enables blood operators to undertake molecular epidemiology, confirm transfusion transmission and assess and characterize molecular and serological screening assays. The purpose of the study was to determine how blood operators globally value viral diversity surveillance and to assess its impact.

Materials and Methods: An electronic questionnaire was developed and circulated to members of the International Society of Blood Transfusion-transmitted infectious diseases working party. Responses were compiled and complete data sets were analysed.

Results: Ninety-seven percent of respondents agreed that monitoring viral genomic sequences was important to blood operators and the transfusion community. However, only 47% of respondents are currently doing this monitoring. The main limitations reported were a lack of financial resources and expertise. Sequencing techniques, primarily next-generation sequencing and also Sanger sequencing, were considered most appropriate, with the preferred option for testing being regional or national reference centres. Respondents agreed that engagement with public health authorities needs to be enhanced.

Conclusion: Monitoring genomic sequences of blood-borne viruses is widely considered important by the transfusion community because of its direct applications for transfusion safety, and beyond for public health in general. Therefore, there is a need to strengthen collaboration between blood operators and public health authorities. While national and regional reference centres may be the most appropriate structure for such testing, international collaborations should not be overlooked. Overcoming financial barriers will be an important hurdle for many.

Keywords

diversity, public health, sequencing, transfusion safety, virus

Highlights

 Blood operators and the transfusion community favoured the implementation of monitoring genomic sequences of blood-borne viruses.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2023 The Authors. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

- Lack of financial resources and experienced staff are the main limitations.
- Enhanced collaboration between blood operators and public health authorities is needed.

INTRODUCTION

Rapid advances and continuous improvements in serology assays and nucleic acid amplification testing (NAT) have reduced the risk of transfusion-transmitted infectious diseases (TTIDs). In addition, the introduction of molecular screening has stimulated the development and use of increasingly sophisticated molecular methods to confirm initial screening results. Concomitantly, the development of molecular biology has led to an unprecedented increase in the knowledge of the genetics of TTIDs including viruses, and, in particular, their diversity.

Differences in the nucleic acid sequences of a viral genome are driven by genetic variability leading to phenotypic changes. This is the result of various drivers, such as the natural history of viral infection, high replication rates and host-pathogen interactions [1]. This can occur through a range of mechanisms including the high intrinsic error rate of the viral reverse transcriptases or the RNA-dependent RNA polymerases, reassortment or template switching [2]. RNA viruses tend to display greater amounts of genetic diversity than DNA viruses, while diversity is higher in single-stranded compared with doublestranded viruses [2, 3]. Viruses with a smaller genome also tend to exhibit more genetic diversity than those with larger genomes [2, 4]. There is wide variability in the genetic diversity of blood-borne viruses, such as the single-stranded RNA viruses, hepatitis C virus (HCV) [5] and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) [6], and the partially double-stranded DNA virus, hepatitis B virus (HBV) [7, 8]. Based on genetic diversity, viruses can be separated into genotypes and eventually sub-genotypes. HIV-1 is broken down into four groups (main [M], outlier [O], non-M [N] and P), with group M subdivided into nine subtypes [9], while HCV is classified into at least eight genotypes, each with several subtypes (over 80 in total) [10, 11], and HBV into nine genotypes with subtypes identified in all genotypes except E and G [12]. Inter-genotype genetic recombination, leading to new viral circulating recombinant forms (CRFs), has also been documented for HIV and HBV [13, 14].

Different methodological approaches are used to characterize and monitor genomic sequences in viruses infecting blood donors and eventually recipients. First, direct amplification of viral DNA or RNA by nested (RT)-PCR methods is usually needed to generate viral amplicons in sufficient quantity and length to obtain informative viral sequences. It might be necessary to increase the amount of viral nucleic acid template in the amplification reaction by increasing the volume of plasma in the nucleic acid extraction procedure or by concentrating viral particles in the sample prior to extraction [15–17]. Whole or partial genome sequencing is then performed by standard Sanger or next-generation sequencing (NGS) methods. Sanger sequencing is based on the random incorporation of dideoxynucleotides. NGS methods, however, allow for higher throughput, automated sequencing. Non-sequencing approaches, such as strainspecific nucleic acid tests or proteomics can also be used [18, 19]. Viral genetic characterization can be performed by blood transfusion centres either in-house, using technologies adapted to local resources and infrastructure, through regional or national reference centres, or, via international collaborative networks.

The analysis of viral genomic sequences in blood donors can have both direct and indirect impacts on transfusion safety. It may shed light on nucleic acid and amino acid variations that can reduce the performance of NAT or serological detection by altering primers/probes hybridization or antigenicity [20-22]. Genetic polymorphism may also affect the natural history of infection and negatively impact viraemia and antigenemia, which may challenge the analytical sensitivity of detection assays [23]. Identification of the molecular features responsible for detection failure has proven essential to improve not only molecular and serological blood screening tests but also both qualitative and quantitative viral diagnosis. Monitoring viral genomic sequences can also allow investigation of cross-reactive samples leading to false-positive results, as shown in donors vaccinated against the Japanese encephalitis virus and tested falsely reactive for West Nile virus (WNV) RNA [24]. Characterization of TTIDs is essential for assessing the transmissibility of (re)emerging viruses, and the effectiveness of new screening strategies on the residual risk to blood safety. However, in the absence of a recipient pre-transfusion sample free of viral markers, a high genetic similarity of the viral strains found in both donor and recipient is required to definitively differentiate between transfusion transmission, reactivation of persistent viral infection and iatrogenic infection, especially in highly endemic areas [25]. In addition, molecular epidemiology is essential for monitoring the constant genetic evolution of viruses that may result in changes in genotype geographical distribution and the emergence of inter-genotype CRFs and viral variants with potential differences in their replicative and infectious properties, pathogeny and sensitivity to antiviral treatments or vaccines [26-28]. Examining diversity in specific genes can provide insight into single or multiple nucleotide polymorphisms associated with phenotypic changes. For example, a single amino acid change to the WNV NY99 genotype resulted in the development of the WN02 genotype, which had a shorter extrinsic incubation period leading to rapid spread across the United States eventually displacing the original NY99 strain [26, 29].

Monitoring the prevalence of viral variants in blood donors appears to be important to assess the risk of transfusion transmission and future epidemiological changes in order to continuously evaluate and improve the performance of screening tests to ensure blood safety. Blood operators are in a unique position to enable investigations for variants of transfusion-transmitted viruses.

4230410, 2023, 7, Downloaded from https:/

/.wiley

.com/doi/10.1111/vox.13444 by Cornel11

Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Terms

Ind

Wiley Online Library for 1

QA

overned by the applicable Creative

However, the place of this type of molecular investigation in the blood transfusion field is still a matter of debate. An interactive session focused on monitoring transfusion-transmitted virus diversity was developed by the Virology subgroup of the International Society of Blood Transfusion TTID Working Party (ISBT TTID WP) during the 31st regional congress of the ISBT–ISBT in Focus!—in June 2021. Following on from widespread interest during and after this session, the present study was conceived to understand how blood operators globally value monitoring for viral diversity and assess the potential impact of monitoring for viral diversity in the transfusion and blood operator fields.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A survey, which contained 19 questions, was developed to gather data on the value of monitoring for viral diversity and its possible impact on blood operators (see Data S1). The electronic link to the survey was first sent to members of the ISBT TTID WP on 27 October 2021, with a reminder sent on 4 February 2022. No new responses were accepted after 28 February 2022.

Response data were analysed, and basic graphs were generated using the GraphPad Prism v9.4.1 software.

RESULTS

Thirty-two questionnaires were received that contained sufficient data to be analysed. Twenty-nine respondents provided information about the World Health Organization (WHO) income classification of their country, with 13 (45%), 10 (35%) and 6 (21%) classified as high, middle, and low income, respectively. Of all respondents, 11 (34%) identified themselves as blood service/operator, 7 (22%) as transfusion medicine laboratory, 9 (28%) as both transfusion medicine and blood service/operator, 4 (13%) as other (including virology research laboratory, reference laboratory, industry and medical practitioner) and 1 (3%) did not provide the information. Among the 28 respondents whose activities are related to blood donation gualification, preparation and distribution of blood products as well as post-donation expertise, 46%, 14% and 29% were from national, regional and local organizations, respectively (Table 1). One (4%) was from a regional (blood screening)/national (reference laboratory) hybrid structure, and no information was provided for two (7%). National organizations were more frequent in high-income countries (80%) compared to middle- (33%) and low-income countries (50%). There was no difference between middle- and low-income countries with local organizations accounting for 44%-50% (data not shown). Four respondents had activities not linked to blood donations.

TABLE 1 Organizational status of 28 respondents with blood transfusion activities.^a

Status	Blood services/ operators	Transfusion medicine laboratories	Blood services/ operators + transfusion medicine laboratories	Reference laboratory	Total (%)
National	6	5	1	1	13 (46.4%)
Regional	1	-	3	-	4 (14.3%)
Local	3	1	4	-	8 (28.6%)
Other ^b	1	-	-	-	1 (3.6%)
NA ^c	-	1	1	-	2 (7.1%)

^aExcluding four respondents identified as virology research laboratory, industry, medical practitioner or without identification.

^bHybrid regional (blood screening)/national (reference laboratory) structure.

^cNot available (information not provided by the respondent).

TABLE 2 Estimating the potential impact of viral diversity monitoring on blood service/operator policy and public health activities.

	Participants		WHO national income classification				
Impact estimation	Total (n = 32)	Monitoring viral diversity (n $=$ 15)	Not monitoring viral diversity ($n = 17$)	Low (n = 6)	Medium (n = 10)	High ($n = 13$)	NA (n = 3)
Blood service/operator	r policy						
Yes	12 (37%)	7 (47%)	5 (29%)	5 (83%)	3 (30%)	3 (23%)	1 (33%)
Maybe	15 (47%)	5 (33%)	10 (59%)	1 (17%)	4 (40%)	9 (69%)	1 (33%)
No	5 (16%)	3 (20%)	2 (12%)	-	3 (30%)	1 (8%)	1 (33%)
Public health activities							
Yes	16 (50%)	7 (47%)	9 (53%)	6 (100%)	5 (50%)	3 (23%)	2 (67%)
Maybe	11 (34%)	6 (40%)	5 (29%)	-	4 (40%)	6 (46%)	1 (33%)
No	5 (16%)	2 (13%)	3 (18%)	-	1 (10%)	4 (31%)	-

Abbreviations: NA, information not provided; WHO, World Health Organization.

Thirty-one participants (97%) indicated that monitoring for viral diversity in blood donors is important. Only one participant from a reference laboratory in a high-income country indicated that this was not important but acknowledged that monitoring viral diversity was still relevant to public health. Most participants (84%) estimated that monitoring viral diversity had or could have an impact on both blood service/operator policy and public health activities, particularly in low-and middle-income settings (Table 2). Irrespective of whether viral diversity monitoring was performed, 69% (22/32) of participants stated that national or local blood services/operators were involved in informing and/or developing the public health strategy, and 64% (18/28 reporting) considered this contribution important in their respective countries regardless of national income classification. However, 97% of responders still highlighted the need for improved engagement between blood operators and public health authorities.

Participants noted a range of benefits from monitoring viral diversity, including identification and monitoring of viral variants that may compromise the performance of molecular and serological screening tests, surveillance of circulating viral strains evading therapeutic and immunoprophylactic treatments, investigation of TTID, monitoring national and/or international molecular epidemiology, and improving knowledge of the natural history of infections (Figure 1). A similar importance was attributed to these different benefits, with the exception of the last. However, just under half of the participants (47%, n = 15) reported that they currently monitor viral diversity, with 40% (6/15) indicating that this monitoring was conducted in a national/ regional reference centre, followed by 40% (6/15) in-house at the local level. One participant reported the viral diversity to be monitored both in-house and in a national/regional reference centre, and the remaining two in a consortium of blood services and a public



FIGURE 1 Perceived benefits of monitoring viral diversity. Participants ranked benefits from 1 (not relevant) to 5 (high importance). Columns represent means, with error bars showing standard deviations. TTID, transfusion-transmitted infectious disease.



FIGURE 2 Number (a) and types of viruses (b) reported by 15 participants who monitor viral diversity.





FIGURE 3 Methods to monitor viral diversity in blood donors currently used (grey bars) or wishing to be used (white bars) by 15 and 14 participants, respectively. *Two participants reported to use both sequencing (Sanger and NGS) and non-sequencing methods. NGS, next-generation sequencing.



FIGURE 4 Limitations to implementing viral diversity monitoring. Participants ranked benefits from 1 (not relevant) to 5 (high importance). Columns represent means, with error bars showing standard deviations.

health institute. Of those 15 responders, monitoring 4 or more viruses was the most common approach (54%), followed by monitoring for a single virus (20%) (Figure 2a). HBV genetic diversity was monitored by the majority of participants (80%), followed by HCV and HIV (73%), then HEV (47%) (Figure 2b). Sanger sequencing and NGS were the methods used by 60% (9/15) and 47% (7/15) of respondents, respectively, including two respondents reporting the use of both methods (Figure 3). One participant reported using non-sequencing molecular methods (e.g., genotype-specific nucleic acid tests). NGS was used exclusively in national/regional reference centres or public health institutes, whereas Sanger sequencing was mainly used in-house locally. Although the use of NGS was limited to high- and middle-income countries, there was no significant difference overall compared with the use of Sanger sequencing that was also used in three

low-income settings (data not shown). Of 14 respondents interested in implementing viral diversity monitoring, 9 (65%), 2 (14%), 2 (14%) and 1 (7%) preferred NGS, Sanger sequencing, non-sequencing molecular methods and serotyping, respectively (Figure 3).

Overall, the main limitations to implementing viral diversity monitoring were reported to be financial, followed by inadequate infrastructures, and lack of political support (Figure 4). When examining the responses in relation to the WHO national income classification, financial resources and inadequate infrastructures were the main limitations for those categorized as low- or middle-income (data not shown). While financial reasons were still the main limitation for highincome countries, lack of qualified staff and lack of expertise were also key limitations. Various operational models for monitoring viral diversity with viruses were proposed, with 54% of responses **TABLE 3** Best-fit model of viral diversity monitoring based on replies from 28 participants, with blood transfusion activities,^a stratified according to WHO national income classification.

	WHO national income of			
Models	Low (n = 6)	Medium (n $=$ 10)	High (n $=$ 12)	Total ($n = 28$)
Regional/national reference centre	4 (67%)	4 (40%)	7 (58%)	15 (54%)
In-house local resources	2 (33%)	2 (20%)	1 (8%)	5 (18%)
International collaborative network	-	4 (40%)	2 (17%)	6 (21%)
Other ^b	-	-	2 (17%)	2 (7%)

Abbreviation: WHO, World Health Organization.

556 Vox Sanguinis

^aExcluding four respondents identified as virology research laboratory, industry, medical practitioner or without identification.

^bIncluding collaboration with local research groups or different models used to address different questions.

favouring the use of regional or national reference centres (Table 3). Although developing an international collaborative network was the next most frequent response (24%), no responder classified as low by the WHO national income classification favoured this option. The development of suitable in-house testing based on local resources was also on the radar of 17% of participants.

DISCUSSION

Blood safety is directly challenged by the continuous, and mostly unpredictable, emergence of new viruses (e.g., SARS-CoV-2) and variants of well-characterized viruses that are not limited to those viruses known to be highly variable (e.g., parvovirus B19). Indeed, viral variants have been repeatedly identified in blood donors in recent years [28, 30–32]. Therefore, monitoring viral genomic sequences appears clearly an important initiative for blood operators as agreed by 97% of participants to the present survey. This figure may be biased by the number of participants in the present survey (n = 32) who may represent primarily individuals already actively involved in viral genetic surveillance and may constitute a limitation of the study. However, only slightly less than half of the respondents (47%) indicated that they were currently monitoring viral genomic sequences. An imbalance between participants from countries with different resource levels could also introduce a bias. Although the majority (45%) of respondents were from countries classified as high income, countries classified as middle (35%) and low (21%) income were also represented.

The reasons for the limited monitoring of viral genomic sequences appear to be primarily the lack of financial resources, irrespective of income classification. Limited financial resources result in a lack of adequate infrastructure, and limited access to advanced technologies, but possibly also the lack of qualified staff. Viral genetic monitoring and characterization require a sufficient number of qualified, trained and competent staff. It might be particularly challenging for blood operators to establish training programmes and develop valorization measures to retain experienced staff [32]. Expertise in viral genetics was also reported as a key limiting factor, suggesting that efforts should be made to more actively involve clinicians and researchers with expertise in molecular virology, epidemiology and infectious diseases in the blood transfusion field. Ultimately, the development of methods for monitoring viral genomic sequences will depend heavily on political will to allocate the necessary resources, as participants indicated.

Different methods exist for monitoring viral genomic sequences. Genotype-specific (RT)-PCR amplification is a relatively inexpensive approach that does not require very advanced technology. However, the level of information provided remains limited. Sanger sequencing of PCR amplicons of full-length or partial viral genomes directly or after cloning remains a method of choice to characterize viral diversity. NGS is becoming an attractive alternative for 47% of participants. Compared to Sanger sequencing, NGS can identify a greater diversity of variants and provide the information to enable the broader comparison of genetic relationships in a population of viruses [33]. However, NGS requires costly sophisticated equipment, not only for sequencing itself but also for sample preparation and expensive maintenance. The development of portable third-generation sequencing, based on nanopore technology, is a promising alternative, which applies long-read single-molecule sequencing directly to amplified whole viral genomes, allowing also for the direct identification of recombination events within and between virus species [34]. This technology has been rapidly implemented successfully in complicated clinical situations to provide rapid viral genome consensus sequencing from field-collected samples in resource-limited settings [35]. However, genomic data analysis is complex and may require additional bioinformatics resources and staff training, regardless of the NGS methodology used [36]. Despite these limitations, NGS-based approaches may offer a greater level of data enrichment that may allow for more substantial analyses [18]. Ultimately, the choice of methodological approach will depend on the type of infrastructure available.

Various operational models have been proposed for monitoring viral genomic sequences, ranging from in-house to national and regional reference centres. The majority of participants favoured the use of regional or national reference centres, which present the advantage of re-grouping resources and expertise, and potentially allow for the implementation of the most advanced technologies. However, this option requires initially expensive infrastructure, adequate centralized management and a strong political will to provide financial resources over the long term. Small local facilities may be more affordable when combined with the use of less sophisticated but nonetheless valuable sequencing facilities, particularly in resource-limited settings that may face practical difficulties in transporting samples to centralized sequencing facilities. The establishment of international collaborations to pool resources and expertise can be an interesting approach. Collaborative networks such as those developed within the ISBT TTID WP have proven to be effective in sharing knowledge, providing practical training and securing national and international funding. However, only 21% of participants, mainly from middle-income settings, favoured this option. Although limited in number, no participant from a low-resource region chose this option. The reasons why are unclear but may be related to difficulties in sample transport and delays in getting information back, local regulations or concerns around being too dependent on other organizations. Although analysing donor viral sequences has many applications, there are limitations to relying only on such sequences, and future studies should utilize viral sequences from donors and the general population. Ultimately, the approach used will depend on individual settings or regional circumstances.

It is clear that blood operators and public health are inherently linked. The present survey showed that there is a dominant feeling among blood operators that collaboration between the two needs to be improved. Efforts should be made to break down any silos between the two. It would be interesting to hear from public health actors about this guestion. Nevertheless, blood operators often have national coverage, have access to specimens from a healthy subset of the population and have experience undertaking large-scale donor surveillance using the most sensitive methods available [37]. The role of blood operators as members of the one-health community became evident with the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, which saw blood operators undertake large seroprevalence studies to inform public health policy [38]. Moreover, blood donor viral sequences have informed various public health initiatives [39, 40]. In front of the globalization of human and animal population travel, human activities with increased risk of zoonotic infections, and the environmental changes leading to the geographical expansion of viral vectors, blood operators and the transfusion medicine community should be prepared to actively engage in surveillance of emerging viral infections as a major actor in public health and in order to ensure optimal blood safety.

In conclusion, monitoring for genetic diversity of blood-borne viruses appears important given the many applications for blood safety and global public health. It is important for enhanced collaboration between blood operators and public health authorities to enable the greatest benefits to be afforded. While national and regional reference centres may provide the most suitable place for such monitoring, international collaborations should not be overlooked. Overcoming financial hurdles will be important. This review of practices inevitably leads to questions regarding the next steps that blood operators and the transfusion medicine community can play in the genetic characterization of blood-borne viruses. There are three core options including (1) conceptualization of specific multi-regional studies to characterize blood-borne viruses identified in blood donors; (2) development of networks to support the implementation of viral

molecular characterization, especially in limited-resourced settings; and (3) creation of grant-writing teams to identify and compete for research grants focused on this theme.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We acknowledge members of the ISBT TTID WP who anonymously completed the survey used in this study. Australian Governments fund Australian Red Cross Lifeblood to provide blood, blood products and services to the Australian community.

D.C., S.J.D. and H.M.F. contributed to study design, data interpretation and manuscript editing. All authors approved the final manuscript. Open access publishing facilitated by University of the Sunshine Coast, as part of the Wiley - University of the Sunshine Coast agreement via the Council of Australian University Librarians.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

S.J.D. has been a paid consultant on transfusion-transmitted arboviruses and malaria for Roche. He has functioned as a content expert for respiratory viruses for Johnson & Johnson (Janssen) and has received funding in-kind from Abbott. D.C. has received research funding from Grifols Diagnostic Solutions Inc. H.F. has received research funding and/or honoraria from Grifols Diagnostic Solutions Inc. and Roche Diagnostic Solutions.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data sharing not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study.

ORCID

Daniel Candotti ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7738-5373 Steven J. Drews ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2519-1109 Helen M. Faddy ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3446-8248

REFERENCES

- Nasir A, Kim KM, Caetano-Anolles G. Viral evolution: primordial cellular origins and late adaptation to parasitism. Mob Genet Elements. 2012;2:247–52.
- Sanjuan R, Domingo-Calap P. Genetic diversity and evolution of viral populations. Encyclopedia of Virology. 2021:53–61.
- Duffy S, Shackelton LA, Holmes EC. Rates of evolutionary change in viruses: patterns and determinants. Nat Rev Genet. 2008;9:267–76.
- 4. Domingo E, Perales C. Viral quasispecies. PLoS Genet. 2019;15: e1008271.
- Zhang Y, Gao Z, Wang S, Liu J, Paul N, He T, et al. Hepatitis C virus genotype/subtype distribution and evolution among Chinese blood donors: revealing recent viral expansion. PLoS One. 2020;15: e0235612.
- Bes M, Piron M, Casamitjana N, Gregori J, Esteban JI, Ribera E, et al. Epidemiological trends of HIV-1 infection in blood donors from Catalonia, Spain (2005–2014). Transfusion. 2017;57:2164–73.
- Grabarczyk P, Garmiri P, Liszewski G, Doucet D, Sulkowska E, Brojer E, et al. Molecular and serological characterization of hepatitis B virus genotype A and D infected blood donors in Poland. J Viral Hepat. 2010;17:444–52.
- Phan NMH, Faddy HM, Flower RL, Dimech WJ, Spann KM, Roulis EV. Low genetic diversity of hepatitis B virus surface gene amongst Australian blood donors. Viruses. 2021;13:13.

- 9. Sharp PM, Hahn BH. Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2011;1:a006841.
- Nakano T, Lau GM, Lau GM, Sugiyama M, Mizokami M. An updated analysis of hepatitis C virus genotypes and subtypes based on the complete coding region. Liver Int. 2012;32:339–45.
- Hedskog C, Parhy B, Chang S, Zeuzem S, Moreno C, Shafran SD, et al. Identification of 19 novel hepatitis C virus subtypes-further expanding HCV classification. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019;6:ofz076.
- 12. Kramvis A. Genotypes and genetic variability of hepatitis B virus. Intervirology. 2014;57:141–50.
- Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S. Global and regional distribution of HIV-1 genetic subtypes and recombinants in 2004. AIDS. 2006;20:W13–23.
- Araujo NM. Hepatitis B virus intergenotypic recombinants worldwide: an overview. Infect Genet Evol. 2015;36:500–10.
- Deng X, Guo X, Li T, Laperche S, Zang L, Candotti D. Alternative hepatitis B virus DNA confirmatory algorithm identified occult hepatitis B virus infection in Chinese blood donors with non-discriminatory nucleic acid testing. Blood Transfus. 2022;20:8–17.
- Zahn A, Allain JP. Hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus bind to heparin: purification of largely IgG-free virions from infected plasma by heparin chromatography. J Gen Virol. 2005;86:677–85.
- Satoh K, Iwata-Takakura A, Yoshikawa A, Gotanda Y, Tanaka T, Yamaguchi T, et al. A new method of concentrating hepatitis B virus (HBV) DNA and HBV surface antigen: an application of the method to the detection of occult HBV infection. Vox Sang. 2008;95: 174–80.
- Houldcroft CJ, Beale MA, Breuer J. Clinical and biological insights from viral genome sequencing. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2017;15: 183–92.
- Gilchrist CA, Turner SD, Riley MF, Petri WA Jr, Hewlett EL. Wholegenome sequencing in outbreak analysis. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2015; 28:541–63.
- Edelmann A, Kalus U, Oltmann A, Stein A, Unbehaun A, Drosten C, et al. Improvement of an ultrasensitive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction targeting the long terminal repeat region. Transfusion. 2010;50: 685–92.
- Foglieni B, Candotti D, Guarnori I, Raffaele L, Berzuini A, Spreafico M, et al. A cluster of human immunodeficiency virus Type 1 recombinant form escaping detection by commercial genomic amplification assays. Transfusion. 2011;51:719–30.
- El Chaar M, Candotti D, Crowther RA, Allain JP. Impact of hepatitis B virus surface protein mutations on the diagnosis of occult hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology. 2010;52:1600–10.
- Caligiuri P, Cerruti R, Icardi G, Bruzzone B. Overview of hepatitis B virus mutations and their implications in the management of infection. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:145–54.
- Drews SJ, Makowski K, Wood H, Dimitrova K, Yan MTS, Young D, et al. A case series of inactivated Japanese encephalitis virus vaccination associated with positive West Nile virus blood donor screening nucleic acid tests. Transfusion. 2020;60:1097–103.
- Candotti D, Assennato SM, Laperche S, Allain JP, Levicnik-Stezinar S. Multiple HBV transfusion transmissions from undetected occult infections: revising the minimal infectious dose. Gut. 2019;68: 313–21.
- Moudy RM, Meola MA, Morin LL, Ebel GD, Kramer LD. A newly emergent genotype of West Nile virus is transmitted earlier and more efficiently by Culex mosquitoes. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2007;77: 365–70.

- Abdou Chekaraou M, Brichler S, Mansour W, Le Gal F, Garba A, Deny P, et al. A novel hepatitis B virus (HBV) subgenotype D (D8) strain, resulting from recombination between genotypes D and E, is circulating in Niger along with HBV/E strains. J Gen Virol. 2010;91:1609–20.
- 28. Baylis SA, O'Flaherty N, Burke L, Hogema B, Corman VM. Identification of rabbit hepatitis E virus (HEV) and novel HEV clade in Irish Blood Donors. J Hepatol. 2022;77:870-2.
- 29. Pesko KN, Ebel GD. West Nile virus population genetics and evolution. Infect Genet Evol. 2012;12:181–90.
- Uche El, Chukwukaodinaka NE, Akinbami AA, Adeyemi Ol, Hassan AO, Bamiro RA, et al. Common hepatitis B virus genotypes among blood donors in Lagos, Nigeria. Niger Postgrad Med J. 2022;29:228–35.
- Ye X, Liu L, Chen L, Nie X, Huang L, Ye D, et al. High-frequency notable HBV mutations identified in blood donors with occult hepatitis B infection from Heyuan city of Southern China. Front Immunol. 2022; 13:754383.
- van Hulst M, Smit Sibinga CT, Postma MJ. Health economics of blood transfusion safety—focus on sub-Saharan Africa. Biologicals. 2010;38:53–8.
- Drews SJ. Taxonomy and classification of viruses. Manual of clinical microbiology. 12th ed. Washington DC: ASM Press; 2023.
- McNaughton AL, Roberts HE, Bonsall D, de Cesare M, Mokaya J, Lumley SF. Illumina and nanopore methods for whole genome sequencing of hepatitis B virus (HBV). Sci Rep. 2019;9:7081.
- 35. Quick J, Loman NJ, Duraffour S, Simpson JT, Severi E, Cowley L, et al. Real-time, portable genome sequencing for Ebola surveillance. Nature. 2016;530:228–32.
- Maljkovic Berry I, Melendrez MC, Bishop-Lilly KA, Rutvisuttinunt W, Pollett S, Talundzic E, et al. Next generation sequencing and bioinformatics methodologies for infectious disease research and public health: approaches, applications, and considerations for development of laboratory capacity. J Infect Dis. 2020;221:S292–307.
- O'Brien SF, Drews SJ, Lewin A, Osiowy C, Drebot MA, Renaud C. Canadian blood suppliers: an expanding role in public health surveillance? Can Commun Dis Rep. 2022;48:124–30.
- O'Brien SF, Caffrey N, Yi QL, Pambrun C, Drews SJ. SARS-CoV-2 seroprevalence among Canadian blood donors: the advance of Omicron. Viruses. 2022;14:2336.
- 39. Tassachew Y, Belyhun Y, Abebe T, Mihret A, Teffera T, Ababi G, et al. Magnitude and genotype of hepatitis delta virus among chronic hepatitis B carriers with a spectrum of liver diseases in Ethiopia. Ann Hepatol. 2023;28:100770.
- 40. Barzon L, Montarsi F, Quaranta E, Monne I, Pacenti M, Michelutti A, et al. Early start of seasonal transmission and co-circulation of West Nile virus lineage 2 and a newly introduced lineage 1 strain, northern Italy, June 2022. Euro Surveill. 2022;27:2200548.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Candotti D, Drews SJ, Faddy HM, ISBT Transfusion-Transmitted Infectious Diseases Working Party, Subgroup on Viruses. Monitoring viral genomic sequences in transfusion-transmitted viruses. Vox Sang. 2023; 118:551–8. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13445

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Vox Sanguinis Solity International Society

Intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia after autologous stem cell transplantation in patients prophylactically transfused with platelets

Andreas Voß¹ | Andrea Doescher² | Hans-Hermann Kapels² | Axel Seltsam^{2,3} | Andreas Greinacher⁴ | Bernd Metzner¹ | Thomas H. Müller^{2,5}

¹Department of Oncology and Haematology, University Hospital at Klinikum Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany

²Department of Transfusion Medicine, Blood Donor Service NSTOB, Oldenburg, Germany

³Bavarian Red Cross Blood Service, Nuremberg, Germany

⁴Institute of Transfusion Medicine, University Medicine Greifswald, Greifswald, Germany

⁵Department of Clinical Transfusion Medicine, Metropolitan Hospital, Braunschweig, Germany

Correspondence

Thomas H. Müller, Department of Clinical Transfusion Medicine, Klinikum, Braunschweig, Germany. Email: t.mueller@skbs.de

Funding information Authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Large clinical trials have demonstrated that some patient groups with hypoproliferative thrombocytopenia benefit from prophylactic platelet transfusions, while in others, a therapeutic transfusion regimen might be sufficient. The remaining capacity to generate endogenous platelets might be helpful to select the platelet transfusion regimen. We assessed whether the recently described method of digital droplet polymerase chain reaction (PCR) can be used to assess the endogenous platelet levels in two groups of patients undergoing high-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT).

Materials and Methods: Multiple myeloma (n = 22) patients received high-dose melphalan alone (HDMA); lymphoma patients (n = 15) received BEAM or TEAM (B/TEAM) conditioning. Patients with a total platelet count <10 G/L received prophylactic apheresis platelet concentrates. Daily endogenous platelet counts were measured by digital droplet PCR for at least 10 days post-ASCT.

Results: Post-transplantation B/TEAM patients received their first platelet transfusion on average 3 days earlier than HDMA patients (p < 0.001) and required about twofold more platelet concentrates (p < 0.001). The endogenous platelet count fell ≤ 5 G/L for a median of 115 h (91–159; 95% confidence interval) in B/TEAM-treated patients compared to 12.6 h (0–24) (p < 0.0001) in HDMA-treated patients. Multivariate analysis confirmed this profound effect of the high-dose regimen (p < 0.001). The CD-34⁺-cell dose in the graft was inversely correlated with the intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia in B/TEAM-treated patients.

Conclusion: Monitoring endogenous platelet counts detects the direct effects of myelosuppressive chemotherapies on platelet regeneration. This approach may help to develop a platelet transfusion regimen tailored to specific patient groups.

Keywords

autologous blood stem cell transplantation, endogenous platelets, platelet transfusion, thrombocytopenia, transfusion strategy

Highlights

- Digital polymerase chain reaction (PCR) allows endogenously produced platelets and transfused platelets to be differentiated in patients with hypoproliferative thrombocytopenia.
- After high-dose chemotherapy with autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation in myeloma or lymphoma patients, the time span with endogenous platelet counts ≤5 G/L (a threshold for elevated bleeding risk) varies substantially between the two conditioning regimens studied.
- Digital PCR may allow the identification of treatment regimens that maintain the platelet count predominantly at >5 G/L during the aplasia period, possibly making those patients suitable for a therapeutic platelet transfusion strategy.

INTRODUCTION

Hypoproliferative thrombocytopenia is common in haematooncological patients. Bleeding risk and quality of life have to be balanced against rare but serious hazards of platelet transfusions, for example, transfusion-related sepsis [1]. Furthermore, supply issues may limit patient treatment in medical settings with the restricted availability of platelet concentrates. The two main strategies are therapeutic platelet transfusions only in case of symptomatic bleeding and prophylactic platelet transfusion when the threshold of ≤ 10 G/L platelets has been reached, independent of bleeding symptoms.

Wandt et al. [2] directly compared both strategies in a randomized prospective trial in 391 haemato-oncology patients. The therapeutic transfusion strategy reduced the number of platelet transfusions by 33.5% relative to a prophylactic transfusion strategy triggered by a platelet count of 10 G/L without an overall increase in major bleeding. The investigators concluded that therapeutic transfusions should become the standard of care for patients with high-dose chemotherapy and autologous transplantation [3] treated in experienced centres. Stanworth et al. [4] assessed clinical bleeding (WHO stage 2-4) in a prospective trial in 598 thrombocytopenic patients with characteristics similar to the Wandt trial. They also randomly assigned patients to either a prophylactic (platelet trigger: 10 G/L) or a therapeutic platelet transfusion regimen. The pre-defined subgroup analysis [5] indicated that prophylactic platelet transfusions were somewhat more effective in patients undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplantation compared to patients undergoing autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT). A major dilemma of these studies is that the total platelet count cannot differentiate between transfused platelets and endogenous platelets produced by the bone marrow of the patient. This is probably highly important, as endogenous platelets have a better haemostatic capacity compared to stored, transfused platelets [6]. Hanson and Slichter [7] estimated from the kinetics of radioactively labelled platelets in healthy volunteers and thrombocytopenic patients a daily need of up to 7 G/L platelets to maintain the integrity of the vascular lining. By monitoring faecal blood loss after injections of ⁵¹Cr-labelled autologous red blood cells [8], a sharp increase in blood loss was detected when platelet counts declined ≤5 G/L. Based on this observation, patients in whom the endogenous platelets decrease ≤5 G/L might be at a higher risk for bleeding than patients in whom this threshold is maintained independently of platelet transfusions.

Digital polymerase chain reaction (PCR) reliably detects low platelet counts as validated by flow cytometry [9] and differentiates between endogenous and transfused platelets. We applied digital PCR to daily monitor the endogenous platelet counts in patients undergoing ASCT for multiple myeloma or malignant lymphoma and found substantial differences between the two groups in the duration the endogenous platelet counts decreased below 5 G/L. This information can be used for the design of future trials.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient population

All ASCT patients recruited into the CAPTURE study [10] at the Oldenburg site with the diagnosis of a multiple myeloma or a

TABLE 1 Characteristics of patients according to the high-dose (HD)-treatment group (melphalan alone vs. B/TEAM).

	Melphalan alone (n = 22)	B/TEAM (n = 15)
Median age, years (range)	59 (45–74)	58 (37–65)
Male/female, n (%)	16 (73)/6 (27)	10 (67)/5 (33)
Median number of prior treatments (range)	2 (1-3)	2 (1-5)
Prior radiotherapy		
Yes, n (%)	6 (27)	2 (13)
Prior HD with ASCT		
Yes, n (%)	5 (23)	0 (0)
Febrile neutropenia		
Yes, n (%)	16 (73)	14 (94)
Median number of days with neutropenia (range)	6.5 (5-10)	8 (5–15)
Median number of days with fever (range)	2.5 (0-10)	5 (0-14)
Stem cell dose infused: median number of CD-34 ⁺ - cells \times 10 ⁶ /kg (range)	3.6 (2.1-8.6)	3.5 (2.2–10.8)

Vox Sanguinis

Study design

4230410, 2023, 7, Downloaded from

1 http:

doi/10.1111/vox.13445 by Cornel

on [24/02/2025]

QA

ned by the applicable

malignant lymphoma and allocated to ASCT were included. After completion of the CAPTURE trial, seven additional lymphoma patients were included to adequately represent both patient groups. These patients were treated according to the CAPTURE protocol and received standard apheresis platelet concentrates.

Ethics approval and informed consent

The study was approved by the institutional ethics review board (Medical University Oldenburg). Each patient provided written informed consent at least 48 h before the collection of the first blood sample. All blood donors provided informed consent.

During the study period of at least 10 days after transplantation, a daily blood sample was collected from each participant to determine the morning platelet and white blood cell (WBC) counts in 3 mL samples of EDTA anticoagulated blood with the ADVIA 2120i (Siemens Healthineers AG, Erlangen, Germany) in the optical mode. Fever was attributed to an increase in the body temperature to \geq 38°C.

All patients received G-CSF (approx. 5 μ g/kg bodyweight s.c.) from day +1 after ASCT until stable WBC counts of ≥ 1 G/L were observed. Following the first platelet transfusion, an additional 3 mL daily EDTA blood sample was taken daily to measure endogenous platelets.



FIGURE 1 Time to consecutive platelet transfusions within 10 days after autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) for 13 melphalan alone (dotted line) and 13 B/TEAM-HD patients with ASCT (solid line). Data from all patients in the study supported with standard single donor platelet concentrates (not irradiated with UVC for pathogen reduction). The cumulative incidences differed between both patient groups for each transfusion series (p < 0.001; log-rank test).

Diagnosis and chemotherapy regimen of the patient groups

Multiple myeloma patients (n = 22): 16 patients were treated with the standard dose of melphalan (200 mg/m²) and 6 patients were treated with a melphalan regimen adapted to age or renal insufficiency (1 pt 100 mg/m² and 5 pts 140 mg/m²).

Malignant lymphoma patients (n = 15): six patients with relapsed diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, four with T-cell lymphoma, two with Hodgkin's disease, two relapsed follicular lymphoma and one mantle cell lymphoma. All received high-dose chemotherapy BEAM (BCNU, etoposide, cytarabine and melphalan) with the exception of the relapsed follicular lymphoma patient who received TEAM (thiotepa, etoposide, cytarabine and melphalan) due to pulmonary comorbidity.

For all patients, peripheral blood stem cells had been collected by standard apheresis procedures in the JACIE-accredited centre in Oldenburg. The number of CD-34⁺-cells in each stem cell preparation was measured with the BD stem cell enumeration kit (344563) and the FACSCanto II system (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany).

Endogenous platelet measurements

Sample preparation, DNA extraction, primers, probes, PCR conditions and instrumentation for digital PCR were reported [9]. A patient sample collected after study inclusion and before the first platelet transfusion, as well as a sample from each platelet concentrate administered, were genotyped for seven mitochondrial markers [9]. An endogenous platelet count versus time post-ASCT curve was interpolated in R (loess function automatically optimized for span) for each individual patient. From these curves, the time points (in hours) when the endogenous platelet count declined below and returned above a threshold (5 and 10 G/L, respectively) were derived and expressed as duration in hours and as cumulative area AUT in h G/L of the endogenous platelet count versus time curve spent below these threshold levels. All parameters were calculated from the daily endogenous platelet counts by procedures in R (version 4.2.2).

Platelet transfusion

Single donor platelet concentrates with a mean platelet number of 3.2×10^{11} (range: $2.4-4.3 \times 10^{11}$) were collected by apheresis. All patients received unselected single donor platelet concentrates.

Some patients with myeloma (9/22) or lymphoma (2/15) were randomized to the group transfused with UVC-treated platelet concentrates instead of standard (i.e., non-UVC-treated) platelet concentrates.

Statistics

Statistical comparisons (log-rank, Mann–Whitney U, Kruskal–Wallis or multivariate analysis) were calculated in R. The relation between the

parameters for patient characteristics (Table 1) as exploratory variables and the intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia as the independent variable was assessed by multivariate analysis. Augmented backward elimination [10] was applied to assess whether the number of exploratory variables could be reduced.

RESULTS

The clinical characteristics of the 37 patients treated with high-dose chemotherapy and ASCT are summarized according to their conditioning regimen in Table 1.



FIGURE 2 Total (upper panel and insert) and endogenous (lower panel) platelet counts (median with range in G/L) after HD treatment with melphalan alone (o, n = 22) or B/TEAM (•, n = 15) with autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT). The dotted horizontal lines represent the thresholds of 5 G/L (associated with an increased risk for bleeding) and 10 G/L (trigger for platelet substitution). The grey area indicates the 95% confidence interval.

TABLE 2 Parameters to assess the intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia by daily measurements of endogenous platelets according to the high-dose (HD)-treatment group.

HD with:	Melphalan alone (n	= 22)	B/TEAM (n = 15)		
Endogenous platelet counts	Median	95% CI	Median	95% CI	р
Absolute nadir					
Counts (G/L)	4.21	(3.46-6.46)	0.59	(0.46-1.81)	<0.0001
after ASCT (h)	192	(192–216)	144	(144–168)	<0.0001
≤5 G/L threshold					
Duration (h)	12.6	(0-24.5)	115	(91–159)	<0.0001
AUT (h·G/L)	6.47	(0-32.3)	317	(232–491)	<0.0001
≤10 G/L threshold					
Duration (h)	59.2	(42.3-75.0)	169	(136–222)	<0.0001
AUT (h·G/L)	183	(108–325)	1036	(833-1472)	<0.0001

Abbreviations: ASCT, autologous stem cell transplantation; AUT, area under the threshold; CI, confidence interval.

TABLE 3 Statistical model of patient characteristics (Table 1) predicting the intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia (assessed as the area under the 5 G/L threshold (AUT) [h·G/L]).

		AUT 5: mean (SD)	Difference (univariate)	Difference (multivariate)	Difference (multivariate reduced by ABE ¹¹)
HD with	Melphalan alone	30.4 (70.8)	-	-	-
	B/TEAM	340 (161)	309 (231 to 388, p < 0.001)	265 (154 to 376, p < 0.001)	292 (224 to 360, p < 0.001)
Gender	Female	222 (208)	-	-	-
	Male	128 (182)	-94 (-232 to 44, p = 0.18)	-102 (-177 to -26, p = 0.010)	-100 (-170 to -31 , $p = 0.006$)
Age	(37.0, 74.0)	156 (192)	1.0 (-6.2 to 8.2, p = 0.78)	3.2 (–0.8 to 7.1, <i>p</i> = 0.11)	3.5 (-0.04 to 7.1, <i>p</i> = 0.053)
Number of previous treatments	(1.0, 5.0)	156 (192)	85 (21 to 148, p = 0.01)	26 (-33 to 85, p = 0.38)	-
Days of neutropenia	(5.0, 15.0)	156 (192)	44 (15 to 74, p = 0.004)	14 (-7 to 35, p = 0.18)	16 (-3.1 to 35, p = 0.098)
Prior radiation	No	168 (193)	-	-	-
	Yes	111 (192)	-57 (-214 to 99, p = 0.46)	-56 (-171 to 62, <i>p</i> = 0.34)	-
Second ASCT	No	175 (202)	-	-	-
	Yes	72 (117)	-103 (-265 to 59, p = 0.20)	11 (-100 to 122, p = 0.85)	-
Days of fever	(0.0, 14.0)	156 (192)	22 (7.6 to 37, <i>p</i> = 0.004)	2.6 (-6.9 to 12, p = 0.58)	-
CD-34 ⁺ -cell dose	(2.1, 10.8)	156 (192)	-32 (-63 to -0.6, p = 0.046)	-17 (-36 to 2.8, p = 0.091)	-19 (-38 to - 0.8, p = 0.041)

Abbreviations: ABE, augmented backward elimination; ASCT, autologous stem cell transplantation; CI, confidence interval; HD, high dose. Bold values with a p < 0.05.

Timing and frequency of platelet transfusions

All platelet transfusions were administered prophylactically. The median number of platelet concentrates transfused within 10 days after ASCT was 2 (mean: 2.0; range: 1–5) for the 22 melphalan HD patients versus 5 (4.7; 3–7) for the 15 B/TEAM-treated patients (p < 0.001, Mann–Whitney U test). Figure 1 summarizes the time course of consecutive transfusions for all patients treated with standard platelet preparations.

The melphalan alone HD patients received their first transfusion later than B/TEAM patients (Figure 1; $\chi^2 = 18.1$; *p* < 0.001). Only

62% of melphalan alone-treated HD patients received a second transfusion, 8% a third and none received a fourth transfusion. All B/TEAM patients, however, required a third and 79% even a fourth transfusion. The cumulative transfusion incidences observed for the standard platelet preparation (administered to 26 patients) did not differ from those for any platelet preparation, that is, including those exposed to UVC for pathogen reduction, in all 37 patients ($\chi^2 \le 1.9$; p > 0.2).

No red cell concentrate was administered to treat overt bleeding. Major bleedings of WHO grade 3 or 4 [1] [10] did not occur in any of the 37 patients.

Duration and intensity of severe thrombocytopenia

The two melphalan alone subgroups of 16 patients treated with the standard high dose of melphalan and 6 patients receiving an adapted melphalan high dose did not differ in their total platelet and their endogenous platelet counts. Therefore, the results are represented in the following for the group of all 22 patients.

The median platelet counts on day 2 before transplantation were in the normal range and comparable for both treatment groups (data not shown). They steadily declined until day 7 and day 4 after transplantation in the melphalan alone and the B/TEAM HD patients, respectively (Figure 2).

In the patients exposed to HD melphalan alone, the median endogenous platelet counts remained above 5 G/L during the entire post-transplant period. They fell below the threshold of 10 G/L only from day 7 to day 9 after ASCT. In contrast, in all B/TEAM-treated patients, the endogenous platelet count decreased below 5 G/L already on day 5 post-transplantation. Their daily median endogenous platelet count remained \leq 5 G/L until day 9 after ASCT.

Curves were fitted to the time series of the daily endogenous platelet counts for each individual patient to characterize the individual intensity of the endogenous thrombocytopenia by the parameters as summarized in Table 2.

In 10 of the 22 melphalan alone HD patients, the endogenous platelet count did not fall below 5 G/L. In 11 of the remaining 12 patients of this HD group, the endogenous platelet count declined to \leq 5 G/L for less than 48 h. A single patient had an endogenous platelet count \leq 5 G/L for 84 h. The treatment course of this individual had been complicated by a respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) pneumonia, likely explaining the low platelet counts.

In contrast, the endogenous platelet counts decreased below 5 G/L in all 15 B/TEAM-HD patients. They remained below this level for a median period of almost 5 days (115 h, Table 2). The integral parameter AUT of the time and the extent of platelet counts \leq 5 G/L were 49-fold lower for the melphalan alone- than for the B/TEAM-HD patients.

The highly significant differences in the time endogenous platelet count decreased below 5 G/L (Table 2) observed between both HD treatment groups were further evaluated by multivariate analysis including all the variables summarized in Table 1. For the threshold of 5 G/L, multivariate models of the AUT (adjusted $r^2 = 0.78$; Table 3) and the duration (adjusted $r^2 = 0.75$; data not shown) as parameters indicating severe endogenous thrombocytopenia consistently revealed the HD-treatment regimen as the most important prognostic factors (p < 0.001). In addition, the patients' gender (p = 0.006) and the dose of CD-34⁺-cells (p = 0.041) were significant predictors in the reduced model obtained by augmented backward elimination [10]. The platelet nadir, however, as an indicator of severe endogenous thrombocytopenia did not provide an adequately powered statistical model (adjusted $r^2 = 0.35$; data not shown) for such predictions.

Next, we assessed, whether the time spent below an endogenous platelet count of ≤ 5 G/L depends on the transplanted CD-34⁺-cell dose. This analysis was only performed for the B/TEAM-HD-treated



FIGURE 3 Intensity of the endogenous thrombocytopenia (assessed as area under the 5 G/L threshold [h·G/L]) in patients after B/TEAM-HD with autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) (n = 15) in relation to the CD-34⁺-cell dose (10⁶/kg) transplanted.

patients as the melphalan alone HD patients barely fell below this threshold. Figure 3 shows that the AUT values significantly declined with an increase in CD-34⁺-cell dose (slope: -54.7; $r^2 = 0.55$; p = 0.0015). In the absence of the data pair from the patient with the highest CD-34⁺-cell dose, the negative slope of the regression line (-65.5; $r^2 = 0.35$; p = 0.026) was still maintained.

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrates consistent and profound differences between the melphalan alone HD and the B/TEAM-HD regimen in the decline in endogenous platelet counts \leq 5 G/L. An endogenous platelet count \leq 5 G/L is a risk factor for increased bleeding according to the studies of Slichter et al. [8] and from the evaluation of over 16,000 patient-days in more than 1000 patients with secondary hypoproliferative thrombocytopenia [12], including patients after highdose chemotherapy with ASCT.

The endogenous platelet count remained ≤ 5 G/L for a median time of almost 5 days in the B/TEAM HD and, thus, approximately 10-fold longer than in the melphalan alone-treated HD patients. This

difference suggests that a therapeutic platelet transfusion strategy may be most appropriate for the melphalan alone-patient group, but could be less safe in patients treated with B/TEAM-HD therapy. Determining the duration the endogenous platelet counts decrease below 5 G/L in different patient and treatment regimen groups by digital droplet PCR may provide the tool to identify patient groups in whom therapeutic platelet transfusion strategy is likely safe.

Multivariate analysis of clinical parameters potentially affecting endogenous thrombocytopenia (Table 3) identified the conditioning regimen as the primary determinant for these differences. As the underlying disease determines the conditioning regimen, we cannot separate the effects of the disease (multiple myeloma vs. malignant lymphoma) from the type of HD chemotherapy (melphalan alone vs. BEAM or TEAM). Our findings cannot rule out that patients with the same underlying disorders but receiving other treatment regimens show a different kinetic of the endogenous platelet count.

The second largest difference in the intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia was observed between female and male patients. Women developed a significant and almost twofold higher intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia in response to HD therapy. This gender difference remains to be confirmed by larger populations, as female patients represented only about one third of the participants in our study.

Another limitation of our study is that a majority of patients were randomly assigned to either standard or UVC-treated platelet concentrates [11]. However, the average number of platelet concentrates transfused in the UVC group of the CAPTURE trial was only about 0.25-fold higher than in the control group [11]. This relatively minor effect does not account for the 2.5-fold higher median number of platelet concentrates transfused to B/TEAM- versus melphalan alone HD patients. On the other hand, enrolment into the CAPTURE trial strengthens our study because patients were systematically followed and managed within a pre-defined study protocol with the same transfusion trigger [11]. Thus, different transfusion regimens could not attribute to the differences in the endogenous platelet count.

At present, clinical routine application of the ddPCR method to differentiate between endogenous and transfused platelets is hampered by a delay of about 5 h from blood sampling to the results [9]. The measurement of the immature platelet fraction (IPF) by haematology analysers offers an intriguing option to more rapidly assess recovery of endogenous platelet production in patients after ASCT. In 112 patients with immune thrombocytopenia, Greene et al. observed a significant inverse correlation between the absolute IPF and an acute bleeding score [13]. However, it needs to be shown whether IPF is as sensitive as ddPCR to detect a low signal given by an endogenous platelet count of 5–10 G/L. Most attempts to predict clinically relevant bleeding events in individuals by daily monitoring signs of minor bleeding have been disappointing so far with the potential exception of haematuria [14, 15].

We fully acknowledge that other parameters [12] like a reduced haematocrit and altered coagulation parameters may further contribute to the risk of bleeding and have to be considered for deciding on the transfusion regimen. An additional example is provided by the only patient with a RSV pneumonia in our study presenting with an intensity of the endogenous thrombocytopenia characteristic for B/TEAM-HD patients despite the melphalan alone treatment. RSV pulmonary infections have been reported to be associated with lower platelet counts [16]. But such cofactors can also be considered in the design of an appropriate clinical trial.

In addition to the already established subgroup analysis [5], platelet trials comparing bleeding risks for transfusion strategies similar to the Wandt [2] and the TOPPS [4] trials may benefit from stratification of ASCT patients according to their HD regimen. Our investigation furthermore demonstrates that monitoring endogenous platelet counts in transfused patients provides a new tool in the search for the optimal platelet transfusion strategy and to design future clinical trials on platelet transfusion strategies for chemotherapy-induced thrombocytopenia not only in haematologic but also in non-haematologic malignancies [17].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We greatly appreciate the kind willingness of all patients to participate in this investigation.

A.V., A.D. and H.K. performed the research; A.S., A.G., B.M. and T.H.M. designed the research study; and all authors analysed the data and wrote this article.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors have nothing to disclose.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Axel Seltsam https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5858-5097 Andreas Greinacher https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8343-7336 Thomas H. Müller https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5417-6787

REFERENCES

- Martin IW, Cohn CS, Delaney M, Fontaine MJ, Shih AW, Dunbar NM, et al. Limitations of current practices in detection of bacterially contaminated blood products associated with suspected septic transfusion reactions. Transfusion. 2021;61:2414–20.
- Wandt H, Schaefer-Eckart K, Wendelin K, Pilz B, Wilhelm M, Thalheimer M, et al. Therapeutic platelet transfusion versus routine prophylactic transfusion in patients with haematological malignancies: an open-label, multicentre, randomised study. Lancet. 2012; 380:1309–16.
- Wandt H, Schafer-Eckart K, Greinacher A. Platelet transfusion in hematology, oncology and surgery. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2014;111: 809–15.
- Stanworth SJ, Estcourt LJ, Powter G, Kahan BC, Dyer C, Choo L, et al. A no-prophylaxis platelet-transfusion strategy for hematologic cancers. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1771–80.
- Refaai MA, Phipps RP, Spinelli SL, Blumberg N. Platelet transfusions: impact on hemostasis, thrombosis, inflammation and clinical outcomes. Thromb Res. 2011;127:287–91.

- Huish S, Green L, Kempster C, Smethurst P, Wiltshire M, Prajapati C, et al. A comparison of platelet function in cold-stored whole blood and platelet concentrates. Transfusion. 2021;61:3224–35.
- Hanson SR, Slichter SJ. Platelet kinetics in patients with bone marrow hypoplasia: evidence for a fixed platelet requirement. Blood. 1985;66:1105–9.
- Slichter SJ, Gernsheimer T, LeBlanc R, Townsend-McCall D, Jones MK, Cuaron L, et al. Fecal blood loss: a quantitative method of evaluating hemostasis in patients with thrombocytopenia. Transfusion. 2021;61:393–403.
- Ali K, Müller TH, Garritsen HSP, Harringer W, Doescher A. Digital PCR to monitor platelet transfusions in cardiac surgery patients. Vox Sang. 2023. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.13422
- Brixner V, Bug G, Pohler P, Kramer D, Metzner B, Voss A, et al. Efficacy of UVC-treated, pathogen-reduced platelets versus untreated platelets: a randomized controlled non-inferiority trial. Haematologica. 2021;106:1086–96.
- Dunkler D, Plischke M, Leffondre K, Heinze G. Augmented backward elimination: a pragmatic and purposeful way to develop statistical models. PLoS One. 2014;9:e113677.
- Uhl L, Assmann SF, Hamza TH, Harrison RW, Gernsheimer T, Slichter SJ. Laboratory predictors of bleeding and the effect of platelet and RBC transfusions on bleeding outcomes in the PLADO trial. Blood. 2017;130:1247–58.
- Greene LA, Chen S, Seery C, Imahiyerobo AM, Bussel JB. Beyond the platelet count: immature platelet fraction and thromboelastometry

correlate with bleeding in patients with immune thrombocytopenia. Br J Haematol. 2014;166:592–600.

- Stanworth SJ, Hudson CL, Estcourt LJ, Johnson RJ, Wood EM, TOPPS Study Investigators. Risk of bleeding and use of platelet transfusions in patients with hematologic malignancies: recurrent event analysis. Haematologica. 2015;100:740–7.
- Balitsky AK, Liu Y, Van der Meer PF, Heddle NM, Arnold DM. Exploring the components of bleeding outcomes in transfusion trials for patients with hematologic malignancy. Transfusion. 2020;61:286–93.
- Small TN, Casson A, Malak SF, Boulad F, Kiehn TE, Stiles J, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2002;29:321–7.
- Kuter DJ. Treatment of chemotherapy-induced thrombocytopenia in patients with non-hematologic malignancies. Haematologica. 2022; 107:1243-63.

How to cite this article: Voß A, Doescher A, Kapels H-H, Seltsam A, Greinacher A, Metzner B, et al. Intensity of endogenous thrombocytopenia after autologous stem cell transplantation in patients prophylactically transfused with platelets. Vox Sang. 2023;118:559–66. Revised: 19 April 2023

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13474

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Temporal trends and geographic variations in perioperative red blood cell transfusion in major surgical procedures from 2013 to 2018 in China

Bo Tang ¹	Yuelun Zhang ²	Xiaohan Xu ¹	Xuerong Yu ¹	Lulu Ma ¹ 💿	I
Yuguang Huai	ng ¹				

¹Department of Anaesthesiology, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences & Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Beijing, China

²Medical Research Centre, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences & Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Beijing, China

Correspondence

Lulu Ma and Yuguang Huang, Department of Anaesthesiology, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences & Peking Union Medical College Hospital, No. 1 Shuaifuyuan, Wangfujing Street, Beijing 100730, China. Email: malulu@pumch.cn and garypumch@ 163.com

Funding information

Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences Innovation Found for Medical Sciences, Grant/Award Number: 2016-I2M-3-024

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Transfusion-related guidelines promote restrictive blood transfusion. However, whether these guidelines have been successfully translated into clinical practice in China is unknown. This study aimed to provide updated information about the temporal trends in the prevalence of perioperative red blood cell (RBC) transfusion in China.

Materials and Methods: We analysed data from the Hospital Quality Monitoring System database (2013–2018) to investigate the prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusion in patients undergoing craniotomy for cerebral aneurysms or arteriovenous malformations, sternotomy for mitral valve replacement, open thoracotomy lobectomy, open gastrectomy and hip arthroplasty. Mixed-effects logistic regression models quantified the likelihood of RBC transfusions.

Results: The study included 438,183 patients, with 44,697 (10.20%) receiving perioperative RBC transfusions. Introducing transfusion-related guidelines in China markedly decreased the prevalence of RBC transfusion among patients who underwent major surgical procedures in the following years. The prevalence of RBC transfusion for hip arthroplasty was 17.34% in 2013 and 7.03% in 2018. After adjusting for patient risk factors, the odds ratio of RBC transfusion for hip arthroplasty was significantly lower in 2018 (0.74, 95% confidence intervals [CI] 0.53–1.02) than in 2013 (1.84, 95% CI 1.37–2.48).

Conclusion: The prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusion decreased from 2013 to 2018 in China, supporting the potential beneficial effects of transfusion-related guidelines. Considering the geographic variations in RBC transfusion, reducing heterogeneity may impact public health by improving surgical outcomes.

Keywords

patient blood management, transfusion strategy, transfusion-surgery

Bo Tang and Yuelun Zhang contributed equally to this work.

Highlights

- We analysed the prevalence of perioperative red blood cell (RBC) transfusion from the national database in China from 2013 to 2018 and assessed 438,183 patients who underwent index surgical procedures.
- The prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusion markedly declined in the years after the transfusion-related guidelines were formally introduced.
- Heterogeneity in the prevalence of RBC transfusion was high among the seven major geographic regions of China.

INTRODUCTION

Red blood cells (RBCs) are commonly transfused in surgical patients during the perioperative period. More than 304.7 million units of blood products were needed by patients worldwide in 2017 [1]. Although RBC transfusion can save lives, it can also result in adverse outcomes, including fatal complications (e.g., transfusion-associated circulatory overload and transfusion-related acute lung injury) [2, 3]. Furthermore, the overuse of RBC products consumes the reserve for patients who require RBC transfusion [1, 4]. These factors jointly increase the risk of morbidity and mortality among surgical patients [5, 6]. Thus, reducing unnecessary RBC transfusions is an appropriate strategy to improve the clinical outcomes of surgical patients.

Restrictive RBC transfusion strategies, by lowering transfusion thresholds, can effectively decrease the likelihood of exposure to RBC products for patients [7, 8]. These strategies are safe for haemodynamically stable surgical patients [8]. Several guidelines and recommendations (issued by the American Association of Blood Banks, UK National Clinical Guideline Centre, etc.) further support restrictive RBC transfusion as a standard of care for surgical patients [9]. Evidence from national data has shown that introducing transfusionrelated guidelines is associated with a decline in perioperative RBC transfusions (e.g., in the United States [10], Canada [11] and Sweden [12]). Although adherence to the guidelines varies [13–16], current evidence supports the notion that transfusion-related guidelines are effective in promoting restrictive RBC transfusion in clinical practice.

In China, approximately 47.9 million surgeries were performed in 2016 [17], and more than 43.2 million units of blood products were required [4]. Given that the practice of perioperative RBC transfusion varies among clinical centres [18-22], restrictive transfusion strategies were formally emphasized in the national perioperative transfusion guideline based on evidence of high-quality clinical trials and metaanalyses in 2014 [23]. This guideline listed several specific transfusion indications in the perioperative period (i.e., haemoglobin <7 dg/L, refractory anaemia patients with symptoms, pre-existing cardiovascular disease and considering transfusion for patients with symptoms or a haemoglobin level of 8 g/dL or less, etc.) and, thus, tends to be more pragmatic than former guidelines. Currently, whether transfusionrelated guidelines have been successfully translated into clinical practice in China is unknown. This study aimed to provide updated information about the temporal trends of perioperative RBC transfusion in China from 2013 to 2018. Furthermore, we investigated the

geographic variations in perioperative RBC transfusions among multiple surgical specialties.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics

This retrospective observational study followed the Standard of Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines [24]. It was approved by the ethics committee of the Peking Union Medical College Hospital, and the requirement for written informed consent was waived by the institutional review board (S-K1047).

Data source

Data for this study were collected from the Hospital Quality Monitoring System (HQMS) database of the People's Republic of China in September 2018. The dataset of the main page information on inpatient medical records available among hospitals in all 31 provincial-level administrative divisions is collected by the National Health Commission. An official data collection system is used to acquire the data from each hospital's information systems. Data on demographic characteristics, surgical procedures based on *ICD-9-CM* (*International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification*) and RBC transfusion information are stored in a specified data management institution. As of August 2018, this database has included inpatient medical records from 1067 (45.6%) tertiary hospitals in China [25]. Details of the database have also been provided in previous studies [26, 27].

Study population and data collection

In this study, we focused on neurological, cardiac, thoracic, abdominal and orthopaedic surgeries, as the patients usually require RBC transfusion [28]. One representative major procedure was selected for each surgical specialty according to the *ICD-9-CM* procedure codes (Table S1) (i.e., craniotomy for cerebral aneurysm or arteriovenous malformations, sternotomy for mitral valve replacement, open thoracotomy lobectomy, open gastrectomy and hip arthroplasty, with

perioperative RBC transfusion prevalence ranging from 5% to 34%) [29–33]. We then collected RBC transfusion data between 1 January 2013 and 1 August 2018, representing the most contemporary data available, and investigated the effect of transfusion guidelines [23]. Patients with incomplete clinical data (i.e., age, sex, admission date, surgical procedures and transfusion-related information) were excluded.

Statistical analysis

Perioperative RBC transfusion is defined as the transfusion of packed RBC products (≥1 unit) during hospitalization [5]. The Agresti–Coull proportion prevalence estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were computed for perioperative RBC transfusion [34].

To investigate the dynamic changes in the likelihood of RBC transfusion, we used mixed-effects logistic regression models to estimate the adjusted odds ratio (aOR) of RBC transfusion in each year compared with the overall prevalence of RBC transfusion (adjusted for age, sex and geographic factors).

To study the effect of geographic region on the likelihood of RBC transfusion, we estimated the aOR of RBC transfusion in various geographic regions of China (adjusted for age, sex and time). Statistical analyses were conducted using R statistical package (version 4.0.3, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

RESULTS

We assessed 36,092,159 patient records from the data management institution between 1 January 2013 and 1 August 2018, among which

Vox Sanguinis

438,183 records from 31 provincial-level administrative divisions in China fulfilled the inclusion criteria (Figure 1). The characteristics of the included population are detailed in Table 1. The mean age of the included population was 40.5–61.5 years (craniotomy for cerebral aneurysms or arteriovenous malformations: 40.5 years, sternotomy for mitral valve replacement: 52.0 years, open thoracotomy lobectomy: 57.5 years, open gastrectomy: 60.1 years and hip arthroplasty: 61.5 years). The overall prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusion ranged from 4.68% to 19.57% among the individuals who underwent these five major surgical procedures (Table 1).

Temporal trends in perioperative RBC transfusions

We found declining trends in the prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusions among the major surgical procedures (Figure 2). Notably, the prevalence of RBC transfusion was reduced after 2014, when transfusion-related guidelines were introduced. For example, among 151,041 patients undergoing hip arthroplasty, the RBC transfusion prevalence decreased from 17.34% (95% CI. 16.85%-17.85%) in 2013 to 6.49% (95% CI, 6.22%-6.77%) in 2017. Furthermore, the declining trend of RBC transfusion prevalence was significant after adjusting for age, sex and geographic factors (aOR 1.84 [95% CI, 1.37-2.48] in 2013 vs. aOR 0.62 [95% CI, 0.46-0.84] in 2017) (Figure 3). We found that the population undergoing major surgical procedures in 2016 and 2017 was less likely to receive RBC transfusions than the population in 2013 and 2014 (Figure 3). Notably, the prevalence of RBC transfusion was higher in 2018 than in 2017 (although lower than in 2013), possibly because the RBC transfusion data available did not cover the entire year of 2018. Studies including the complete



FIGURE 1 Flow diagram for population inclusion. HQMS, Hospital Quality Monitoring System.

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the populations.

	Craniotomy for cerebral aneurysms or arteriovenous malformations (n = 7681)	Sternotomy for mitral valve replacement (n = 71,358)	Open thoracotomy lobectomy (n = 93,285)	Open gastrectomy (n = 114,818)	Hip arthroplasty (n = 151,041)
Age, years	40.5 (18.7)	52.0 (11.4)	57.5 (11.9)	60.1 (11.8)	61.5 (13.9)
Female, <i>n</i> (%)	3556 (46.30)	43,338 (60.73)	33,632 (36.05)	33,500 (29.18)	83,755 (55.45)
RBC transfusion	at procedure year, n (%)				
2013	142 (10.40)	2949 (21.56)	1145 (6.70)	1591 (7.87)	3860 (17.80)
2014	152 (9.31)	3000 (20.66)	1038 (5.06)	1843 (7.49)	4409 (15.19)
2015	138 (9.11)	3133 (20.77)	790 (3.99)	1913 (7.63)	3696 (11.45)
2016	139 (8.07)	2769 (18.04)	775 (4.15)	1728 (6.93)	3022 (8.54)
2017	73 (5.48)	1964 (16.47)	569 (3.56)	1336 (7.21)	1999 (6.67)
2018	8 (7.08)	147 (18.31)	50 (4.09)	127 (8.63)	192 (7.14)
RBC transfusion	at geographic region, n (%)				
Central	286 (12.89)	2878 (26.96)	1536 (10.32)	1127 (9.80)	4791 (20.79)
East	65 (4.07)	2314 (11.05)	386 (1.12)	2105 (4.21)	2679 (4.57)
North	73 (6.02)	3943 (24.85)	559 (5.01)	732 (6.28)	3818 (21.69)
Northeast	21 (3.43)	283 (12.35)	384 (3.12)	1659 (9.59)	856 (6.83)
Northwest	27 (8.26)	1455 (50.31)	259 (11.85)	1007 (16.98)	1167 (27.19)
South	47 (6.69)	1303 (11.74)	133 (2.67)	299 (3.40)	989 (6.54)
Southwest	133 (13.17)	1786 (23.55)	1110 (8.37)	1609 (16.73)	2878 (14.55)

Note: Data were collected from the Hospital Quality Monitoring System database in China. As of August 2018, this database had included inpatient medical records from 45.6% of tertiary hospitals in 31 provincial-level administrative divisions in China. Values are mean (standard deviation) or number (percentage).

Abbreviation: RBC, red blood cell.

data of this year are warranted to further investigate this declining trend.

Geographic variations in perioperative RBC transfusions

Considering the marked diversity of geography and socioeconomic circumstances in China, we investigated whether the prevalence of RBC transfusions varied among distinct geographic regions of China. We found prominent geographic variations in RBC transfusions among the seven regions of China. In Northwest China, the prevalence of RBC transfusion was highest for sternotomy for mitral valve replacement (48.20% [95% CI 46.39%-50.02%]), open thoracotomy lobectomy (11.68% [95% CI 10.41%-13.08%]), open gastrectomy (14.38% [95% CI, 13.57%-15.24%]) and hip arthroplasty (23.05% [95% CI, 21.88%-24.27%]). In comparison, the prevalence was lowest for sternotomy for mitral valve replacement (10.29% [95% CI 9.90%-10.70%]), open thoracotomy lobectomy (1.11% [95% CI 1.01%-1.23%]) and hip arthroplasty (3.71% [95% CI, 3.57%-3.85%]) in East China and lowest for open gastrectomy (2.84% [95% CI 2.54%-3.17%]) in South China. The prevalence of craniotomy for cerebral aneurysms or arteriovenous malformations was highest in Southwest China (14.19% [95% CI 12.13%-16.54%]) and lowest in Northeast China (4.26% [95% CI 2.95%-6.11%]). Consistently, these findings remained significant after adjusting for age, sex and time

(Figure 4). Given the marked geographic variations in RBC transfusion data, our findings provide a foundation for improving homogeneity in perioperative RBC transfusion practices.

DISCUSSION

Exploring the HQMS national database from 2013 to 2018, this study investigated the perioperative RBC transfusion data of 438,183 patients undergoing major surgical procedures in China. Our results showed a significant declining trend in perioperative RBC transfusion among patients (relatively decreased by 62.56%–5.99%). In economically privileged regions (East and South China), the populations showed a lower prevalence of RBC transfusions during the perioperative period. Our study suggests that after the introduction of transfusion-related guidelines in 2014, the prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusion in China has markedly decreased. Data regarding the heterogeneity of RBC transfusion among various regions of China have the potential to guide further clinical improvements in RBC transfusion.

Our study found that the prevalence of RBC transfusion among major surgical procedures reduced from 2013. Given the restrictive strategies introduced by the transfusion-related guidelines in 2014, the results indicate that RBC transfusion practices have potentially improved in China. Evidence has shown that the national guidelines on restrictive transfusion strategies are linked to reduced risks of

571



-- Craniotomy for cerebral aneurysms or arteriovenous malformations -- Open gastrectomy -- Sternotomy for mitral valve replacement -- Open thoracotomy lobectomy -- Hip arthroplasty

FIGURE 2 Temporal trends in the prevalence of perioperative red blood cell (RBC) transfusion among major surgical procedures. The Agresti-Coull proportion prevalence estimates were computed for perioperative RBC transfusion. Note that the prevalence of RBC transfusion reduced after 2014 when the transfusion-related guidelines were introduced [23]. The prevalence of RBC transfusion was higher in 2018 than in 2017 (although lower than in 2013), possibly because the RBC transfusion data available did not cover the entire year of 2018.

unnecessary exposure to blood products in the United States [35] and Canada [11], among other countries [8]. Educational campaigns improve blood transfusion practice [22, 35, 36]. Furthermore, the strength of evidence partially influences the translation of guidelines into clinical practice [37]. In line with prior studies, the decline in RBC transfusion in this study was most prominent in hip arthroplasty (62.56% relative decrease) (robust evidence supporting restrictive strategies in hip fracture) [8, 37] but less significant in open gastrectomy (5.99% relative decrease) (weak evidence for oncological patients) [8]. Notably, caution is needed regarding the inference about improved RBC transfusion practice, as the results may be influenced by confounders (e.g., change in patient characteristics, severity of disease, decreased rate of preoperative anaemia [38], improved surgical techniques [35] and use of tranexamic acid [39]). Further studies should consider these confounders to determine whether transfusion-related guidelines could indeed improve clinical practice.

Aiming to investigate the effects of geographic regions on RBC transfusion in China, we estimated the RBC transfusion prevalence among the seven geographic regions of China. We found that the populations in East and South China were less likely to receive RBC transfusions than those in the other regions. Geographic disparities in RBC transfusion among surgical specialties (total hip and knee arthroplasty [40], among others [15]) were found in the United States. For example, the prevalence of RBC transfusion in

joint arthroplasty showed heterogeneity across various regions (i.e., 15.31% in the Northeast, 14.66% in the South and 9.08% in the Midwest) [40]. A possible explanation for this geographic variation is socioeconomic status. The population in privileged regions tends to have access to more advanced healthcare services (thus, less likely to be exposed to RBC transfusion). Although transfusionrelated guidelines have been introduced, adherence to these guidelines may differ among various regions [18]. Another explanation for the geographic variation is the heterogeneity of preoperative anaemia in populations among distinct regions [38]. Thus, studies are warranted to further investigate the effects of geographic regions on transfusion practice.

This study supports the notion that the introduction of restrictive transfusion strategies into guidelines potentially confers beneficial effects on perioperative RBC transfusion practices. The reduction in unnecessary transfusion can decrease transfusionrelated complications and prompt patient outcomes, as well as conserve blood resources and lower the economic burden [41]. Aiming to standardize transfusion practices, restrictive transfusion strategies were conceptualized in the patient blood management (PBM) programme in 2005, which aims to conserve the patient's own blood [37]. PBM programmes have been initiated in Australia, followed by the United States and European nations and are increasingly being implemented globally [42]. In China, the National Health Commission has supported the implementation of the PBM

Year A	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	
Craniotom	y for cerebral aneurysms or	
arterioven	ous malformations	
2013	1.33 (1.05–1.69)	
2014	1.15 (0.91–1.45)	
2015	1.04 (0.82–1.32)	
2016	0.93 (0.73–1.18)	
2017	0.70 (0.54–0.91)	
2018	0.99 (0.66–1.48)	⊢ I
Sternotom	y for mitral valve	
replaceme	nt 1 17 (1 02_1 22)	
2015	1.17 (1.05-1.55)	
2014	1.12 (0.98–1.27)	
2015	1.12 (0.99–1.27)	
2016	0.92 (0.81–1.05)	-◆
2017	0.81 (0.72–0.93)	
2018	0.91 (0.76–1.09)	
Open thora	acotomy lobectomy	
2013	1.45 (1.20–1.75)	
2014	1.07 (0.89–1.30)	F_ ♦ I
2015	0.84 (0.69–1.02)	-◆
2016	0.83 (0.68–1.01)	⊢
2017	0.82 (0.68–1.00)	
2018	1.12 (0.85–1.48)	├ ── ♦ ─── │
Open gastı	rectomy	
2013	1.06 (0.97–1.15)	H ◆ -I
2014	1.00 (0.92–1.08)	F ⇔ 1
2015	0.99 (0.92–1.07)	I∳-I
2016	0.90 (0.83–0.98)	I ◆ I
2017	0.95 (0.88–1.03)	I ♦ -I
2018	1.11 (0.98–1.26)	I◆1
Hip arthro	olasty	
2013	1.84 (1.37–2.48)	⊢ →
2014	1.51 (1.12–2.03)	⊢
2015	1.06 (0.79–1.43)	⊢
2016	0.74 (0.55–0.99)	
2017	0.62 (0.46–0.84)	
2018	0.74 (0.53–1.02)	├♦
	· · · · ·	1

FIGURE 3 Adjusted odds ratio (aOR) of perioperative red blood cell (RBC) transfusion among major surgical procedures. Mixed-effects logistic regression models were used to calculate the aOR of RBC transfusion each year (adjusted for age, sex and geographic factors). Note that the aOR of RBC transfusion was higher in 2018 than in 2017, potentially due to the lack of RBC transfusion data of the entire year of 2018.

programme [43] and related guidelines [44–46] in recent years. It should be noted that the patients included in this study were likely from economically and socially privileged regions; therefore, the

implementation of transfusion guidelines is expected to be insufficient in the general population. Thus, a public health benefit can be realized from the recognition that restrictive strategies, as well as

Adjusted odds ratio (95%CI)

3







(c) Open thoracotomy lobectomy



(d) Open gastrectomy



(e) Hip arthroplasty



Adjusted odds ratio of **RBC transfusions**

3.5–4.0
3.0–3.5
2.5-3.0
2.0–2.5
1.5-2.0
1.0-1.5
0.5–1.0
0.0-0.5

FIGURE 4 Geographic variations in perioperative red blood cell (RBC) transfusion among major surgical procedures. Mixed-effects logistic regression models were used to calculate the adjusted odds ratio (aOR) of RBC transfusion in various geographic regions (adjusted for age, sex and time). The results showed marked geographic variations in perioperative RBC transfusion among the seven geographic regions in China.

PBM, should be adopted as a standard of care, particularly for the general population. However, caution should be exercised regarding the potential risks of restrictive transfusion. An important concern is that patients with severe baseline illness (e.g., myocardial infarction [8]) may develop serious outcomes due to anaemia. Another concern is the safety of patients with acute ongoing blood loss [47]. Future studies should resolve these concerns to guide safe and effective RBC transfusions in clinical practice.

This study has several limitations. We were unable to determine the causal relationship between the introduction of transfusionrelated guidelines in China and the decline in the prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusion. Our findings require validation in longitudinal research and data on the adherence to the RBC transfusion guidelines. Moreover, the apparent declining trend in the prevalence of RBC transfusion is likely to be confounded by the severity of anaemia and the advancement of surgical techniques. Selection bias is another limitation that should be considered. Given that the available data allowed us to include patients in 45.6% of tertiary hospitals in China and considering that the included patients are likely from privileged regions, the estimates of RBC transfusion prevalence in China may be higher than the observed data. In addition, we did not collect complete data in 2018; therefore, the composition of hospitals that had uploaded data to HQMS in 2018 might be different from that in previous years, and our data may be less comprehensive. Thus, this limitation should be considered when interpreting the transfusion prevalence in 2018. A further limitation is the geographic variation in RBC transfusion. The heterogeneity of RBC transfusion among distinct regions could be confounded by various factors, including preoperative haemoglobin level, disease severity and blood loss during surgery. Further studies are warranted to address these important questions, and such research would provide insights into the effects of transfusion-related guidelines.

In summary, evidence from this study suggests that the prevalence of perioperative RBC transfusion in China has declined in multiple major surgical procedures after the year when the transfusion-related guidelines were introduced. In light of the geographic variations in RBC transfusion practice and the risks of transfusion-related complications, the findings support the view that transfusion-related guidelines should be adopted, particularly for the general population. Although the findings suggest that transfusionrelated guidelines may accrue substantial health and economic benefits from restrictive strategies, future studies are warranted to explore the safety issues regarding restrictive transfusion in populations with various medical conditions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the National Health Commission of China for allowing us to obtain access to Hospital Quality Monitoring System and the local hospitals for their efforts in data collection. This study was funded by the Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences Innovation Found for Medical Sciences (grant number: 2016-I2M-3-024) to Y.H. L.M. and Y.H. conceptualized, designed, supervised and provided administrative, technical or material support. B.T. drafted the manuscript and performed statistical analysis. Y.Z. performed statistical analysis and provided administrative, technical or material support. All authors acquire, analysed or interpreted the data and provided critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ORCID

Lulu Ma D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0895-6862

REFERENCES

- Roberts N, James S, Delaney M, Fitzmaurice C. The global need and availability of blood products: a modelling study. Lancet Haematol. 2019;6:e606-e15.
- Delaney M, Wendel S, Bercovitz RS, Cid J, Cohn C, Dunbar NM, et al. Transfusion reactions: prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Lancet. 2016;388:2825–36.
- Semple JW, Rebetz J, Kapur R. Transfusion-associated circulatory overload and transfusion-related acute lung injury. Blood. 2019;133: 1840-53.
- Yu X, Wang Z, Shen Y, Liu Z, Wang H, Zhang S, et al. Populationbased projections of blood supply and demand, China, 2017–2036. Bull World Health Organ. 2020;98:10–8.
- Yuan Y, Zhang Y, Shen L, Xu L, Huang Y. Perioperative allogeneic red blood cell transfusion and wound infections: an observational study. Anesth Analg. 2020;131:1573–81.
- Hollis R, Singletary B, McMurtrie J, Graham L, Richman J, Holcomb C, et al. Blood transfusion and 30-day mortality in patients with coronary artery disease and anemia following noncardiac surgery. JAMA Surg. 2016;151:139–45.
- Holst LB, Petersen MW, Haase N, Perner A, Wetterslev J. Restrictive versus liberal transfusion strategy for red blood cell transfusion: systematic review of randomised trials with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. BMJ. 2015;350:h1354.
- Carson JL, Stanworth SJ, Dennis JA, Trivella M, Roubinian N, Fergusson DA, et al. Transfusion thresholds for guiding red blood cell transfusion. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;12:Cd002042.
- Franchini M, Marano G, Mengoli C, Pupella S, Vaglio S, Muñoz M, et al. Red blood cell transfusion policy: a critical literature review. Blood Transfus. 2017;15:307–17.
- Nordestgaard A, Rasmussen L, Sillesen M, Steinmetz J, Eid A, Meier K, et al. Red blood cell transfusion in surgery: an observational study of the trends in the USA from 2011 to 2016. Anaesthesia. 2020;75:455–63.
- Zuckerman J, Coburn N, Callum J, Mahar AL, Zuk V, Lin Y, et al. Declining use of red blood cell transfusions for gastrointestinal cancer surgery: a population-based analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2021;28: 29–38.
- Auvinen M, Zhao J, Lassén E, Lubenow N, Seger Mollén A, Watz E, et al. Patterns of blood use in Sweden from 2008 to 2017: a nationwide cohort study. Transfusion. 2020;60:2529–36.

575

- Magruder J, Blasco-Colmenares E, Crawford T, Alejo D, Conte J, Salenger R, et al. Variation in red blood cell transfusion practices during cardiac operations among centers in Maryland: results from a state quality-improvement collaborative. Ann Thorac Surg. 2017; 103:152–60.
- Abdelsattar Z, Hendren S, Wong S, Campbell D, Henke P. Variation in transfusion practices and the effect on outcomes after noncardiac surgery. Ann Surg. 2015;262:1–6.
- Bennett-Guerrero E, Zhao Y, O'Brien SM, Ferguson TB Jr, Peterson ED, Gammie JS, et al. Variation in use of blood transfusion in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. JAMA. 2010;304: 1568–75.
- Qiang JK, Thompson T, Callum J, Pinkerton P, Lin Y. Variations in RBC and frozen plasma utilization rates across 62 Ontario community hospitals. Transfusion. 2019;59:545–54.
- National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. Statistical Bulletin of China's Health Development in 2020. [cited 2022 Mar 28]. Available from: moz-extension://dd255dcd-b97a-478fa2b0-93fbb311161a/assets/pdf/web/viewer.html?file=http%3A% 2F%2Fwww.nhc.gov.cn%2Fmohwsbwstjxxzx%2Ftjtjnj%2F202112 %2Fdcd39654d66c4e6abf4d7b1389becd01%2Ffiles%2F7325fee 02bf84676a15ebcfa827c9cd5.pdf.
- Kong Y, Wang X, Yin Y, Tian X, Li L, Wang J, et al. Appropriateness of red blood cell use in China in the last thirteen years: a systematic review. Heliyon. 2019;5:e01408.
- 19. Yu X, Chen W, Liu Z, Huang Y. Safety and current status of blood transfusion in China: an update. Lancet Haematol. 2016;3:e60–2.
- Zhu C, Gao Y, Li Z, Li Q, Gao Z, Liao Y, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the clinical appropriateness of blood transfusion in China. Medicine. 2015;94:e2164.
- Zhang R, Wu Z, Wang Z, Ye S, Li C, Lu L, et al. Current status of clinical transfusion practice in Sichuan, China: a cross-sectional survey. Transfus Apher Sci. 2018;57:65–70.
- Yao Y, Li J, Wang M, Chen Z, Wang W, Lei L, et al. Improvements in blood transfusion management: cross-sectional data analysis from nine hospitals in Zhejiang, China. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018; 18:856.
- Chinese Society of Anesthesiology. Chinese anesthesiology: guidelines and expert consensus. 1st ed. Beijing, China: People's Medical Publishing House; 2014.
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Lancet. 2007;370: 1453–7.
- Jiang L, Krumholz HM, Li X, Li J, Hu S. Achieving best outcomes for patients with cardiovascular disease in China by enhancing the quality of medical care and establishing a learning health-care system. Lancet. 2015;386:1493–505.
- Yee JN, Koht A, McCarthy RJ, Bebawy JF. Factors associated with blood transfusion during intracranial aneurysm surgery. J Clin Anesth. 2017;36:164–7.
- Liu S, Zhou R, Xia XQ, Ren H, Wang LY, Sang RR, et al. Machine learning models to predict red blood cell transfusion in patients undergoing mitral valve surgery. Ann Transl Med. 2021; 9:530.
- Leahy MF, Hofmann A, Towler S, Trentino KM, Burrows SA, Swain SG, et al. Improved outcomes and reduced costs associated with a health-system-wide patient blood management program: a retrospective observational study in four major adult tertiary-care hospitals. Transfusion. 2017;57:1347–58.
- Seicean A, Alan N, Seicean S, Neuhauser D, Selman WR, Bambakidis NC. Risks associated with preoperative anemia and perioperative blood transfusion in open surgery for intracranial aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 2015;123:91–100.

- Al-Ameri M, Bergman P, Franco-Cereceda A, Sartipy U. Video-assisted thoracoscopic versus open thoracotomy lobectomy: a Swedish nationwide cohort study. J Thorac Dis. 2018; 10:3499–506.
- Houston BL, Fergusson DA, Falk J, Krupka E, Perelman I, Breau RH, et al. Evaluation of transfusion practices in noncardiac surgeries at high risk for red blood cell transfusion: a retrospective cohort study. Transfus Med Rev. 2021;35:16–21.
- Suh YS, Lee JJ, Nho JH, Lee JJ, Won SH, Yang HJ. Transfusion trends in hip arthroplasty in Korea: a nationwide study by the Korean National Health Insurance Service. Transfusion. 2019;59: 2324-33.
- Mazzeffi M, See J, Williams B, Richards J, Zimmerman D, Galvagno S, et al. Five-year trends in perioperative red blood cell transfusion from index cases in five surgical specialties: 2011 to 2015. Transfusion. 2018;58:1271–8.
- Kind CJ, Newton C, Kariuki SM. Prevalence, risk factors, and neurobehavioral comorbidities of epilepsy in Kenyan children. Epilepsia Open. 2017;2:388–99.
- Goel R, Chappidi MR, Patel EU, Ness PM, Cushing MM, Frank SM, et al. Trends in red blood cell, plasma, and platelet transfusions in the United States, 1993–2014. JAMA. 2018;319:825–7.
- Sadana D, Pratzer A, Scher LJ, Saag HS, Adler N, Volpicelli FM, et al. Promoting high-value practice by reducing unnecessary transfusions with a patient blood management program. JAMA Intern Med. 2018; 178:116–22.
- Mueller MM, Remoortel HV, Meybohm P, Aranko K, Aubron C, Burger R, et al. Patient blood management: recommendations from the 2018 Frankfurt consensus conference. JAMA. 2019;321:983–97.
- Lin J, Wang C, Liu J, Yu Y, Wang S, Wen A, et al. Prevalence and intervention of preoperative anemia in Chinese adults: a retrospective cross-sectional study based on national preoperative anemia database. EClinicalMedicine. 2021;36:100894.
- Ecker BL, Simmons KD, Zaheer S, Poe SL, Bartlett EK, Drebin JA, et al. Blood transfusion in major abdominal surgery for malignant tumors: a trend analysis using the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program. JAMA Surg. 2016;151:518–25.
- Menendez ME, Lu N, Huybrechts KF, Ring D, Barnes CL, Ladha K, et al. Variation in use of blood transfusion in primary total hip and knee arthroplasties. J Arthroplasty. 2016;31:2757–63.e2.
- 41. Yu X, Wang Z, Wang Y, Huang Y, Xin S, Sun H, et al. Costeffectiveness comparison of routine transfusion with restrictive and liberal transfusion strategies for surgical patients in China. Vox Sang. 2019;114:721–39.
- Shander A, Hardy JF, Ozawa S, Farmer SL, Hofmann A, Frank SM, et al. A global definition of patient blood management. Anesth Analg. 2022;135:476–88.
- 43. National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. Guideline for perioperative patient blood management. [cited 2022 Mar 28]. Available from: moz-extension://dd255dcd-b97a-478fa2b0-93fbb311161a/assets/pdf/web/viewer.html?file=http%3A %2F%2Fwww.nhc.gov.cn%2Fwjw%2Fs9493%2F202202%2F5e3 bc1a664094da692bcb3e2e85efd34%2Ffiles%2F93f67b893b634 ca9be00020c08ce6ab4.pdf.
- Yang X, Li Y, Di W, Xue F, Lin Z, Bi H, et al. Expert consensus on perioperative blood management of gynecologic patients. Chin J Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2019;20:560–3.
- Chinese Society for Patient Blood Management. Chinese experts consensus statement on patient blood management in patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery. Chin J Blood Transfusion. 2018; 31:321–5.
- Zhou Z, Wen X, Sun T, Tang P, Shen J. Expert consensus in enhanced recovery after orthopedic surgery in China: perioperative blood management perioperative blood management. Chin J Bone Joint Surg. 2017;10:1–7.

576 Vox Sanguinis Solid International Society of Blood Transfusion

 Muñoz Gómez M, Bisbe Vives E, Basora Macaya M, García Erce JA, Gómez Luque A, Leal-Noval SR, et al. Forum for debate: safety of allogeneic blood transfusion alternatives in the surgical/critically ill patient. Med Intensiva. 2015;39:552–62.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article. How to cite this article: Tang B, Zhang Y, Xu X, Yu X, Ma L, Huang Y. Temporal trends and geographic variations in perioperative red blood cell transfusion in major surgical procedures from 2013 to 2018 in China. Vox Sang. 2023;118: 567–76.
Revised: 6 April 2023

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13447

SHORT REPORT



Prevalence of weak D phenotypes in the general population of Québec, Canada: A focus on weak D type 42

Mathieu Drouin	Samuel Rochette	Ι	Maryse St-Louis	I	Antoine Lewin 💿	I
Josée Laganière 🗅						

Medical Affairs and Innovation, Héma-Québec, Québec, Québec, Canada

Correspondence

Josée Laganière, Medical Affairs and Innovation, Héma-Québec, 1070, avenue des Sciences-de-la-Vie, Québec, QC G1V 5C3, Canada. Email: josee.laganiere@hema-quebec.qc.ca

Funding information Héma-Québec

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Weak D type 42 accounts for an unusually high proportion of weak D phenotypes in Québec (Canada), which contrasts with other predominantly White populations. However, its prevalence in the general population is unknown. We estimated the prevalence of weak D type 42 and other common weak D phenotypes in Québec.

Materials and Methods: We screened for *RHD**01W.42 alleles among 1000 individuals of CARTaGENE—a cohort representative of Québec's population. The prevalence of weak D type 42 was calculated based on the allele frequency of *RHD**01W.42 and *d* (i.e., all recessive alleles that confer a D– phenotype), assuming a Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. This prevalence was then leveraged to calculate that of other common weak D phenotypes, using published prevalence estimates among weak D phenotypes.

Results: Two individuals harboured the *RHD**01W.42/*RHD**01 heterozygous genotype. Assuming an allele frequency of 38.19% for *d*, the overall prevalence of weak D type 42 was 0.08%. The following prevalence estimates were also obtained: 0.44% for all weak D phenotypes and 0.07%, 0.01% and 0.04% for weak D types 1, 2 and 3, respectively.

Conclusion: Québec has the highest documented prevalence of weak D type 42, which was estimated at 0.08%.

Keywords

genetics, genotyping, RBC antigens and antibodies

Highlights

- Québec has the highest documented prevalence of weak D type 42, which was estimated at 0.08% in this study.
- The two individuals from the CARTaGENE cohort who harboured the *RHD**01W.42 allele were White and had Canada-born parents and grandparents, consistent with a founder effect.
- Despite the high prevalence of weak D type 42, the prevalence of all weak D phenotypes (0.44%) is at the lower end of those obtained in previous European studies (0.42%–0.67%); other weak D phenotypes may, therefore, exhibit a lower prevalence that offsets the high prevalence of weak D type 42.

INTRODUCTION

Rh incompatibilities must be prevented to avoid alloimmunization and subsequent complications [1]. While most individuals are unequivocally classified as D+ or D-, some harbour D variants are associated with weaker agglutination reactions or discrepant results with various anti-D reagents [1]. D variants are serologically categorized as weak D, partial D or DEL based on cell-surface-exposed epitopes and cell-surface expression of the D antigen [2].

In predominantly White populations, weak D types 1, 2 or 3 are generally the most prevalent weak D phenotypes [3–6]. One exception is Québec (Canada), where weak D type 42 (conferred by *RHD*01W.42*) is the most common weak D phenotype [7]. This variant is characterized by a K409M mutation at the C-terminus of RhD [8], which is predicted to be located intracellularly [3]. A cross-sectional study of 215 women with weak D type 42 found no evidence of alloanti-D [9], whereas another study of samples with an ambiguous D serology found 17 patients with weak D type 42, including 2 patients with alloanti-D [10]. Current clinical guidelines recommend managing these patients as D– individuals [11].

The epidemiology of this phenotype is, however, little documented. In a recent study conducted in Québec, 17.48% of women aged ≤45 with an atypical D typing result had weak D type 42, whereas only 15.3% had type 1, 3.3% had type 2 and 8.6% had type 3 [7]. Furthermore, Leiva-Torres et al. recently showed that the regional prevalence of weak D type 42 was negatively correlated with the proportion of minorities consistent with a founder effect [7].

While informative, the Leiva-Torres et al. study did not estimate the prevalence of weak D type 42 in the general population. Thus, we estimated the prevalence of weak D type 42 in the Québec general population.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data source and study population

A total of 1000 individuals were selected among CARTaGENE individuals (www.cartagene.qc.ca). CARTaGENE is a two-phase (A and B), population-based biobank and a cohort representative of Québec residents aged 40–69 years who live in urban regions [12]. In phase A, individuals living in Montreal, Québec city, Sherbrooke and Saguenay were recruited, and phase B additionally recruited individuals living in Gatineau and Trois-Rivières. Individuals were selected so that the age, sex and regional distributions matched those of the overall cohort. The ethics committee of Héma-Québec approved the study protocol, and informed consent was obtained from all subjects.

DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from CARTaGENE's 10 μ L dried blood spots by adding 100 μ L of QuickExtractTM Solution (Lucigen,

Middleton, WI, USA) per well, following the manufacturer's instructions. The extracted DNA was then diluted 1:5 in 10 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.5 to prepare polymerase chain reaction (PCR) reaction.

PCR-based screening of RHD*01W.42 alleles

PCRs were performed using the Veriti thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems) and the AmpliTaq GoldTM (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Reactions were carried out as follows: heating to 94°C for 9 min followed by 33 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 55°C for 30 s and 72°C for 30 s with a final extension of 5 min. Reactions were carried out simultaneously for *RHD**01W.42 and a control (human growth hormone) [13]. Amplicons were visualized on a 2% agarose gel.

qPCR-based screening of wild-type RHD*01 alleles

Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCRs) were performed in 20-µl reactions using the SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Using a CFX96 thermal cycler (Bio-Rad), reactions were carried out as follows: 98° C for 2 min, followed by 40 cycles of 98° C for 10 s and 60° C for 30 s. A standard melting curve cycle was then performed. The primer sequences used for wild-type *RHD* were the same as those for *RHD**weak *D* type 42, albeit without the *D*42 single nucleotide polymorphism (Table S1).

Prevalence of weak D type 42

Three genotypes confer weak D type 42: RHD*01W.42/d, *d*/RHD*01W.42 and RHD*01W.42/RHD*01W.42, where *d* comprises all recessive alleles that confer a D– phenotype. Assuming the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, the prevalence of weak D type 42 can be deduced by summing these genotype frequencies, which are themselves the product of the allele frequencies. The prevalence of weak D type 42 in the general Québec population was thus calculated as follows:

 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Prev} \left(\mbox{weak} \, D \, type \, 42 \right) = G_f \left(\mbox{RHD}^* 01W.42 / d \right) + G_f \left(\mbox{RHD}^* 01W.42 / d \right) \\ + G_f \left(\mbox{RHD}^* 01W.42 / \mbox{RHD}^* 01W.42 \right) \\ = 2 \times \left(\mbox{A}_f \left[\mbox{RHD}^* 01W.42 \right] \times \mbox{A}_f \left[\mbox{d} \right] \right) \\ + \left(\mbox{A}_f \left[\mbox{RHD}^* 01W.42 \right] \times \mbox{A}_f \left[\mbox{RHD}^* 01W.42 \right] \right) \end{array}$

where *Prev* is the prevalence, G_f is the genotype frequency and A_f is the allele frequency.

The allele frequency of *d* was estimated based on the prevalence of the D– phenotype, again assuming the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. One hundred and ninety-two of the 1000 study samples were randomly chosen and tested for a D+/D– associated allele by qPCR. Test-negative samples were assumed to be D–, and the allele frequency of *d* was, thus, the square root of the estimated proportion of D– individuals.

TABLE 1 Estimated prevalence of weak D type 42 in Québec, overall and among subgroups of interest.

Genotype	Allele frequency 1, % (95% CI) [A]	Allele frequency 2, % (95% Cl) [B]	Genotype frequency, % (95% CI) [A $ imes$ B]
Overall population			
RHD*01W.42/d	0.10 (0.00-0.29)	38.19 (35.19-41.19)	0.04 (0.00-0.14)
d/RHD*01W.42	38.19 (35.19-41.19)	0.10 (0.00-0.29)	0.04 (0.00-0.14)
RHD*01W.42/RHD*01W.42	0.10 (0.00-0.29)	0.10 (0.00-0.29)	0.0001 (0.00-0.01)
Total			0.08 (0.00-0.25)
White, with Canada-born parents			
RHD*01W.42/d	0.13 (0.00-0.38)	38.19 (34.76-41.62)	0.05 (0.00-0.21)
d/RHD*01W.42	38.19 (34.76-41.62)	0.13 (0.00–0.38)	0.05 (0.00-0.21)
RHD*01W.42/RHD*01W.42	0.13 (0.00-0.38)	0.13 (0.00-0.38)	0.0002 (0.00-0.01)
Total			0.10 (0.00-0.32)
White, with Canada-born parents and grandp	arents		
RHD*01W.42/d	0.15 (0.00-0.44)	38.19 (34.53-41.85)	0.06 (0.00-0.24)
d/RHD*01W.42	38.19 (34.53-41.85)	0.15 (0.00-0.44)	0.06 (0.00-0.24)
RHD*01W.42/RHD*01W.42	0.15 (0.00-0.44)	0.15 (0.00-0.44)	0.0002 (0.00-0.01)
Total			0.11 (0.00-0.37)

Abbreviation: CI, confidence interval.

Prevalence of other weak D phenotypes

Leiva-Torres et al. reported the prevalence of weak D types 1, 2, 3 and 42 among all weak D phenotypes [7]. Together with the herein calculated prevalence of weak D type 42, this information was leveraged to derive the prevalence of weak D phenotypes (overall) and those of weak D types 1, 2 and 3 in the general Québec population.

Statistical analysis

Prevalence rates were calculated for weak D type 42 and other common weak D phenotypes. Clopper–Pearson confidence intervals were reported since the outcome of the study experiment (absence/presence of *RHD**01W.42) is binary and does not include a time component.

RESULTS

Prevalence of D-

Of 192 randomly chosen samples, 28 (14.58%) were D– (d/d) as determined by qPCR. The estimated allele frequency of d was, therefore, 38.19%.

Prevalence of weak D type 42

Two individuals harboured the RHD*01W.42/RHD*01 genotype. These individuals were White, had Canada-born parents and

TABLE 2 Estimated prevalence of weak D phenotypes in Québec.

Phenotype	Prevalence among weak D phenotypes, % (95% CI)ª	Prevalence in the general population, % (95% CI) ^b
Weak D type 42	17.48 (15.18–19.98)	0.08 (0.00-0.25)
Weak D type 1	15.34 (13.12–17.56)	0.07 (0.00-0.23)
Weak D type 2	3.28 (2.18-4.38)	0.01 (0.00-0.09)
Weak D type 3	8.55 (6.83-10.28)	0.04 (0.00-0.16)
Other weak D phenotypes	55.34 (52.28-58.41)	0.24 (0.00-0.55)
Total	100%	0 44 (0 13-1 08)

Abbreviation: CI, confidence interval.

^aPrevalence among all weak D phenotypes in Québec reported by Leiva-Torres et al. [7].

^bPrevalence of weak D types 1, 2 and 3 and other weak phenotypes was estimated by cross-multiplicity. For example, the prevalence of weak D type 1 in the general population was obtained as follows: $15.3444\% \times 0.0765\%/17.4821\% = 0.0671\%$.

grandparents and lived in Laval or the North Shore of Montreal. The allele frequency of *RHD**01W.42 was, therefore, 0.10% in the overall population (N = 1000), 0.13% among White individuals with Canada-born parents (N = 765) and 0.15% among White individuals with Canada-born parents and grandparents (N = 672; Table 1). Assuming an allele frequency of 38.19% for *d*, the estimated prevalence of weak D type 42 in the general Quebec population was 0.08% overall, 0.10% in White individuals with Canada-born parents and 0.11% in White individuals with Canada-born parents and 0.11% in White individuals with Canada-born parents and grandparents (Table 1).

Vox Sanguinis ST International Society 579

Prevalence of other weak D phenotypes

Having estimated the prevalence of weak D type 42 at 0.08% (this study) and knowing that weak D type 42 accounts for 17.48% of all weak D phenotypes (as reported by Leiva-Torres et al.) [7], the prevalence of all weak D phenotypes was, therefore, 0.44% in the general Québec population (Table 2). Leveraging the other estimates of Leiva-Torres et al. for weak D phenotypes [7], we estimated the prevalence of weak D type 1 at 0.07%, weak D type 2 at 0.01%, weak D type 3 at 0.04% and other less prevalent weak D phenotypes at 0.24% (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

With an estimated prevalence of 0.08%. Québec has the highest documented prevalence of weak D type 42. In other populations, the prevalence of weak D type 42 was estimated at 0.0008% in the rest of Canada (5 out of 608,486) [6], 0.006% in the Greater Toronto area (2 out of 33,342) [8] and 0.007% in Denmark (1 out of 100 weak D tested, in a population for which the prevalence of all weak D phenotypes is 0.7%) [5].

The high prevalence observed in Québec may be driven by a founder effect dating back to the foundation of New France, as previously suggested [7-10]. Consistent with this explanation, both individuals with weak D type 42 were White and had Canada-born parents and grandparents. Furthermore, in three studies conducted in France, no individuals with weak D type 42 have been found [14-16]. The prevalence of weak type 42 might, therefore, have been higher among the first settlers of New France than the general French population, resulting in a founder effect in Québec, although this is speculative.

Although few individuals harboured the RHD*01W.42 allele (i.e., 2 of 1000), a sample size of 1000 provides a good level of confidence and reliability. Based on a post hoc power analysis (detailed in Data S1), a sample of 1000 individuals with an expected proportion of 0.002 (i.e., 2 of 1000) can detect this expected proportion with a margin of error of ±6% with a level of confidence of 95%.

Our study also provides prevalence estimates for other weak D phenotypes in the general population of Québec, thereby building on the prevalence estimates obtained by Leiva-Torres et al. among weak D phenotypes [7]. The prevalence of all weak D phenotypes was 0.44%, which is at the lower end of previous estimates in Germany and Denmark (range: 0.42%-0.67%) [3-5]. Therefore, the high prevalence of weak D type 42 in Québec does not appear to increase the overall prevalence of weak D phenotypes. Instead, other weak D phenotypes seemingly exhibit a lower prevalence that offsets the high prevalence of weak D type 42 (e.g., the prevalence of weak D type 1 among weak D phenotypes: 15.3% in the Leiva-Torres et al. study [7] and 24.9%–79.0% in other studies). These results may prove useful to conduct risk analyses that will inform the clinical management of patients with weak D phenotypes.

We conclude that Québec has the highest documented prevalence of weak D type 42, which we estimated at 0.08%. This prevalence was higher among White individuals with Canada-born parents and grandparents, consistent with a previously described founder effect.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Josée Perreault for RHD primers and helpful discussions as well as Marie-Claire Chevrier and Gabriel André Leiva for providing comments on the manuscript. This study was funded by Héma-Québec.

M.S.L. and J.L. designed the study. M.D. and J.L. acquired the data. M.D., S.R., A.L. and J.L. analysed the data. M.D., S.R., A.L. and J.L. interpreted the data. M.D., S.R. and J.L. drafted the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript for intellectual content.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Antoine Lewin D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1748-4198 Josée Laganière 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0775-3331

REFERENCES

- 1. Sandler SG, Chen LN, Flegel WA. Serological weak D phenotypes: a review and guidance for interpreting the RhD blood type using the RHD genotype. Br J Haematol. 2017;179:10-9.
- Sandler SG, Flegel WA, Westhoff CM, Denomme GA, Delaney M, 2. Keller MA, et al. It's time to phase-in RHD genotyping for patients with a serological weak D phenotype. Transfusion. 2015;55:680-9.
- Wagner FF, Gassner C, Müller TH, Schönitzer D, Schunter F, Flegel WA. Molecular basis of weak D phenotypes. Blood. 1999;93: 385-93.
- Christiansen M, Samuelsen B, Christiansen L, Morbjerg T, Bredahl C, 4. Grunnet N. Correlation between serology and genetics of weak D types in Denmark. Transfusion. 2008;48:187-93.
- Vege S, Sprogøe U, Lomas-Francis C, Jakobsen MA, Antonsen B, 5. Aeschlimann J, et al. Impact of RHD genotyping on transfusion practice in Denmark and the United States and identification of novel RHD alleles. Transfusion. 2021:61:256-65.
- Clarke G, Hannon J, Berardi P, Barr G, Cote J, Fallis R, et al. Resolving variable maternal D typing using serology and genotyping in selected prenatal patients. Transfusion. 2016;56:2980-5.
- Leiva-Torres GA, Chevrier M-C, Constanzo-Yanez J, Lewin A, 7. Lavoie J, Laganière J, et al. High prevalence of weak D type 42 in a large-scale RHD genotyping program in the province of Quebec (Canada). Transfusion. 2021;61:2727-35.
- Denomme GA, Wagner FF, Fernandes BJ, Li W, Flegel WA. Partial D, 8. weak D types, and novel RHD alleles among 33,864 multiethnic patients: implications for anti-D alloimmunization and prevention. Transfusion. 2005;45:1554-60.
- Morin P-A, Perreault J, St-Louis M, Leiva-Torres GA, Robitaille N, 9. Trépanier P. Weak D type 42: antigen density and risk of alloimmunization in the province of Québec. Vox Sang. 2022;117:943-8.
- 10. St-Louis M, Richard M, Côté M, Ethier C, Long A. Weak D type 42 cases found in individuals of European descent. Immunohematologv. 2011:27:20-4.
- Robitaille N, Wilson A, Gauthier M. Recommandations pour la déter-11. mination du groupe sanguin RhD [Recommendations for the

determination of the RhD blood group]. Québec, Canada: Direction de la biovigilance et de la biologie médicale du Québec; 2020.

- Awadalla P, Boileau C, Payette Y, Idaghdour Y, Goulet J-P, Knoppers B, et al. Cohort profile of the CARTaGENE study: Quebec's population-based biobank for public health and personalized genomics. Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42:1285–99.
- Meyer O, Hildebrandt M, Schulz B, Blasczyk R, Salama A. Simultaneous genotyping of human platelet antigens (HPA) 1 through 6 using new sequence-specific primers for HPA-5. Transfusion. 1999;39: 1256–8.
- Noizat-Pirenne F, Verdier M, Lejealle A, Mercadier A, Bonin P, Peltier-Pujol F, et al. Weak D phenotypes and transfusion safety: where do we stand in daily practice? Transfusion. 2007;47:1616–20.
- Ansart-Pirenne H, Asso-Bonnet M, Pennec P-YL, Roussel M, Patereau C, Noizat-Pirenne F. RhD variants in Caucasians: consequences for checking clinically relevant alleles. Transfusion. 2004;44: 1282–6.

 Le Maréchal C, Guerry C, Benech C, Burlot L, Cavelier B, Porra V, et al. Identification of 12 novel RHD alleles in western France by denaturing high-performance liquid chromatography analysis. Transfusion. 2007;47:858–63.

581

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Drouin M, Rochette S, St-Louis M, Lewin A, Laganière J. Prevalence of weak D phenotypes in the general population of Québec, Canada: A focus on weak D type 42. Vox Sang. 2023;118:577–81. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13472

SHORT REPORT

Two cases of *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subspecies *equisimilis* infection transmitted through transfusion of platelet concentrate derived from separate blood donations by the same donor

Moe Kozakai¹ | Mami Matsumoto¹ | Akiko Takakura¹ | Rika A. Furuta¹ | Keiji Matsubayashi¹ | Naoko Goto² | Masahiro Satake²

¹Japanese Red Cross Society, Central Blood Institute, Tokyo, Japan

²Japanese Red Cross Society, Blood Service Headquarters, Tokyo, Japan

Correspondence

Moe Kozakai, Central Blood Institute, Japanese Red Cross Society, Tokyo, Japan. Email: m-kozakai@jrc.or.jp

Funding information

The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background: Transfusion-transmitted bacterial infections (TTBIs) in Japan have been largely prevented due to a short shelf life of 3.5 days after blood collection for platelet concentrate (PC) and washed PCs (WPCs; PC in which 95% plasma is replaced by platelet additive solution).

Case Presentation: *Case 1*: In January 2018, a woman in her 50s with aplastic anaemia who received WPC transfusion and developed a fever the next day and *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subspecies *equisimilis* (SDSE) was detected in the residual WPC. *Case 2*: In May 2018, a man in his 60s with a haematologic malignancy who received PC transfusion and developed chills during the transfusion. SDSE was detected in the patient's blood and residual PC.

The contaminated platelet products were both manufactured from blood donated by the same donor. The multi-locus sequencing typing revealed that SDSE detected in case 1 was identical to that from case 2; however, whole blood subsequently obtained from the donor was culture negative.

Conclusion: WPC and PC produced from two blood donated 106 days apart by the same donor were contaminated with SDSE of the same strain and both caused TTBIs. Safety measures should be considered regarding blood collection from a donor with a history of bacterial contamination.

Keywords

bacterial infection, blood donors, blood safety, platelet transfusion, washed platelet

Highlights

- Two transfusion-transmitted bacterial infections (TTBIs) were caused by *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* derived from consecutive blood collections from the same donor.
- This is the first case in Japan in which washed platelet concentrate was the causative product for TTBI.
- Management of donors with a history of bacterial contamination in their donated blood is crucial.

INTRODUCTION

Bacterial contamination of platelet concentrates (PCs) remains a serious problem in transfusion. In Japan, although bacterial cultures of PCs are not screened, transfusion-transmitted bacterial infections (TTBIs) are prevented by shortening the PC shelf life to 3.5 days. However, several cases of bacterial contamination of PCs have been found each year. We encountered two cases of TTBIs caused by *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subspecies *equisimilis* (SDSE) in two blood products from the same donor.

CASE PRESENTATION

Case 1

In January 2018, a woman in her 50s with aplastic anaemia received 2-day-old irradiated leukocyte-reduced washed PC (WPC). The next day (day 1), the patient experienced chills, severe fatigue, decreased awareness levels and fever (39.5° C). She was administered antibiotics (meropenem), and 90 min later blood samples were taken for culture. The patient recovered consciousness on day 2, and her fever decreased on day 3. Although the patient's blood culture was negative, group G streptococci were detected in the residual WPC culture in the hospital laboratory. The WPCs were not subjected to a culture test in the laboratory of the Japanese Red Cross (JRC) because almost no residue was left when the blood centre recovered the WPC bag. The empty bag was stored frozen at the JRC laboratory. A fresh frozen plasma separated from the WPC was culture negative at a public health institute 9 days after blood collection.

Case 2

In May 2018, a man in his 60s with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma received 3-day-old regular PC that was irradiated and leukocyte-reduced. Seventy-five minutes after transfusion started, the patient developed chills, and blood samples were collected for culture. Since symptoms improved, the transfusion was restarted and completed. Ten minutes after the transfusion ended, the patient developed a fever (41.8°C) and was administered antibiotics (cefepime). His fever subsided 6 h after transfusion, and he showed signs of recovery on day 3. SDSE was detected in the patient's blood culture in the hospital laboratory. A culture test of the PC was performed in the JRC.

Donor investigations

The donor, a man in his 40s, had donated blood >80 times. His white blood cell (WBC) and platelet (PLT) counts were consistently high over the past 3 years, with a mean WBC count of 10,380/µL (median 10,410/µL) and mean PLT count of 406 × 10⁹/L (median 401 × 10⁹/L)

in 29 measurements. The WBC and PLT counts at the time of collection of the causative products were 9920/ μ L and 453 × 10⁹/L in January 2018 and 9430/ μ L and 429 × 10⁹/L in May 2018, respectively. No infection-related symptoms were reported during the medical interview before donation. In June 2018, the blood centre called the donor and collected whole blood and a pharyngeal swab specimen (Figure 1).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics statement

This study was approved by the Ethics Review Committee of the Japanese Red Cross Society (approval number: 2018–052), and we obtained consent from the donors for interviews, sample collection and analysis.

WPC

WPC is a platelet concentrate in which >95% of the plasma have been replaced by a platelet additive solution. This product is indicated for (1) cases with multiple transfusion-related adverse reactions that were unpreventable with premedication or cases with serious adverse reactions such as anaphylactic shock and (2) cases in which only ABO-incompatible unit is available for HLA-matched PC.

Culture of WPC and PC samples suspected of TTBI

In case 1, the empty WPC bag after transfusion was refrigerated for 6 days and subsequently stored at -30° C. However, when a second TTBI case occurred with PC collected from the same donor, a culture test was performed using this empty bag, which had been kept frozen for 130 days. After thawing at room temperature (20-24°C), a lavage suspension of the bag with 30 mL saline was used as a sample for culture. A PC sample from case 2 was obtained from the remaining PC that was stored at 4°C for 8 days after transfusion. These component samples were cultured using the BACT/ALERT 3D system (bioMérieux Inc., Durham, NC, USA) and agar plates. BACT/ ALERT BPA and BPN bottles (bioMérieux) were each inoculated with 3.5 mL WPC samples or 1 mL PC samples. Bottles were subsequently incubated in the BACT/ALERT 3D system at 36°C under aerobic or anaerobic conditions for 10 days. Trypticase soy agar (TSA; Nippon Becton Dickinson Company, Ltd., Tokyo, Japan), TSA with 5% sheep blood (TSAB) and modified Gifu anaerobic medium (GAM) (Nissui Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) agar plates were inoculated with 100 μL samples and incubated at 25 and 35°C for 7 days. TSA and TSAB plates were incubated aerobically, while modified GAM plates were incubated anaerobically. Bacterial concentrations were determined by serial dilution plating of the samples on TSA plates.



FIGURE 1 Timeline of donor blood and sample collection, transfusion and culture test events in two transfusion-transmitted bacterialinfection cases. PC, platelet concentrate; PS, pharyngeal specimen; WB, whole blood; WPC, washed platelet concentrate.

Culture of whole blood and pharyngeal specimen of donor

Whole blood and pharyngeal swabs from the donor were collected 28 days after the case 2-related blood donation and subjected to culture the next day. Ten millilitres of the whole blood samples were inoculated into each of the BPA and BPN bottles and incubated using the BACT/ALERT 3D system. The pharyngeal specimen was collected using a Seed Swab No. 3 (Eiken Chemical Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan), and a 3 mL saline suspension of the swab specimen was cultured using TSA and TSAB plates. Bacterial concentrations were determined by serial dilution plating of the samples on TSA and TSAB plates.

Bacterial isolates and identification

All colonies with different morphologies were isolated from the TSA and TSAB plates of cultured pharyngeal specimens. All β -haemolytic colonies were isolated from TSAB plates. Bacterial species were identified using 16S rRNA gene amplification and sequencing according to the protocols previously described [1].

Multi-locus sequencing typing

MLST was conducted using five strains including WPC and PC isolates, patient isolates from case 2, and two strains from donor pharyngeal swab isolates. The SDSE isolates were genotyped using seven housekeeping genes: glucose kinase (*gki*), glutamine transport protein (*gtr*), glutamate racemase (*murl*), DNA mismatch repair protein (*mutS*), transketolase (*recP*), xanthine phosphoribosyl transferase (*xpt*) and acetoacetyl-coathioloase (*atoB*); sequencing was performed according to the previously described protocol [2]. Amplicons were sequenced and analysed as described in Section 3.5. Sequencing results of the seven housekeeping genes were submitted to the SDSE MLST database (PubMLST; https://pubmlst.org/), and sequence types (STs) were defined.

RESULTS

All WPC and PC cultures in the BACT/ALERT 3D system, and plate cultures were positive. All isolates were identified as SDSE by 16S rRNA gene analysis and ST8 by MLST. Bacterial counts were 9.2×10^3 colony forming units (CFU)/mL and 1.3×10^7 cfu/mL for WPCs and PCs, respectively.

The subsequent whole blood sample of the donor was culture negative. The bacterial counts of the pharyngeal specimen were 3.1×10^4 CFU/mL on TSA and 5.7×10^4 CFU/mL on TSAB. The following 19 colonies were isolated and identified from both mediums: seven colonies of *Streptococcus salivarius*, three colonies of *Rothia dentocariosa*, two colonies of SDSE and one colony each of *Rothia mucilaginosa*, *Streptococcus parasanguinis*, *Streptococcus progenes* (*S. pyogenes*) and *Neisseria* species. Of these, three colonies showed β -haemolysis on TSAB medium, two corresponded to SDSE and one corresponded to *S. pyogenes*. The two SDSE colonies isolated from the pharyngeal specimen were ST34 by MLST, which was different from ST8 isolated from WPC in case 1 and PC and the patient blood in case 2.

DISCUSSION

SDSE has low pathogenicity and generally inhabits the upper respiratory of healthy people as resident bacteria. However, it occasionally causes purulent diseases such as cellulitis, purulent arthritis and sepsis [3]. Since SDSE shares a common ancestor with *S. pyogenes*, which is highly virulent, it has similar virulence factors and may cause streptococcal toxic shock syndrome [2, 3]. In Japan, SDSE was the causative agent of 4 of 17 (24%) of TTBI cases in 2011–2020 (including our cases). SDSE has been reported to multiply rapidly within PCs, meaning that it can reach the number of bacteria that can cause TTBI even during the short shelf life of PCs in Japan [4].

In the two cases of TTBI caused by SDSE reported in France and USA, the causative products were pooled PC, and SDSE was detected in the pharyngeal swab of one of the multiple donors [5, 6]. It is presumed that pharyngeal mucus splashes contaminated the PCs.

The case reported in the United States was a fatal one after transfusion of PC, wherein bacteria was undetected by culture screening [5].

In our cases, the same genotypic strain was detected in blood products collected from the same donor at different times in January and May 2018. This strain may have been present persistently as part of the resident flora in the donor's body. Because the genotypes of SDSE strains isolated from the donor pharyngeal swab differed from TTBI-related SDSE strains, the source of SDSE contamination in blood products was unknown.

SDSE is frequently detected as a causative bacterium in patients with recurrent bacteraemia [3, 7, 8]. Interestingly, it has been reported that SDSE is endogenous to vascular endothelial cells and persistently infects the bloodstream, causing recurrent infections [7, 8]. An in vitro study has reported that SDSE strains from patients with recurrent bacteraemia tend to be more efficiently internalized in vascular endothelial cells than SDSE strains from wounds. Strains with some specific properties, such as retention of cell invasion ability by zipper mechanism, are likely to cause bacteraemia [8]. The blood donor's WBC and PLT count in our cases has remained relatively high over the past 3 years, and SDSE of the same genotype was detected twice in the series of blood donations. These facts suggest that PC-derived SDSE strains could have settled somewhere that is more likely to be exposed to blood in the body other than the pharynx, for example, in vascular endothelial cells.

Moreover, the association between bacteraemia and asymptomatic colonic disease has been reported in species closely related to SDSE, such as *Streptococcus agalactiae* and *Streptococcus gallolyticus* [9]. However, there are few such reports in cases of SDSE, and the association between SDSE carriage and asymptomatic disease are subject to further investigation.

This is the first case in Japan where WPC was the causative product for TTBI. JRC started issuing WPC in 2016 to mitigate non-haemolytic transfusion reactions. WPC contains <5% plasma, indicating a very low amount of complement contained in WPC [10]. SDSE can aggregate human platelets and the tendency may be augmented by the low plasma protein level in WPC.

Culture methods are useful for detecting bacteria in blood products, and PC culture screening has been introduced in several countries. However, culture screening still does not detect all bacterial contamination in PCs [5, 11]. A comprehensive implementation of safety measures integrating multiple strategies, including donor health questionnaires, compliance with proper skin disinfection technique, initial flow diversion, visual inspection of PC and platelet pathogen inactivation, is needed. An additional strategy for blood safety could be to avoid blood collection from a donor for whom a bacterial species such as Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus spp., which tend to escape detection through culture methods, is repeatedly identified. It is reasonable to consider that such a donor harbours some pathological status that allows the occurrence of intermittent bacteraemia. In Canada, Escherichia coli was detected twice in PC collected from the same donor, and the donor was permanently deferred after identifying multiple diverticula in his colon [12]. In our cases, two TTBIs were caused by the same bacteria derived from consecutive blood

collections from the same donor. The JRC considered the high virulence of SDSE and the possible liability to intermittent SDSE bacteraemia in blood donors and decided to exclude those donors from the platelet donor registry whose donated blood was verified to be contaminated with SDSE.

In conclusion, this is the first study in Japan to report two cases of TTBI caused by two blood products (WPC and PC) from the same donor. These cases highlight that the management of donors with a history of bacterial contamination of their donated blood is crucial.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

M.K. designed the study and wrote the manuscript. M.K., M.M. and A.T. performed the donor investigations and acquired the data. N.G. provided clinical details of the cases and reviewed the manuscript. R.A.F., K.M. and M.S. reviewed and edited the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors have no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Moe Kozakai [©] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3552-4341 Mami Matsumoto [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5442-0284 Rika A. Furuta [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7962-8954 Keiji Matsubayashi [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8361-0167 Masahiro Satake [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4660-6839

REFERENCES

- Kozakai M, Matsumoto M, Matsumoto C, Uchida S, Nagai T, Satake M, et al. First report of the isolation of *Lacococcus garvieae* from a platelet concentrate in Japan. Transfusion. 2016;56:2602–6.
- Ahmad Y, Gertz RE Jr, Li Z, Sakota V, Broyles LN, Van Beneden C, et al. Genetic relationships deduced from *emm* and multilocus sequence typing of invasive *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subsp *equisimilis* and *S. canis* recovered from isolates collected in the United States. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:2046-54.
- Brandt CM, Spellerberg B. Human infections due to Streptococcus dysgalactiae subspecies equisimilis. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;49:766–72.
- Spindler-Raffel E, Benjamin RJ, McDonald CP, Ramirez-Arcos S, Aplin K, Bekeredjian-Ding I, et al. Enlargement of the WHO international repository for platelet transfusion-relevant bacteria reference strains. Vox Sang. 2017;112:713–22.
- Lessa F, Leparc GF, Benson K, Sanderson R, Van Beneden CA, Shewmaker PL, et al. Fatal group C streptococcal infection due to transfusion of a bacterially contaminated pooled platelet unit despite routine bacterial culture screening. Transfusion. 2008;48:2177–83.
- Bay JO, Tournilhac O, Ducher E, Romaszko JP, Ergani A, Bouvet A, et al. A near fatal septic transfusion reaction due to *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subspecies *equisimilis* calls for novel safety measures. Vox Sang. 2009;96:271.
- Watanabe S, Takemoto N, Ogura K, Miyoshi-Akiyama T. Severe invasive streptococcal infection by *Streptococcus pyogenes* and *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subsp *equisimilis*. Microbiol Immunol. 2016;60:1–9.

Rohde M, Talay SR, Rasmussen M. Molecular mechanisms of *Strepto-coccus dysgalactiae* subsp *equisimilis* enabling intravascular persistence. Microbes Infect. 2012;14:329–34.

LVox Sanguinis

586

- Stevens WT, Bolan CD, Oblitas JM, Stroncek DF, Bennett JE, Leitman SF. *Streptococcus agalactiae* sepsis after transfusion of a plateletpheresis concentrate: benefit of donor evaluation. Transfusion. 2006;46:649–51.
- Ikebe E, Matsuoka S, Tanaka A, Yonemura Y, Fujii Y, Ohsaka A, et al. Reduction in adverse transfusion reactions with increased use of washed platelet concentrates in Japan—a retrospective multicenter study. Transfus Apher Sci. 2019;58:162–8.
- Freudenburg-de GW, Spelmink S, Heijnen J, de Korte D. Transfusion transmitted bacterial infections (TTBI) involving contaminated platelet concentrates: residual risk despite intervention strategies. Ann Blood. 2022;7:26.

12. Ramirez-Arcos S, Alport T, Goldman M. Intermittent bacteremia detected in an asymptomatic apheresis platelet donor with repeat positive culture for *Escherichia coli:* a case report. Transfusion. 2015;55:2606–8.

How to cite this article: Kozakai M, Matsumoto M, Takakura A, Furuta RA, Matsubayashi K, Goto N, et al. Two cases of *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* subspecies *equisimilis* infection transmitted through transfusion of platelet concentrate derived from separate blood donations by the same donor. Vox Sang. 2023;118:582–6. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13473

GUIDELINES



International Society for Blood Transfusion Guidelines for Traceability of Medical Products of Human Origin

Paul Ashford ¹	Suzanne Butch ²	Amjad Omar Barhou	ush ³ Wayne Bolton ⁴
Michele Cusmai ⁵	Lone Espensen ⁶	Josh Geary ⁷ K	aren Moniz ⁸

¹Roper Management Consultants Ltd, Kent, UK

²Department of Pathology, Michigan Medicine, Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA

³Omar Freelance Quality and Accreditation Consultant, Rochester, Minnesota, USA

Revised: 3 May 2023

⁴Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Information, and Communications Technology, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

⁵Swiss SCWeb AG, Lugano, Switzerland

⁶Department of Clinical Immunology, Odense University Hospital, Odense, Denmark

⁷Cell Manipulation Core Facility, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, Massachusetts, USA

⁸ICCBBA, San Bernardino, California, USA

Correspondence

Suzanne Butch, 1992 Buckingham Dr, Avon, OH 44011, USA. Email: suzanne.butch@gmail.com

Funding information ISBT; Australian Governments

Keywords: biovigilance, haemovigilance, patient safety, traceability

Contents

Introduction	2
Scope of guidance	2
What is traceability?	2
Who is responsible for traceability?	2
Importance of traceability	3
Fundamentals/pre-requisites of traceability	3
Complexities of traceability	4
Risk management	5
Information to retain	5
What to do when data is lost	5
Data migration	6
Moving large amounts of data	6
Common issues in data quality	6
Data mapping/conversion	6
Data migration utility	6
Management of displaced data	6
Management of unavailable data	7

This document has been written by the International Society of Blood Transfusion Working Party on Information Technology Traceability Task Force.

Validation	7
Documentation	7
Archiving	7
Uniqueness of identifiers	7
Inter-organization tracking	8
Mergers/acquisitions/closure	8
Managing historical data	8
Technology obsolescence	8
Knowledge retention	8
Security	8
Timeliness	8
Traceability audit	9
Audit plans	9
Barriers/complexities to a traceability audit	9
What to look for in a traceability audit	9
Tracer audits	10
Audit report	10
References	10

INTRODUCTION

Medical products of human origin (MPHO) are products that come from a human donor and are intended for clinical application in a human recipient. Due to their human source, they carry the risk of infectious disease transmission, incompatibility and other adverse reactions. This makes MPHO products of an exceptional nature and strict traceability requirements must be maintained to identify the MPHO and its constituents every step of the way until final disposition and to ensure traceability from donor to recipient and vice versa. In some instances, traceability records are required to be maintained for long periods that can exceed 30 years based on country or local regulations. Some MPHO may be deemed not suitable for clinical application, and there may be additional traceability requirements for these products. It is important that all those involved in the chain of custody of MPHO, at all levels, understand the importance of traceability and their role in maintaining the traceability pathway. Traceability regulations do differ between countries, and requirements may be different for MPHO shipped internationally. Contractual expectations between supplier and customer may also differ.

These guidelines were developed by the Traceability Task Force of the International Society of Blood Transfusion Working Party on Information Technology (ISBT WPIT). The purpose of these guidelines is to provide recommendations on ensuring that MPHO can be traced regardless of the extent of computerization used in record keeping. The ability to accurately trace the products from donor to recipient and from recipient back to the donor is a cornerstone of patient safety and involves those collecting, testing, modifying, distributing, shipping and using the MPHO in patient care. Technology is rapidly advancing. These guidelines should serve as a basis for evaluating the current system and developing plans to ensure changes to system maintain traceability.

SCOPE OF GUIDANCE

This guideline is focusing on the traceability of blood and cellular therapy products. However, much of the information and guidance provided is applicable across all areas of MPHO. It is intended to provide best practices in capturing and maintaining a robust record of processes involving the collection, manufacture and disposition of MPHO. It does not replace local or national regulations. Such regulations would supersede these guidelines. Accreditation institutions may have standards that also affect traceability requirements.

WHAT IS TRACEABILITY?

Traceability of MPHO is defined as the maintenance of a permanent continuous information trail beginning with the selection of donors of MPHO and continuing through procurement, processing, testing, distribution and recipient matching to the final disposition of all the sub-products, ensuring timely tracing from donor to recipient and vice versa is possible. **TABLE 1** Workflow showing points where additional data can be collected—An example.

Activity recorded for each plasmapheresis collection
Identification of the machine (model and serial number)
Confirmation of the state of the machine
Kit batch identification
Solutions batch identification
Identification of the donor
Identification of the containers traceable to the donation
Test tube identification
Arm venipuncture identification
Start time of apheresis procedure
End time of apheresis procedure
Possibility to register adverse events
Final procedure parameters

This core level of traceability is essential for all MPHO products and is often required by regulation. It is necessary to support biovigilance activities including product recall and lookback.

Traceability is also a tool in quality management that provides detailed information regarding who did what, where and when on a particular process, and what supplies, reagents and equipment were used. This additional traceability information provides lookback information that is useful in performance monitoring and conducting root cause analysis.

Traceability information may be captured manually, electronically or by a combination of electronic and manual processes. Traceability steps should be embedded in the workflow of all critical processes.

WHO IS RESPONSIBLE FOR TRACEABILITY?

Responsibility for traceability lies with both the organizations responsible for any part of the MPHO chain of custody and also with each individual responsible for handling these products or the information associated with them.

Each organization working with MPHO should have an established and actively managed and audited quality system. Traceability requirements should be integrated into this system and all relevant procedures should specify the traceability steps associated with the process. End-to-end traceability must be ensured and verified through traceability audits (end-to-end within the organization including interfaces with other organizations). Additional information can be captured to further enhance traceability and an example is shown in Table 1.

Organizations are responsible for the long-term retention of traceability information and for ensuring procedures that are maintained for retrieving this information promptly. If organizational change such as acquisition, merger or closure occurs careful attention must be paid to the ongoing security of traceability information.

At the individual level, staff must

- only perform tasks for which they have been trained,
- follow procedures and
- ensure accurate and complete records are maintained.

Particular care must be taken in the transcription of traceability information as an error can result in a breakdown in the traceability chain. Any perceived failure in traceability should be immediately reported and investigated.

IMPORTANCE OF TRACEABILITY

Good traceability is essential to patient safety and is required by law in many countries (e.g., for blood and blood products, USA: 21 CFR 606 [1], EU: EC directive 2002/98/EC) [2]. There are several reasons why good traceability is essential:

- Mitigation of transfusion-transmitted diseases: If the donor has a disease transmissible by transfusion or transplantation that was undetected at the time of donation or has a high-risk behaviour that could have affected his/her eligibility to donate that was only discovered after donation, good traceability records allow facilities to quickly:
 - Identify the current and any prior donations from the donor;
 - Locate and quarantine any products in inventory from the current donation and any prior donations;
 - Identify the recipient(s) of the product(s) of the current donation, as well as recipients of previous donations, and notify their physicians. Early identification and treatment of patients exposed to transfusion-transmitted diseases may allow mitigation of the disease in the recipient;
 - Exclude the donor from further donations;
 - Encourage the donor to consult a doctor for investigation and treatment of the disease.
- Archive retrieval: In case of a newly discovered transmitted disease, it is useful to have traceability to archive samples from prior donations from the same donor. Those samples can be re-tested with more sensitive tests (e.g., nucleic acid amplification test) to determine if something may have been missed in prior tests [3].
- Follow-up of adverse reactions: Should a recipient be found to have a problem that could be related to having received the MPHO (e.g., Transfusion-Related Acute Lung Injury), traceability records allow facilities to quickly identify the donor and quarantine any products still in inventory. If the product was the cause of the problem in the recipient, the donor may need to be deferred, and other donations from the same donor identified. If a determination of causality is made, traceability records allow facilities to identify the recipients of other products from the donor and notify their physicians. Again, early identification and treatment of patients may allow mitigation, or even prevention, of adverse events.
- Mitigation of risks related to critical product issues: Traceability records should indicate which critical supplies and equipment were used in the collection and processing of the MPHO. Should a problem be subsequently identified with a supply or item of equipment, the associated MPHO can be identified and evaluated for suitability for

TABLE 2 Examples of traceable products and equipment.

- Blood bags (lot number)
- Containers
- Blood collection mixer (identification number/serial number)
- Centrifuge (identification number/serial number)
- Blood component separator (identification number/serial number)
- Controlled temperature devices (identification number/serial number)
- Solutions (lot number NaCl, dextrose, Composol, DMSO, RPMI, etc.)
- Syringes (identification number/serial number)
- Sterile welder and disposables (identification number/serial number)

use in transfusion/transplantation. If appropriate, recipients of any adversely affected products must be identified, and their physicians notified. Instruments and consumable supplies used in the manufacture of MPHO should have the manufacturer's name, product identifier (catalogue number) and lot or serial number recorded to uniquely identify them. The Global Trade Item Number, where available, is suitable for capturing the manufacturer and catalogue number.

- Recall defective products: Suppliers must have the ability to identify the constituents of their product batches to support rapid recall if defects are identified. Suppliers should be audited and qualified, for example, a blood pack manufacturer would be expected to have records identifying every constituent element used for the blood bags and the production line used. Table 2 provides examples of critical products and equipment. Following qualification, a yearly supplier audit is recommended.
- Haemovigilance and biovigilance: Haemovigilance in the case of blood, and biovigilance in the case of cells, tissues, organs, vaccines and other MPHO, comprise surveillance procedures covering the whole transfusion/transplantation chain from collection to followup of recipients and donors. It assesses information on undesirable transfusion/transplantation effects and reactions to prevent their re-occurrence. Such activity is dependent on traceability records. For example, good traceability records are required for impacted blood centres and manufacturers to be able to retrieve all components derived from the same donation or donor when a product derived from that donor or donation has been implicated in a patient adverse event (WHO Guide to establishing a national haemovigilance system) [4].
- Litigation: Should legal action be taken against a facility based on the claim that the recipient was injured because of receiving the MPHO, all records should be maintained and protected from alteration or destruction.

FUNDAMENTALS/PRE-REQUISITES OF TRACEABILITY

The purpose of traceability is to ensure that an information trail is maintained between the donor and the recipient(s), processes related

TABLE 3 Traceability requirements that should be included in procedures.

- What information is to be recorded
 - Date and time of event
 - Person responsible
 - Key identifiers (donation numbers, product codes, batch numbers, etc.)
- How the information is to be captured (automated/manual)
- Any verification steps required (e.g., double entry for manual transcription)

to preparation are retained and the information can be retrieved quickly. This requires a system to ensure the unique identification of each MPHO product, a secure mapping from the donation to the donor and mechanisms to accurately capture and store critical information. It is preferable to use electronically readable information (e.g., barcodes) and to have data saved electronically in a wellstructured Information Technology (IT) system. It is possible to perform traceability in a manual capture and paper-based system; however, it is more laborious and open to errors, requires space for record preservation and storage and is slower.

All organizations involved in the MPHO chain of custody should have an established and well-controlled quality system. Procedures should identify the elements of traceability that must be documented (see Table 3) and staff should be trained, and their competency assessed.

Traceability should be achieved by real-time tracking and recording each step of the lifecycle, from donor screening to the MPHO being transfused/transplanted into the patient or allocated for any other intended use.

COMPLEXITIES OF TRACEABILITY

It is recognized that traceability of MPHO from the donor to the recipient and vice versa is necessary for biovigilance. Many factors impact the effectiveness of traceability.

Each collection of an MPHO, each step in the manufacturing process and each movement of an MPHO from one location to another should be clearly and concisely documented. Where possible, identifiers in records should be electronically readable/storable to avoid potential transcription errors.

In some situations, the MPHO product is collected and infused/ transplanted within the same organization. Traceability in this instance is straightforward. In other instances, a single MPHO collection can result in multiple products that may be further divided and/or pooled with components from different MPHO collections. These products may then be distributed to various unrelated sites, further modified or distributed to additional sites. For example, pooling platelets or cryoprecipitate would require both a new product identifier and a confirmed link to the components that were used to create the pool. To further complicate the scenario, components may be combined in large batches for further manufacturing of lot number-based products. Starting material for a cellular therapy treatment for a patient may be collected at one site, sent to one or more sites for processing and ultimately sent to another site for infusion.

The examples below detail a few scenarios that demonstrate the complexity involved with the traceability of an MPHO product.

Red blood cells example

Blood Donor Centre (whole blood collected, processed to produce red blood cell [RBC], tested and distributed) \rightarrow Transfusion Laboratory X (received RBC and transferred out) \rightarrow Transfusion Laboratory Y (received RBC, divided into four parts) \rightarrow Parts A and B transfused to patient 1, Part C transfused to Patient 2 and Part D discarded. Donation is recalled due to information obtained on subsequent donation. In this instance, it must be possible to track the donor and the products made from the donation, from the Blood Centre to the Transfusion Laboratories and then to the point of use, accounting for each product and identifying all recipients.

Platelets example

Transfusion Laboratory receives platelet products from two different blood centres. The transfusion service pools six platelets each from a different donor: three platelets originating from Blood Centre A and three from Blood Centre B. The pool is given a new identification number (pool number). The pooled product is transfused. The patient contracts an infectious disease. In this instance, the Transfusion Laboratory must notify each Blood Centre of the donation identification numbers in the pooled unit. The Blood Centres must be able to trace back to each source donor, all products derived from the current donations and any previous donations from the donors.

Manufactured cellular therapy product example

Cells are collected, split and sent to three manufacturing facilities. Facility A makes three different products from the original product. The first of these manufactured products is further spit into 100 vials. The second product, from Facility B, is further manufactured and is split into 15 containers. The final product that was sent to Facility C is further processed and sent to six different distributors.

At the core, each institution must have a mechanism to track and trace each MPHO from its point of origin or receipt to its final disposition within that institution. Each step in the collection, manufacturing and distribution processes must be documented transparently. Each holder of the product must be able to provide relevant information to either the previous holder of the product or the subsequent holder of the product.

Traceability records need to be retained for long periods often specified in the regulation. For example, the European Directives require traceability information for blood, cells and tissues to be

TABLE 4 Information to retain for traceability.

Information to retain	Purpose
Information linking the donor to the donation identification number.	To link the MPHO to the donor.
Information linking the recipient of the product to the donation identification number, the product description code and the division identifier of the MPHO.	To identify the specific portion of the MPHO and link it to the recipient.
Information describing the identity of processing facility (if different from collecting facility).	To identify facility(ies) involved in the creation of final MPHO.
Information linking a pooled product to each component in the pool.	To link the pooled product to each MPHO collection in the pool.
All steps in the handling of the product.	To allow investigation of an MPHO if a problem is discovered in the handling and storage of a product.
For all processing steps, a link between the input product and the output products.	To ensure traceability of all products prepared from the starting material.
For all transfers between organizations, retain the sending/receiving organization details.	To ensure traceability when responsibility moves from one organization to another.
Final disposition of the product.	To allow traceability of each product and division of an MPHO.
Location and methods of access to those records for traceability.	To allow traceability information to be queried in an efficient manner.

Abbreviation: MPHO, medical products of human origin.

retained for 30 years following clinical application. Over long periods, information storage systems change and may become unusable. Information management plans need to be in place to ensure that storage media are updated regularly and information retrieval procedures are kept up to date. Organizational change (takeovers, amalgamation and closure) can also impact traceability and plans need to be in place to manage archive information. If an electronic system that contains traceability data is replaced with another, it is important to keep traceability in mind when deciding which data need to be converted from the old system to the new one.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is defined as the chance or possibility of some process going wrong with an undesirable outcome. The resources for identifying the risk are various, such as:

- Expert judgement
- Benchmarking
- Customer complaints
- Brainstorming

Risk management is the process of having a contingency plan to prevent risk occurrence or reduce undesirable outcomes as much as possible. According to the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 14971 for Medical Devices Risk Management Assessment [5], risk management is described as the systematic application of management policies, procedures and practices to the tasks of analysing, evaluating, controlling and monitoring risk. Each facility is responsible for evaluating the risks of its traceability processes and procedures and taking action to reduce those risks.

INFORMATION TO RETAIN

Once key traceability information is established for each MPHO, the ability to trace an MPHO from its origin to its final disposition and vice versa is only as good as the records retained. Retained records should be electronically readable to avoid transcription errors.

591

To ensure accuracy, permanent records should be created concurrently with collection, processing and distribution steps. At a minimum, sufficient information should be captured to ensure continuity of the traceability pathway between donor and recipient, including key identifiers and links to previous and next points in the pathway (i.e., donation identification number, product code, where received from, where distributed to and date of record). Organizations responsible for collection and clinical application must retain information linking the donation to the donor and recipient, respectively. Additional desirable information includes who created the record, and identification of operators, critical supplies, equipment, testing and critical steps used in the manufacturing process of each product.

National regulations and accrediting agency standards will describe the specific documentation to save and the retention periods. These vary from country to country. For example, the specific time to retain MPHO-related information ranges from 5 years to at least 30 years depending on the specific kind of MPHO, national regulations and accrediting agency standards. Table 4 describes key trace-ability information to retain and the reason for retention.

WHAT TO DO WHEN DATA IS LOST

If current data (data in use) is lost, a plan should be in place to retrieve data from backup resources, validate it to ensure accuracy and restore it for ongoing use. The restoration and validation should be fully documented.

Policies, processes and procedures should be in place to assure that backup data is: always readily available, stored appropriately (locally and remotely) to preserve the data and tested periodically to assure integrity. Any legacy equipment required to access data should be available and in working order. Procedures and effective risk management should ensure that catastrophic data loss does not occur. However, if all data is lost and there is no backup or the backup cannot be restored for some reason (disaster, lack of legacy equipment, legacy equipment failure, etc.) the entire process must be documented as to why the backup failed or could not be restored and what will be done to assure that this will not happen again. All policies, processes and procedures should be reviewed to make sure that they are updated and reflect changes for accurate future data restoration.

In some cases, it may be possible to reconstruct the traceability path by a reverse search. For example, if a blood centre loses information on where a product was sent, it may be possible to query all likely recipient organizations to locate the receiving facility indirectly.

DATA MIGRATION

In its simplest form, data migration is the movement of data from one storage area to another where no change to the data is needed, for example, where one storage disc is replaced with another identical disc and data is copied from one to another. However, data migration is generally a lot more complex as manipulation of the data is usually required to move it from one system to another (e.g., when IT systems are upgraded or replaced with a new system).

Moving large amounts of data

When large amounts of data are involved, automated data migration processes should be employed to ensure standardization of the process. Minimizing the amount of human intervention will reduce the potential for error and cut down the time it takes to complete the migration. Data migration can adversely impact operations by causing extended downtime, data integrity issues (which may impact donor, component and patient safety) and costly rework if the migration steps are not adequately designed, controlled and documented.

Gaining an understanding of the data to be migrated and the relationships between data items will help identify which items of data are to be migrated. It is vital to identify all data needed to maintain the traceability chain and ensure those items are included in the migration. Where partial migrations are being run it is possible to miss data essential for traceability which will cause future issues should tracing be required and may irretrievably break the chain. It is less of an issue when all data is being migrated. The main objective then is to ensure that data relationships and context are maintained.

Common issues in data quality

It is common to find some issues with data quality in any IT system, for example, duplication, redundancy and miscoding. It is therefore recommended that a data cleansing exercise is undertaken before data migration. Removing unnecessary data and correcting data values and representation will simplify the design process, reduce the likelihood of errors and cut down the time needed to migrate.

Data mapping/conversion

It is unlikely that two systems will hold exactly the same data in the same format therefore moving data from one system to another usually requires some degree of data mapping and/or conversion. Where data mapping is required, for example, where one coding system is being replaced by another, a one-to-one link has to be created between the old and new code. This mapping will be held in a table and used during the migration process to convert items to the new coding system. If the data has to be traced back, this table will be a vital tool to help understand the history of the data.

Where data has to be converted from one format to another, for example, date format, the rules for the conversion need to be written in such a way that all data variations are considered, and the conversion process results in a standard output. Again, these rules need to be documented as they could be instrumental in understanding what has happened to the data sometime in the future.

Data migration utility

Once the data to be migrated is identified and mapping and conversion rules have been established the utility to carry out the migration needs to be designed and created. The objective should be to create as automated a process as possible that can be run and re-run giving consistent results each time. The data migration utility is essentially an ETL process (extract, transform and load) that pulls the data to be migrated from the original system, transforms it using the mapping and conversion rules to the new system presentation and loads it into the new system. Responsibility for each step may reside with different parties (e.g., multiple system suppliers, IT departments and user departments). Communication, activity and expectations all need to be carefully managed. It is very unlikely that a data migration will be correct on the first run; therefore, this utility should be documented in detail, version controlled and placed under change management from the outset. It could be vital for traceability that the processes, mappings and conversions used in this utility can be retrieved and understood at a future date.

Management of displaced data

As previously noted, systems can differ in the data they hold and need. It is quite usual for the receiving system not to have a defined space for all the incoming data. Judgements will need to be taken on the criticality of such data and decisions made as to how it will be handled.

If the 'extra' data is deemed to be non-critical, it can be simply discarded when the old system is decommissioned. If, however, it is essential to maintain the traceability chain it can be:

- left in the old system which then needs to be maintained with read-only access for look-up purposes,
- moved out to an existing data warehouse-type application or another custom-built data repository,
- 3. taken to the new system by identifying or creating a suitable space in the new system for the data to reside.

Option 1 will cause issues at some point in the future as technology changes and becomes outdated. Choosing option 3 can add complexity to system development, configuration, data migration and validation, but it has the advantage of keeping all data together in one place.

Management of unavailable data

Another equally common problem for data migration is that the new system may have the ability to hold data items that the old system did not. For a migration, this is not a problem as these data fields are just not populated during the migration. A decision is then needed to determine if they need to be populated going forward and if a historical update is needed and feasible, and if not, they remain empty. A potential problem arises, however, if the population of the data field is mandatory for the new system. Failure to populate may cause operational issues going forward. The solution here is to derive and populate the necessary data item as part of the migration process if possible or to agree on a standard default value for migrated records, ensuring the rules are documented for each data item in question.

Validation

Initial migration runs should be performed on a test system and a thorough validation should be performed. This should involve data checks on a select number of records that cover all critical data combinations, and statistical checks to ensure pre- and post-migration statistics match.

Once the data migration utility has been run and the data is available in the new system, statistical checks should be repeated to ensure that all expected data has been moved. Record sampling should take place to ensure mapping, conversions, derivations and defaults are accurately in place. At this point, backward traceability should be tested to ensure that the traceability chain is not broken. Any issues discovered at this stage should be addressed as it may not be possible to address them once the migration is complete and operation on the new system begins.

TABLE 5 Considerations for good data migration practice.

- Understand the data and how it will fit in its new environment.
- Clean the data removing duplicates, correcting presentation where possible before migration.

Vox Sanguinis

593

- Develop a structured, repeatable and testable migration approach and process.
- Validate and adjust the migration process before operating on the new system.
- Document and record the entire data migration process to aid traceability in the future.

Documentation

Documenting the data migration approach, rules, processes and outcomes is essential to ensure that going forward traceability is supported. Detailed documentation will reduce the risk of data being lost or misunderstood in the future, and it will greatly reduce the cost and effort of traceability exercises as people and years move on; see Table 5 for considerations for good data migration practices.

ARCHIVING

Regulations in many parts of the world require that traceability information be retained for very long periods, for example, in the European Union, for at least 30 years for blood, tissue and cell products [6, 7].

This creates a significant challenge for information systems as developments in technology mean that both information systems and storage technologies are likely to undergo multiple transformations within the lifetime of the data. To meet traceability obligations, organizations are faced with a choice between:

- migrating large amounts of historical data each time they upgrade their computerized systems,
- retaining superseded systems as 'read only' archive storage and
- creating distinct archive storage and retrieval systems.

Historical data need to be managed and protected to meet the same standards of confidentiality and security as the live database.

Uniqueness of identifiers

Effective traceability depends upon key identifiers remaining unique throughout the domain that the MPHO circulate in and across the period of record retention. The donation identification number provides the key identifier for an MPHO donation, its samples and test results, and for each of the products derived from the donation. The donation identification system must be able to ensure that donation identification numbers are not repeated within the data retention period. The ISBT 128 international standard uses a donation identification number structure that ensures uniqueness at the global level for a period of 100 years [8]. If 594 Vox Sanguinis

historic records do not use such a numbering system, there may be duplication of identifiers over time. The archive system needs to accommodate this and ensure the integrity of the distinct records.

Inter-organization tracking

When MPHO are shipped to one facility and then transferred to another facility, there is the possibility of breaking the chain of identity when products are renumbered and the link between the two numbers is broken. Policies and procedures that ensure complete data recording and methods to search for renumbered units should be included in the policies and procedure manual of the facility responsible for the renumbering.

Mergers/acquisitions/closure

The ability to trace MPHO may be lost when facilities are merged or closed. To ensure traceability, the facility must have a plan for data preservation. In some countries, a governmental agency may be responsible for the data. In other situations, it may be the responsibility of the management of the facility to have a plan for the storage of, and access to, the data from the closed or merged facility.

Managing historical data

Approaches to managing historical data include:

- purging-removing the date entirely,
- reversible archiving-removing data from immediate access with the ability to restore access and revise the information,
- irreversible archiving-removing data from immediate access, viewable only with no ability to modify the data,
- archiving into a repository readable by the original application,
- archiving into a different format, like a data warehouse,
- maintaining legacy systems-systems that the software vendor no longer supports.

Where data must be converted from one format to another (e.g., date format), the rules for the conversion need to be written in such a way that all data variations are considered, and the conversion process results in a standard output. Again, these rules need to be documented as they could be instrumental in understanding sometime in the future what has happened to the data.

Consideration needs to be given to deleting archived data once the need for retention has passed. Data protection regulation permits data to be retained when there is a legitimate need. Once the regulatory retention period has expired, there is no longer a legitimate need to hold the data and failing to delete it may lead to infringement of data protection regulation.

Technology obsolescence

Archived data is usually stored on media, and using software applications, that are current at the time of archiving. Over the long periods required for storage, technology will have moved on and systems capable of reading the media may be rare or unobtainable. The archiving strategy should be reviewed at defined regular intervals and data transfer to modern media undertaken promptly. Such data transfer may be complex, and sufficient time and resources will need to be provided.

Knowledge retention

When archived data is being maintained on older systems, such as read-only legacy systems, it is important to ensure that the skill set required to operate the system is retained. At all times, there should be at least two individuals in the organization who are competent to perform the necessary lookback operations. If the maintenance of the legacy system is contracted to a third party, the same requirement will need to apply, and contracts should specify the need for a minimum number of contractor staff with the necessary skills. Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) and staff training for utilization of the legacy systems mitigate this problem. Consideration should be given to alternative archiving methods as new technology becomes available.

Security

All systems containing sensitive information should be covered by the organization's data protection and security policies and should be subject to security audits. These policies and procedures must meet the same regulatory requirements as live data. Where data is transferred to more modern archive systems, the old database will need to be handled in a manner that ensures that all sensitive data is removed before disposal. Authority to access or restore information should be limited and may be different from the live system.

Timeliness

Consideration needs to be given to the time required to initiate and perform a traceability action in the archived system. In some cases, particularly where the implicated product may still be in stock, a delay in the traceability search could result in the additional transmission of infection. In general, data will not be archived whilst the product remains in stock, but products with very long shelf lives (e.g., frozen red cells) may remain in the supply chain for very long periods after they were distributed.

The recovery time for archived information will depend upon the archiving strategy employed. Organizations should adopt a risk-based approach to archiving and should establish target recovery times for

595

Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See

e the

ibrary for i

QA

applicable

archived data that can be verified through a local audit programmed at defined intervals.

TRACEABILITY AUDIT

Periodic audits of IT documents and processes are an essential part of a quality management system. Audits provide evidence that regulatory requirements are being met. The focus of the audit should include high-risk activities as identified in a risk assessment or those critical items in the operational qualification (OQ) and performance qualification (PQ) of the user requirements.

Audit plans

Many regulatory agencies and standard-setting organizations require that there be a written process in place to assure that traceability is defined and audited to assure that MPHO can be traced from donation to final disposition. Requirements include unique identifiers, critical equipment, materials used in processing, lab samples, donor records and patient records. Both internal and external audits should be performed periodically to assure the robustness and continuity of traceability. External audits may be performed as a part of ordinary inspections by accrediting organizations, regulatory bodies, competent authorities or external consultants. The frequency and type of audit may be determined by regulatory or standard-setting organizations.

Audits may be performed once, periodically or may be performed on an ongoing basis. The scope may be broad or limited to one element. Commonly performed audits include lookback tracing, policy and procedure audits, operations audits and tracer audits. An audit schedule and plan should be documented.

Considerations in establishing a traceability audit:

- Responsibility—who will be the signature authority for the audit,
- Scope—what is to be included and what is to be excluded from the audit—be prepared to justify exclusions to regulatory/standardsetting organizations,
- Audit criteria—what goals should be fulfilled to pass the audit,
- Audit checklist—data collection form,
- Resources—qualified people, policies, processes and procedures to be involved,
- Timeline-how long is the audit estimated to take,
- Stakeholders—what other key areas might be involved or disrupted during the audit,
- Audit instructions—how to perform the audit,
- Report-written documentation of the audit and any findings,
- Review—who will be involved in reviewing the audit report once it is complete,
- Corrective action—what needs to be done to bring traceability back into compliance if there are any findings. The corrective action should have a closing date,

- Preventive action—if previously unrecognized areas may cause problems in the future, how can they be changed to prevent the occurrence,
- Lessons learned—what can be done to make traceability more robust going forward,
- Monitoring—scheduled follow-up to assure that the corrective action(s) is/are being followed and are effective.

Barriers/complexities to a traceability audit

Several factors add complexity to auditing information about MPHO. These include:

- Pooled products/divided products—add to the difficulty in tracing the final disposition,
- End-of-life data storage—the lack of availability of needed obsolete equipment, knowledge retention, stability/degradation of data, electronic e-records and accessibility,
- Data migration issues,
- Interface issues,
- Paper records—the inability to locate records promptly, readability after storage, searching a large volume of paperwork and lack of indexing making records difficult to search,
- Restructuring—facilities have relocated, closed, merged, divided or have been taken over; where are the records located that have been held over the required retention period?
- Traceability chain may involve multiple facilities in multiple geographic locations,
- Audit trail vulnerability—single trail (no backup), any break in the chain can disrupt or prevent traceability, linking donors to previous donations at other sites,
- Required uniqueness—identifiers may not be unique (donor identification, donation identification, equipment identification, employee identification, etc.).

What to look for in a traceability audit

Questions that may be asked in an audit include:

- When was the system last audited and what were the findings?
- Has anything changed since the last audit—critical equipment, materials or data storage?
- Are there procedures for this process?
- Is it reviewed regularly?
- Was the process tested?
- · Were recommendations in previous audit reports implemented?
- Are there up-to-date contracts with suppliers in place?
- Is there a policy for data retention?
- What is the plan for media/technology obsolescence?
 - What is the plan for the next interface or software update?
- Is there a plan for data migration including the resources needed?

Tracer audits

Tracer audits in a hospital would include lookback audits where both the donor and the final disposition of all parts of the product may be tracked and traced from the patient back to the physician order and receipt of the product from the supplier. Tracer audits can be very time-consuming as every aspect of the process is reviewed for appropriate documentation, personnel qualifications and competency assessment, quality control and equipment maintenance records, as well as matching policies and procedures to documentation. Examples of records that may be reviewed as a part of a tracer audit are listed below:

- Order-physician and authorized caregiver privileges,
- Specimen collection—phlebotomist, date, time and tube type,
- Receipt in the laboratory-assessment of suitability, storage,
- Testing—manual, automated and following reagent/equipment manufacturer's instructions,
- Personnel-qualifications, training and competency assessment,
- Equipment—receipt, quality control, calibration, IQ, OQ, PQ and maintenance,
- Supplies and Reagents—lot numbers, receipt and disposition of unacceptable,
- Proficiency testing,
- Reporting-validation of transfer of information,
- Computer-validation, version control and problems,
- Critical value notification—notification and all elements documented,
- · Caregiver response-action was taken as needed,
- Policies and procedures-up to date, followed.

Audit report

After the audit, an audit report summarizing the finding should be written and include:

- Summary of the data reviewed—inclusive of dates and types of records reviewed,
- Acceptance criteria,
- Total number of patient records, units or products reviewed,
- How many (and percentage) met the acceptance criteria,
- Comparison with previous audit results,
- Incidental findings.

It is the management's responsibility to review the report, make recommendations and ensure action was taken to correct existing problems and implement preventative actions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This is the first version of traceability guidelines written by the ISBT Working Party on Information Technology. The Traceability Task Force thanks the ISBT for the opportunity to work on these guidelines. Funding for virtual meetings was provided by ISBT. W.B.: Australian governments fully fund Australian Red Cross Lifeblood for the provision of blood products and services to the Australian community.

All authors contributed to the literature research, writing and editing of the document. P.A. and S.B. were co-chairs of the Traceability Task Force of the WPIT. S.B. was the Chairperson of the WPIT.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

M.C. is the CEO of Swiss SCWeb company and the scope of the company is 'Design and development of specific application software for tracking of healthcare professionals' activities'.

ORCID

Suzanne Butch D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5467-4823

REFERENCES

- 21 CFR Part 606 Current Good Manufacturing Practices for Blood and Blood Products. Department of Health and Human Services— Food and Drug Administration. 2022. https://www.ecfr.gov/ current/title-21/chapter-I/subchapter-F/part-606. Accessed 16 Jan 2023.
- EU: EC Directive 2002/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 January 2003 setting standards of quality and safety for the collection, testing, processing, storage, and distribution of human blood and blood components and amending Directive 2001/83/EC.
- Tugwell BD, Patel PR, Williams IT, Hedberg K, Chai F, Nainan OV, et al. Transmission of hepatitis C virus to several organ and tissue recipients from an antibody-negative donor. Ann Intern Med. 2005; 143:648–54.
- World Health Organization (WHO). World Health Organization (WHO): guide to establishing a National Haemovigilance System. Geneva: WHO; 2017.
- ISO 1497:2019. Medical devices. Application of risk management to medical devices. International Organisation for Standardization.
- Directive 2002/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 January 2003 setting standards of quality and safety for the collection, testing, processing, storage, and distribution of human blood and blood components and amending Directive 2001/83/EC Article 14 Traceability. [cited 27 Jan 2003]. https://www.legislation.gov.uk/eudr/2002/98/contents#. Accessed 16 Jan 2023.
- Directive 2004/23/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 31 March 2004 on setting standards of quality and safety for the donation, procurement, testing, processing, preservation, storage, and distribution of human tissues and cells. 31 Mar 2004.
- ISBT128. Use of the donation identification number [data structure 001] IG-033 section 2.1. San Bernardino, CA: ICCBBA; 2017. https://www.isbt128.org/_files/ugd/83d6e1_55ed0f143bdb4c07aa 7ad47135e3a8e9.pdf. Accessed 3 Mar 2023.

FURTHER READING

- ASQ. Failure modes and effects analysis. https://asq.org/qualityresources/fmea. Accessed 16 Jan 2023.
- Njoroge SW, Nichols JH. Risk management in the clinical laboratory. Ann Lab Med. 2014;34:274–278. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC4071183/.

- ECFR. 21 CFR Part 600.12 Biological products general. Department of Health and Human Services—Food and Drug Administration. Part 600.12, Records. https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-21/chapter-l/subchapter-F/part-600/subpart-B/section-600.12.
 Accessed 16 Jan 2023.
- ECFR. 21 CFR Part 1271.55 Human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products. Department of Health and Human Services—Food and Drug Administration. Part 1271.55 What records must accompany an HCT/P after the donor-eligibility determination is complete; and what records must I retain? https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-21/chapter-I/subchapter-L/ part-1271/subpart-C/section-1271.55. Accessed 16 Jan 2023.
- Commonwealth of Australia—Commonwealth Department of Health. Therapeutic Goods Act 1989, Chapter 3 Medicines and other therapeutic goods that are not medical devices. https://www. legislation.gov.au/Details/C2021C00376. Accessed 16 Jan 2023.
- EU Commission Directive 2005/61/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 January 2003 setting standards of quality and safety for the collection, testing, processing, storage, and distribution of human blood and blood components and amending Directive 2001/83/EC. 30 September 2005.

 Joint Accreditation Committee. FACT-JACIE International Standards for Haematopoietic Cellular Therapy Product Collection, Processing, and Administration. Omaha, NE, FACT; current version.

Vox Sanguinis

- FACT Immune Effector Cell Standards. Omaha, NE, FACT current version.
- AABB Standards for Blood Banks and Transfusion Service. 33rd ed. Bethesda, MD: AABB; current version.
- AABB Standards for Cellular Therapy Service. 10th ed. Bethesda, MD: AABB; current version.
- A guide to the project management body of knowledge and the standard for project management. 7th ed. (PMBOK[®] Guide). Project Management Institute (2021).

How to cite this article: Ashford P, Butch S, Barhoush AO, Bolton W, Cusmai M, Espensen L, et al. International Society for Blood Transfusion Guidelines for Traceability of Medical Products of Human Origin. Vox Sang. 2023;118:587–97.

DIARY OF EVENTS



See also https://www.isbtweb.org/events/hvwebinars.html	
17-21 June 2023	ISBT Gothenburg 2023
18-21 November 2023	ISBT Cape Town 2023

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13492

CORRIGENDUM

Vox Sanguinis

We would like to draw the reader's attention to an error in the following publication:

Abstracts of the 33rd Regional Congress of the ISBT Gothenburg, Sweden 17–21 June 2023. Vox Sang. 2023;118(Suppl 1): 119–379. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/vox.13433_1

Abstract P158 should be added to the abstract publication.

Evaluation of three different platelet pooling sets at Croatian Institute of Transfusion Medicine <u>M Vinkovi</u>ć^{1,2}, S Stanešić¹, M Radovčić¹, A Hećimović¹, I Jukić^{1,2} ¹Croatian Institute of Transfusion Medicine, Zagreb, ²Medical Faculty Osijek, Osijek, Croatia.

Background: Preparation of platelet concentrates (PC) from buffy coats (BC) at Croatian Institute of Transfusion Medicine (CITM) accounts for more than 80% of total PC production. Platelet recovery and in vitro quality of PCs during their shelf life can vary depending on the blood bank setting and the PC pooling set used, so in-house evaluation of different sets for platelet recovery and quality parameters is important before choosing the most appropriate set.

Aims: To examine the recovery of platelets and quality of platelet products in different pooling sets.

Methods: In CITM, four BC are used for PC pool. All products are leukoreduced and stored in platelet additive solution. Shelf life of pooled PC is 7 days. Results for sets from two producers were compared with results of currently used sets (sets named A, B, C). One set was excluded early from further analysis due to very low recovery and haemolytic appearance of PCs and is not part of this analysis.

Results: The testing was done on 48 PC in total. The main results are summarized in Tables 1 and 2. All products had preserved swirling (3+) and no visible aggregates till the end of the shelf life. Change in metabolic parameters was expected and in day 7 in comparison with day 1 was as follows: pH (set A + 3%, set B + 2%, set C + 2%); glucose (set A-41%, set B-44%, set C-47%); lactic acid (set A + 102%, set B + 117%, set C + 143%). Significant difference was observed in the recovery of platelets and platelet number. Set A had lower recovery than sets B and C (t = -6.4 and -8.8, respectively; p < 0.001, t test). Set B had higher platelet number (1st day) than sets A and C (t = 3.2 and 2.8, respectively; p < 0.05, t test).

TABLE 1. Results of recovery and platelet quality; numbers are expressed as average (minimum-maximum), 1st day of storage.

Parameter	Set A N = 20	Set B <i>N</i> = 20	Set C N = 8 ^a
Recovery (%)	73 (69–78)	79 (70–89)	79 ^a (73–87)
Platelet number $\times 10^{11}$	2.8 (2.05-3.58)	3.13 (2.45-3.79)	2.89ª (1.99-3.66)
$WBC \times 10^{6}$	0.255 (0.004-0.824)	0.373 (0.06–0.772)	0.032 ^a (0.003-0.244)
pH	7.14 (7.1-7.18)	7.13 (7.07–7.17)	7.14 (7-7.19)
Glucose (mmol/L)	7 (6.4–7.6)	6.9 (6.5–7.8)	6.95 (6.7–7.3)
Lactic acid (mmol/L)	5 (4.1-5.9)	4.7 (4.2-5.1)	4.4 (4-4.8)

^a Set C recovery, platelet number (N = 56) and WBC (N = 52) data were taken from prior verification.

Abbreviation: WBC, whiste blood cell count.

TABLE 2. Platelet quality; numbers are expressed as average (minimum-maximum), 7th day of storage.

600

Parameter	Set A N = 20	Set B N = 20	Set C <i>N</i> = 8
Platelet number $\times 10^{11}$	2.2 (1.63-2.8)	2.59 (2.17-3.16)	2.62 (2.32-3.14)
pH	7.34 (7.25-7.39)	7.27 (7.19-7.34)	7.28 (7.08-7.41)
Glucose (mmol/L)	4.1 (3.4-5.2)	3.9 (3-5.3)	3.7 (2.6–4.6)
Lactic acid (mmol/L)	10.1 (8.6-12.3)	10.2 (8.9–12.1)	10.7 (9.1–13.3)

Summary/Conclusions: Metabolic parameters at the end of the shelf life were comparable for all the examined sets, but owing to a higher number of platelets, set B was considered the most relevant choice. However, there are also other factors that need to be considered individually in every blood bank when choosing the most appropriate materials for component production (e.g., compatibility of new material with existing equipment and processes, methods of component production, etc.).